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. ' - FOREWORD

£
By W..B. Romine -

On assuming the duties incident to editing and publishing
the Pulaski Citizen in 1894, | soon realized the need for more
information about the people among whom I had come to
live and work.

By inquiry I learned thai’no history of the ¢ y had
ever been published. But learned of the ()entenn::ydreu
of Mr. McCallum, with additions which he had fo it
and that the manuscript had been filed with the State Hmori-
cal Society at "lullville !

| enu‘d Lem A. Dever one of the first young men in
town who had learned to operate a typewriler, paid him
wages and expenses, to go to Nashville and make 2 copy of
the manuscript for me.

Some twenty-five years later, a gentlemdn in Nashville,
whd wished 16 see the mantuseript, was referred to the His-
torical Society, when he found that the original had jeen
lost or misplaced. It is fortunate for the County that | bad a
copy, for this manuscript contains much valuable information
about the early settlers which could not now be replaced.

I have long cherished the hope that | may some day add
to the History of the County as prepared by Mr McCallum and
have accumulated memoranda, including incidents of the Civil
War, and since that time. But as the years go by I find no
more leisure. And feeling that the valuable work of Mr. Mc-
Callum should be made accessible to the people, in the form
in which he prepared it, and that he should have credit as its
author, with the assistance and co-operation of Mike D. Sulli-
van, this little book is published in the hope that it may pro-
mote patriotic interest in those who have gone before, and
who by their sacrifices, have prepared a better place for pos-
terity.

In addition to the honors referred to by Col. Rose, I may
add Mr. McCallum served as Grand Master of Tennessee
Masons, o those who understand, that will help to indicate
the cher of man he was.

~



4 By Col. Selen E. Rose

“

To wam and Directors of the Tennessee Historical
y:

Glntlepien:

Hon. James McCallum, author of the “Early Settiement
and History of Giles County,” ow to his feeble nale.ol
health cannot present in person his MSS, and has requested
that | shall deliver it to the Tennessee Historical Society.

Mr. McCallum is more familiar with the past history of
Giles, than any other man now living, and although past
séventy years of age, was eminently qualified to perform the
task. He is a thorough s’ Jlar, a ready and terse writer, and
a “History of the Early Setlteient of Giles County,” is as
complete as the lapse of time would permit.

Mr. McCallum was long Clerk and Master in Chancery at
Pulaski, « member of the Legislature in 1861, a member of the
Confederate Congress, a citizen for more than sevenly years
of Giles County; and long an active, practicing attorney in
the several gourts of the State. These several positions, to-
gether with his peculiar sdaptation, affords him facilities few
. possessed to write this history. [ should fail to discharge
the obligations of my mission if I did not testify on behalf of
our people to the social worth of James McCallum,—a Chris-
tiaf gentleman, a model in all the relations of life, who has
now the ardent admiration of all who have known him. His
broad symphthies, active charities, and social virtues are at-
tested by the warm friendship and admiration of his many
life-long frignds; and now to a life of usefulness he has added

:::t additionsdyservice of transmitting this history to pos-
aty.

Giles may have had more illustrious men, but none more
honored and beloved.
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FOREWORD
By James McCallum
To the President and Directors of the Tennessee Historical

Society: y ”»

I have the honor of presenting to-tlie Historical Society
of Tennessee, the following duplicate copy of a “Brief Sketch
of the Sattlement and Early History of Giles County,” with
the privilege of using the same or any part thereof in any
publication by the Sociely, reserving to myself the same right.

In the Summet of 1875, at the reque the Pulaski Ly-
ceum, | collected a considerable am bof info tion, in
relation 1o the early settlement of the Tounty, and, instead
of presenting it in the shape of a popular lecture, I read to
the Society such portions of it as [ thought would L: interests
ing. >4 ’

In the Spring of 1876, at the request of the Committee on
the National Centennial, I collected fyrther information on
the subjeet, and again only read such portions as I thought
wouldebe appropriate to the occasion.

Believing that my information was too imperfect, and, in
some respect unreliable, to make History, | declined at the
time to publish it; I have since availed myself of all the
means in my power to add to the information and correct
errors. -

Part First of the following transcript embraces substantial-
ly the information presented at the National Centepnial, with
some slight corrections-and additions.

Part Second embrages a description of the County, a his-
tory of our Courts, with the names and succéssion of our civil
and judicial officers, together with the names of our Senators
and Representatives both in the State and the National Legis-
lature, intended to supply ifformation, not otherwise accessi-
ble, from the loss of the Records of our Clerk’s offices.

This has required no ordinary time, labor and expense
to accomplish. Altogether my transcript furnishes the material
to write a history, more than having claims to being a history
itself.

With the ardent wish that the Historical Society may
persevere in the landable effort to rescue from oblivion the
unwritten history of our State, and transmit to posterity the
names, the adventures, and the noble deeds of the early set-
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8 EARLY HISTORY OF GILES COUNTY

A BRIEF SKETCH OF THE SETTLEMENT AND
EARLY HISTORY OF GILES COUNTY.

PART FIRST
Centennial Address, July 4th, 1876

There are epochs in the history of every country, charac-
terized by a nobler type of humadity, than that which falls to
the common lot of mankind; which leaves its impress on pos-
terity. ;
Such was the era of our natal day, and of such were the
greal Statesmen and daring patriots, who, one hundred years
ago, declared that the American Colonies owed no allegiance
to the King of Great Brilgin, and boldly proclaimed the great
political truth that “All Governments derive their just powers
from the consent of the governed”™ And trusting to the God of
Battles, threw down the wager to the Champion of the World.
After several years of terrific warfare, they triumphed, and
finally established a goveranment upon the principles enunci-
ated in their platform. The significance of the fundamental

truth announded, and the establishment of a Government ins

accordance therewith, like a subterranean wave from a
mighty volcano, shook all Europe, and extorted from the mon-
archies thereol writtén constitutions, or concessions, ac-
knowlédging in a greatér or less degree, the rights of the
people. f

' The virtues of those noble patroits were impressed in no
section of the country more indelibly than on Tennessee.

She was born of the Revolution, baptized in its sufferi

“reared in times which tried men's 2 came forth in-
to the family of States as a ned athlete for victory and for
honor. True 10 the inspiration of her early training, when-
ever duty has called or danger threatened, there her sons
have been foremost, their blood has flown on every battle-
field. Their valor has given renown to American: arms, and
;on for them the proud appellation of the “Bravest of the

ave,”

Not alone on the battlefield has she won glory, but in the

Il.n of legislation, in the forum, in the tribunals of justice,
ini the office of Chief Executive, her sons have stood the peers
of the greatest and the best, %
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Giles County was the out-growth of those great principles
The brave men and noble-hearted woman who werd the first
settlers of the County were the children of the Rvaiution.
And shall their names be forgotten? Shall no memorial be
made of their adventures, their trials, and hardships, their
energy, perseverance, and triumph?  Shall no flower be

“dropped upon their graves, or rude stone mark their final

resting place?
By gequest 1 propose to read you a “Brief Sketch of the

Settlement and Early History iles County.” It is known
to most of you that at the t of the Pulaski Lyceum last
year, 1 collected a consider smount of information on the
subject’ which would require more time to read, than is al-
lowed me on this occasion. The brief sketch now offered
emrbaces only a few of the names, and some of the most
prominent features in the character of the first settlers.

Imperfect, as it may be, and, perhaps, in some of its de-
tails inaccurate, it is presented with the sincere desire to
contribute something 16 rescue from oblivion the memory of
those noble pioneers, to whom our country owes such a debt
of gratitude. And with the hope that this humble effort will
awaken inquiry, and call forth much that has not been within
my reach. :

To trace the development of those principles which ani-
mated the first settlers of our County, and ascerfain the domi-
nant idea with them to what they owed their syccess, and to
nole the changes and the wonderful progress that has been
made, would be appropriate on the present occasion; but |
do not propise to give a continuous history of thg County. |
shall confine mysell chiefly to the settlement and early his-
tory of it, leaving to a future occasion, and to some other
person, the less difficult and more pleasing task of showing
the progress that has been made, with appropriate notices of
the many useful and patriotic citizens that have passed away.

CHAPTER FIRST—CONDITION OF THE COUNTRY

To fully appreciate the character and noble achievements
of those heroic men and women who came to the County
when the whole face of the country was » dense cane-brake,
inhabited only by wild beasts of the forest, with the Indians
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living in near proximity, and occasionnlly passing through it
on their hunting or marauvding excursions, it is necessary to
recur to the antecedent and contemporaneous history of the
country. 5

For this digression | ask your indulgence; it will doubt-
less be uninteresting to s portion of you, but to the youth
who may be present, it may be secessary, 1o give, them a just
conception of the trials and difficulties the first settlers had
to encounter.

Prior to the Revolutiondry War, the British Government
claimed the title in fee simple to all the lands in her Ameri-
can possessions not disposed of by the King, vested in him,
and that the Indians were but tenants at will.

The Colony of Nofth Carolina claimed that, under her
Colonial Grant from the King, her boundaries extended West
as far as the British Government had title, and, without ad-
mitting the title of the Indians, but from motives of policy,
ireated with them from time to time for portions of the land.

" At that time and for many years before no Indians per-

manently res'led Within the State of Tennessee, except the °

southern portion of East Tennessee. s

INDIANS

The Cherokees lived in North Georgia, the Southern part
of East Tennessee, and South-western North Caroling, but
clsimed as hunting grounds East Vennessee, and Middle Ten-
nessee, also Kentucky, and as far north as the Ohio River.

The Chickasaws occupied Neorth and West Mississippi, the
North-west part ¢f Alabama, and the South bank of the Ten-
nessee river, as far East as above Ditto’s landing; and claimed
as hunting grounds Middle and West Tennessee, and North
Alabama; a¥~lar East as the head-waters of Duck and Elk
Rivers, and North to the-Cumberland and its tributaries. /
' The Creeks occupied the greater portion of Central and
Eastern Alabama; the Middle and Western part of Georgia,
»nd claimed the right to hunt in Middle Tennessee:

(i'l'be Choctaws occupied Central and Eastern Mississippi,
and Western Alabama; and claimed the right to hunt in Mid-
dle and West Tennessee.

The Shawnees lived on the Wabash, the Six Nations on

5
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1
the Miami and Scioto, and the Westen Confederacy, consisting
of about twenty nations, lived North of the Ohio, and West of
the Six Nations. These all claimed the right to hunt on the
Cumberland. .

Th Indians had their trails and war paths through Ten-
nessee, which they traveled in their hunting and war excur-
sions from the settlements South of the Tennessee River, and
those North of the Ohio

One i these, the old McCutcheon trail, crossed Elk River
at Latitude Hill, passed thro ¢ Eastern portion of Giles
crossed Duck River near the th of Fountain Creek, and
North to the neighborhood of Nashville. Another crossed Elk
River at the mouth of Ford's Creek near Prospect, and went
North or North-west and was traveled in their excursions to
Northern tribes.

The country belween the Tennessee and Ohio Rivers had
been for many years the greal battle ground of the Indians,
each Nation claiming an interest in it, but no one of them was
permitted by the others to permanently occupy it; hence the
vindictive and unceasing warfare they waged against the first
settlers. .

CHAPTER SECOND—INDIAN TREATIES

A permanent settlement having been effected,on the Cum-
berland in 1779 or 1780 by General James Robertson and oth-
ers, the General Assembly of North Carolina in 1783, estab-
lished the Coun'y of Davidson, embracing the territory in-
cluded in the «district set apart to the officers and soldiers,
and East to the Cumberland mountains, although the Indians
at that time clagimed all the territory in the County.

Without referring to the various treaties with the In-
dians, it is sufficient for our presen! purpose to state that in
November, 1785, the Cherokees ceded their claim to the land
North of the Ridge which divides the waters of the Cumber-
land from those of Duck, and and Eastwards to where a
North-east line would strike the Cumberland forty miles
above Nashville, thence with the river to where the Kentucky
line crosses it, thence to Campbell's line near Cumberland
Gap. In January, 1788, the Chickasaws ceued their claim to
land North of said line. The Indian boundary as thus estab-
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lished, remained such until January 1806, except the portion
which lies North of Duck River, as 16 which the Indian title
was extinguished in October 1805, and no person WaS per-
mitted to settle South of that line. |

Eml(ntiu from the Eastern States came by way of Cum-
berland Gap or down lhf Ohio, and up the Cumberlaiid.

In 1801 the United States Government opened a rcad
from Nashville to Natchez, called to Natchez road, which
crossed Duck River at Gordon's Ferry, below Williamsport,
and the Tennessee at Colburt’s Ferry. The road from William-
son County was through Chickasaw territory the most of the
way, and they claimed the right to ‘establish ferries, and hous-
es of entertaimient, on the road. There was then no white
family on the road from Gordon's Ferry to near Natchez.

In July, 1805, a treaty was made with the Chickasaws by
General Robertson and Colonel Meigs, by which they ceded
all their claims to land North of Duck River, and East of the
Natchez Road as far as the ridge that divides the waters of
Duck River from those of Buffalo, at Grinder's Stations twen-
ty-three miles th of Duck River, at present own as
“Lewis’s Grave,” and all North and East from a line from
Lewis's Grave eastwardly along said ridge 1o the headwaters
of the Buffilo, thence South-east to Ditto’s landing,—striking
the Tennessee River three miles below the landing, and eight
miles below the Eastern boundary of the Chickasaw clain.
This line passed through Giles, enlering it near the North-
wesl corner, crossing the Lawrenceburg road at the eight-
mile post, mear where Robert Reed lived, passed four five
miles West of Pulaski, crossed Elk River about three miles
above Prospect just West of the Ward place, and the State
Line at Phillips's Mill, the place known as “Old Virginia,” and
then to Ditto's landing or near that on the Tennessee, leaving
a considerable part of the Western and South-western por-
tion of Giles County in Chickasaw territory; and such it re-
mained until the treaty of 1816, when the Chickasaws ceded
all their land North and East of the Tennessee River. In
October, 1805, the Cherokees ceded their claim to land North
of Duck River, and to the headwaters of the most
branch, then Eastwardly to the mouth of the Hiawassee
the Tennessee River.

¢
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In January, 1806, the Cherokees ceded all their claim to
lands North of the Tennessee River, and West of the line run
from upper part of Chickasaw “Old Fields” on the Tennessee
River, about five miles above Ditto’s landing, to the most
eastwardly headwaters of Duck river, etc.

This treaty not béin. entirely satisfactory was reaffirmed
by a subsequent treaty in Septémber, 1807, including the head-
w?m of Elk River.

CHAPTER THREE—OREANIZATION OF GILES COUNTY

Priof 1o 1806, many ns from the Eastern States, who
had entered land in Middle Tennessee, South of Williamson
County, moved to Davidson and VWilliamson, and resided
there temporarily, waiting for the Indian title to be exting-
uished, that they might settle on their own land.

Williamson County was established in October, 1799, and
its boundaries extended South to the Indian boundary, and all
South of that was in Indian territory until after the treaty of
January, 1806, except the portion which lies North of Duck
River as to which, the Indian title was extinguished in Octo-
ber, 1805. Until after the organization of Maury County,
what is now Giles County was regarded as a part of William-
son. Some of the old deeds and grants for lands in Giles
County on the South side of Elk River, described the land as
being in Williamson County, an® were required to be regis-
tered there.

Maury; County was established in November, 1807,

The territory South of Maury remained for two years
under the jurisdiction of Maury. The first settlers paid taxes
in Maury, prosecuted criminals, and instituted legal pro-
ceedings in the courts of Maury.

On the fourteenth of November, 1809, Giles County was
estaBlished by act of the Legislature. The Bill was introduced
by Wm. Frierson, grandfather of Judge W. F. Cooper, and
uncle of Chancellor Flemming, the Representative of William-
son and Maury, to establish a new County South of Maury,
and North of the State Line, by the name of “Richland Coun-
ty.” The tradition is, that at the suggestion of General Jack-
son, “Giles” was substituted as the name of the County in
honor of Governor William B. Giles, of Virginia. Wb’n the
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Bill was or its third reading in the Senate, on motion of Mr.
Benton, it was amended by striking out Giles, and inserting
Shelby, as the name of the County. The House refused to
concur in the amendment, and after some delay the Bill was
finally passed, retaining the name Giles. . |

The boundaries of the County as defined by the Le .
tute, commenced st the, South-éast corner of Maury, thence
South to the Southern boundary of the State, thence West far
enough to include a constitutional County, thenee North to
the Maury line, thence with the Maury line to the beginning.
As this indicated, nearly half of the County lay West of the
Congressional Reservation line. The vaeant land West of
said line belonged to the United States Government, over
which the State of Tennessee had no control, and about one-
fourth of the County; the Western and South-western part,
was Indian territory, and remained such until S‘qtember.
1816. . ' -

The Act establishing the County appointed James Ross,
Nathaniel Moody, Tyree Rodes, Gabriel Bumpass and Thomas
Whitson, Cont
as near the center of the County as practicable, and cause a
town to b¥ laid off; and to sell lots, reserving a public square
of two acres, on which should be erected a court house and
stocks; that the Town should be called “Pulaski,” in honor of
Count Pulaski, who fell' in the attack upon Savannah in 1779.

The Commissioners were judiciously selected as to their
location. Ross lived at the Andrew Yokley place; Moody near
Lynnville Station; Bodees where his son, Robert Rodes lived
allerwards; Bumpass at Cross Water; and Whitson on Elk
River, about a mile above Prospect on what was then Indian
lerrilory. )

The Commissioners selected the present site of Pulaski,
then known as the “Shoals on Richland Creek,” although at
that time it was vacant land, lying South and West of the res-
ervation line, but assurance of title had been given, which
muthorized the Commissioners to make the selection. The
39: and undergrowth were removed from a small portion

the town in 1810, Among those who removed the first
cane were: General R. H. Allen, then a lad fifteen Nears of
age, and Spencer Clack, then a young man living with his

to select a place on Richland Creeky ‘
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. father, one mile West of the court house.

Is August, 1811, the first lots were sold, and in due time
a court house and stocks were erected.

On the twenty-second of November, 1809, the Legisla-
ture, by joint resolution, selected the following magistrates
for Giles County, viz: John Dickey, Jacob Baylor, Somerset
Moore, Charles Neely, Robert Steele, Nathaniel Moody, Wil-
liam Phillips, Benjamin Long, Thos. Westmoreland, David
Porter and Maximillian H. Buchanan. At the same time the
Legislature elected Thos. St Judge of the Fourth Dis-
trist, embraging Giles and"Alf Ich, Attorney General.

Dickey lived at Campbellsville, Baylor one mile West of
it, Moore on Moore's Creek, two miles South-west of Pulaski,
Neely on Pigeon Roost Creek, near the Tillery place, Steele
on the turnpike, opposite Buford Station, Moody half a mile
South of Lynnville Station, Phillips two miles North of Elk-
ton, Long in the suburbs of Elkton, Westmoreland near Aspen
Hill, Porter near Mout Moriah Church, and Buchanan at

" Crosswater.

The Act which established the County also established a
Circuti Court, to be held the second Monday in June and De-
cember; and a Court of Pleas and Quarter Sessions, to be
held third Monday in February, May, August and November;
and provided that the first courts should be held at the house
of Lewis Kirk, who lived in a log cgbin on the bank of Rich-
land Creek, about two hundred yards above the Nashville
and Decatur Depot. '

The ﬂnl ‘County Court was held third Monday in Febru-
ary, 1810, whén the Magistrates were sworn in, and County
officers elected or appointed. German Lester was made Clerk,
Charles Neely, Sheriff, , Chairman and Jesse
Westmioreland, Register. Charles Neely, the first sheriff, was
one of the Magistrates, and the tradition is that the magis-
trales, at the first election for sheriff, wre in favor of keeping
the office among themselves, as was the custom in the State
of Virginia at that time; but, owing to some dissatisfaction
about the mode of electing, Neely resigned, and James Buford,
who was his deputy, was elected.

The third Circuit Court was held in Jun , 1810. Thomas
Stewart was Judge, and James Berry was appointed Clerk.
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The first courts of*the County were attended by a large num-
ber of atiorneys from other counties, among them were:
Thomas H. Benton, Felix Grundy, O. B. Hays, Alfred Balch,
Marmaduke Williams, Peter R. Booker, John Kelly, John
White, Robert Mack, Wm. White, Easthouse Lewis,

Haskell, Coulter, and othgrs; besides Alfred M. Harris, George
Cunningham and Lunsford M. Bramlette, resident attorneys.
A few years later Aaron V. Brown, Wm. H. Field and Tryon
M. Yancey w numbered with the resident lawyers. At a
Ister date, John H. Rivers, Wm. C. Flournoy, Collin S. Tarp-
ley, E. J. Shields, {amu Ww. Cm.—cnd a few years later,
Archibald Wright, Neill S. B , Calvin Jones, John W.
Goode, Thomas “#.-Jones, Au F. Goff, and Dixon Topp, were
added to the n of resident attorneys. Thos. H. Benton
was attorney for the Plaintiffs in the first two cases on the
Civil Docket in the Circuit Court. Henry Clay’s name ap-
pears on the docket as an attorney at three or four courts a
few fears after the courts were organized. It is said he was
lookiz | @fier an important land suit. .

&

On the twenty-third of November, 1809, the Legisiature
chartered an Academy for Giles County, called Pulaski Acad-
emy, dnd appointed John Sappington, Nelson Patterson, Tyree
Rodes, Samuel Jones, Somerset Moore, Charfes Buford, and
Charles Neely, Trustees; and in the month of September, 1812,
mamammynwmwmmuw
emy; and Doctor William Purnell, David Woods, and Alfred
M. Harris appointed additional Trustees 2

in 1809, the Legislature declared Richland Creek naviga-
ble to the mouth of Big Creek. A few years later the Act was
so amended as 10 declare it navigable only to Pulaski; after
which a mill was built on the creek at Pulaski, and another
below Mt. Moriah Church.

In the Legislature of 1809, Thos. H. Benton represented
the Counties of Williamson, Rutherford, Bedford, and Maury,
in the Senate; and Willlam Frierson, Williamson and Maury
in the House of In the Legislature of 1811,

the House: Newton Cannon represented Williamsoh,
erford, Maury, Bedford, Lincoln and Giles in the Senate

Representatives.
Amos Johnson represented Williamson, Maury and Gﬂa‘
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CHAPTER FOUR—FIRST SETTLERS

The first white persons who explored Giles County or
passed through it, so far as is now known, were the Commis-
sioners with their guard, and citizens who accompanied them
to lay off a district on the Northern part of Middle Tennes-
“see, 55 miles wide, for the satisfaction of warrants issued by
the State of North Carolina to her officers and soldiers; and
to lay off a tract of twenty-five thousand acres South of that
district, donated to General G e. !

A large number of those went out in said expedition
went across the State from ! ville, through the Eastern
portion of the County to Latitude Hill on Elk River, and on
their return passed up Indian Creek, ovei to and up Buchan-
an’s Creek; and thence to Fountain Creek in Maury County.
After that time and until 1790, it was occasionally visiled by
locators and surveyors in segrch of land. The entering of
land being stopped by the United States Government as soon
as the cession of the territory was accepted, but few persons
¢ame to the County until after the Indian tile was extinguish-
ed. Although a large portion of the best lands in Giles Coun-

1y was located and entered soon after the passage of the Act
in 1783, and grants issued for a considerable portion of it, yet
the owners were not permitted {o go upon their lands, or to
have them surveyed or the lines marked, until after the treaty
of January, 1806. And until after that time it is believed there
were no permaneni settlements in the County.

It is now sery difficult 1o ascertain who were the first
settlers and when they came. But few of the first settlers who
were old enough to remember dates when they came are now
living.

{ have met with a few who think their parents were in
the County in 1805, others in 1806, and tha! corn was raised in
the County in those years; but upon inquiry as to who came
with them, or who were here before them, or came the same
year they did, or the rotes they came, I am inclined to believe
they are mistaken as to dates.

It is highly probable there were a few here in 1806, and

y in 1805, as we find adventurers on Indian lands in
other places, notwithstanding the prohibiion of the Govern-
ment. But who they were, or when they came, if any such
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were here, | have not been able to satisfactorily ascertain.
The information upon which I base the following account
of the early settlement of the County, has been derived from
the few of the early settlers yet living, who were young men
and women when they canie; from those who were of an age
. to remember how old they were when their parents came,
and from those who learned from their parents how old they
were at the time they came, or that they were born the year
before or the year after they came verified by family records.
From these and from the records of thé County, together
with what I learned from my parents who came to the Coun-
ty in 1809 when | was a small boy; and from what I learned
from other oldysetilers having had a general _acquaintance
throughout the County since early manhood, | ieve the per-
sons hereinafter named were among the first settlers and that
they came about the dates mentioned. Many others, whose
names are not mentioned, were early settlers, but | have
en unable to learnd when they came.

' is believed that the first permanent settlement in the
County was made on Elk River near the mouth of ‘Richland
Creek: and in the neighborhood of Prospect by emigrants
from East Tennessee who came down the Tennessee River in
boats to the mouth of the Elk, and thence up Elk.

The treaties of 1805 and 1806 extinguished the Indian
title to a considerable postion of what is now Madison Coun-
ty, in Alabama, a scope of country in the shape of a “V,” some
thirty miles wide on the South boundary of the Tennessee
with a poiit on the Tennessee River at Ditto’s landing, with
about eight miles front on the river. Soon after the treaty,
Zacharia Cox and his associates, the “Tennessee Zazoo Com-
pany,” claimed this scope of country as against the U. S.
Governmen!. Under their purchase from the State of Georgia
in 1795, and commenced settling it and having it settled up.

They were resisted by the Government and those claim-
ing under said purchase were driven off. But the character of
the country being well known to the people of East Tennes-
see, soon after the treaty a number of persons of wealth and
influence came down the river in boats and setftled around
what is called Hunt’s Spring, afterwards Huntsville; and
thereafterwards, others descended the river to the mouth of

L
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the Elk, and ascended Elk to the neighborhood of Prospect,
and the mouth of Richland. Among these were William
Crowson and his four sons, and his son-in-law, Vincent, with
their families, who came about February, 1807, and settled
the West side of Richland Creek, and near the mouth of it,
and raised corn in 1807.

About the same time or soon Ihereaﬂer. Thos. Whitson,
pettled on Whitson’s Creek, & mile or two above Prospect,
and for him the named. Reynolds settied on the
placed owned by . Esq., at the time of his death,
and for him Reyonlds” Island was called. Jordan Ward set-

' tled on the north bank of the river three miles Above Pros-

pect, at what has since been known as the Abel Ezell place.
A man named Jenkins settled on Jenkins' Creek, for whom
the creek was named. A man named Johnson between Ford’s
and the Thomas Reed place; and a man named Ellis settled
near the Reed place; a family named Easley settled on the
south side of the river, opposite the mouth of Richland, near
where John Bailey lives.

These settlers with a few others in the nenghborhood
raised corn in 1807. James Ford with a number of others,
including James Williams, Parish Simms, Thos. Dodd, Simon
Foy, and Thos. Kyle, with their hmu.iqo started from Haw-
kins County in East Tennessce in the Spring of 1807 with
four boats, when the boats had ascended Elk about opposite
Simms’ settlement three of the boats with the Simmses, Kyle
and others went out to view the country, and confuded to
stop there and stiled what was lonk known as Simm’s settle-
ment, in Limestone County, Ala.

Ford with his boat and those with him ascended lhe river
some distance and stopped and with a canoe, Ford and two
or three men went up the river several miles until they came
to a small branch running into the river a short distance
above the mouth of Ford's Creek, when they stopped, and, as
they landed Ford said, “Boys, this is my spring branch,” and _
going up the branch they soon found the spring.

,Ford went back and brought up his boat, and landed on
the north side of the river at the mouth of the ng branch,
about 200 yards above the railroad bridge, on the fourth day
of June, 1807 He built a house near the spring. The place
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has since been know as the Dever place, and is now owned
by A. J. Reed, Esquire, and adjoins Prospect on the East.
Ford’s Creek that runs by Prospect, was named ftom Ford.

Two or three months after Ford came, Major Wm. Kyle
came and settled on the south gide of the river, opposite Pros-
pect, at what has since be nown as the Brown or Vﬂo
place. He was a man of considerable propeity, and ownéd a
number of slaves. About the same time the McKinneys came
and settled in the neighborhood. The old man Hunnicut znd
sons came soon after Ford and settled on the south side of the
river below the mouth of Richlapd; the place is now owned
by the heirs of Daly. John Tucker came the same year and
settled the Tueker place now owned by Carey Gilbert, Es-
quire. James and Wm. Price, came about 1808 gnd settled on
the East side of Richland Creek near the mouth at what was
called “Lower Elkton.” John and Lewis Nelson came about
1809 and settled & few miles North-east of Prospect. John Nel-
son settled where his widow now lives, and Lewis Nelson in
the - umé neighborhood. Dr. Gabriel Bumpass, with rnumber
of families from South Carolina, settled at CrossWwater &t a
very early date. The precise date cannot be ascertained; but
from the fsct that the Bufords and others traveled his trail
as early as the Fall of 1807, he must have come sometime in
1807 as early at least as the Summer or Fall.

In the party that came with Bumpass were William Buch~
anan and his sons Robert, Maxmillian H., (the father of Mrs.
Col. Solon E. Rose), John and Jesse, Timothy Mgzell, Mike
Ezell and William Ezell, the father of P. H. 1, together
with others whose names are not remembered. - Dr. Bumpass
settled the Crosswater place now owned by George E. Sauttle,
Wm. Buchanan settled the place owned by the Reverened C.
P. Reed; Robert Buchanan about a half mile North of where
Reed lived on the east side of Buchanan’s Creek; it is not cer-
tainly known whether the creek took its name from them, or
was named by the ners in 1783, as there was a
Buchanan with them. The general impression is that it took
its name from Robert Buchanan who lived on it and built a
mill on it about 1809; it was grinding in 1810. The Ezel
tle east of the mill, and in the immediate neighborhood.

Bumpass and his company opened the first road in
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County South from Columbia; it came to Little Bigby by
where Pillow’s Mill was, striking thé Giles County line at
what is how known as Yokley's Gap, at the headwaters of
what is now known as tHe eastern branch of Big Creek and '
down the same by Cunningham's, now John English's; thence
by Andrew Yokley’s, thence a little East of Campbellsville, by
the place Joha I, Morris lives on, thence South on the divid-
ing ridge between Big Creek and little Dry Creek nrikinu
Dry Creek wheve Wilson lives; crossing Weakley' Creek
at Reed’s ford, n South-east corner of Reed’s land;

thence up Agnew , thence by the Walthall place, known
as the William D. Abernathy place; thence to Coopertown,
and by the Black place to Riculand, crossing at Mrs. Tyree
Rodes’ farm, and thence to Crosswater, making a very cir-
cuitous route to avoid the large cane. The cane was small on
the ridges, and poor land, but very heavy in the creek bot-
toms, and on the rich land. This was called Bumpass's trail,
and was the principal road for emigrants gaing as far South
as Pulaski, and West of Pulaski—for two or three years. The
first mails were carried on this route’ Bumpass, the Buchan-
ans, Ezells, and others, who came about the time they /did,
raised corn in 1808. Lewis Brown, Lester Morris, Buckner
Harwell and his sons, William Crittendn and his sons, Alex-
ander Tarpley, Robert McNairy, Willlam Waells, Sr., and his
sons, Mark Mitchell, Jesse Westmoreland, Thos. Westmore-
land, W. B. Pepper, Colonel L. Cleaveland, Reverend William
Calloway and William Abernathy, (father of Chas. C. Aber-
nathy,) came in the latter part of 1808, and early in 1809.'
They all or the most of them made corn in 1809. Cleaveland
and Calloway may have made corn in 1808, The Westmore-
lands lived in Davidson County, sent their hands out, and im-
proved places and made crops, but did not move their fami-
lies out until the latter part of 1809,

Lewis Brown settled on Richland Creek on the place
known as the Ira Brown place. Lester Morris was a Revolu-
tionary soldier and settled about a half mile West of Reho-
both Chure; Buckner Harwell, Sr., settled the farm now own-
ed by John Marks, and his sons settled in the neighborhood.
His son, Colonel Gilliam Harwell, father of Dr. T. B. Harwell,
settled not far from where Dr. Harwell now lives. William
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Crittenden settled the place lately owned by Robert Dickson.
Robrt McNairy, Alex Tarpley, and Wm. B. Pepper, settled the
places on which they resided at the time of their Ueaths, and
wwhich have been long known.by their names. Mark Mitchell
sttled the place now owned by Colston Abernathy; Jesse
Westmoreland settled the place now owned by John Newbill;
William Wells the place since known as the Wells or Moseley
place; Cleaveland and Calloway settled on the old Stage Road,
half a mile or three quarters south of where the Reverend C.
P. Reed lived. Cleaveland at the place Birdsong lived on, and
Calloway about 300 yards further on South. Calloway was a
Baptist preacher, and one of the first preachers in the County
Wm. y settled the place Chas. C. Abernathy now
lives on. He sent his hands out from Davidson County, im-
proved the place and made a crop, but did not move out his
family until the latter part of the year. One of the first
churches in the County was a Baptist Church about & quarter
of a mile South ¢f or South-west from Crosswater spring,
LUt in 1809 by the Buchanans and Ezells. Bev. George
Brown and perhaps, Galloway-were-the preachers. A Metho-
dist- Church at Rehoboth was built in 1810, principally by
Lewis Brown, who was a man of considerable property.

Lewis Brown erected a horse mill about 1810, which was
resorted to from a considerable distance in the Summer sea-
son. Dr. Bumpass practiced medicine at Crosswater, and over
a large eéxtent of country,—as there were but few physicians
insthe county. He was a learned and skillful physician, but a
man of great eccentricity of character so much so that his
influence was effected by it. Among those who came at later
date tc the neighborhood of Crosswater were: Robert Oliver,
who lived for many years on the place afterwards owned by
the Reverend C. P. Reed and Isaac Mason who settled on the
place long known as the Mason place, and Thos. Meredith,
who setled the place where Mrs. Tyree Rodes now lives.

SECTION THREE—ASPEN HILL AND NEIGHBORHOOD

The neighborhood of Aspen Hill was settled at a very
early date. Thomas Reed, Sr., the father of the, late
Reed, Esq., came from Kentucky and settled the pl
Reed, Esquire, first lived on,*about a quarter of mle
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of where J. P. C. Reed now lives.

Old William Riggs, Joseph Moore, and Daniel Cox, came
about the same time. Dan Cox settled on Richland Creek,
where Thomas Westmoreland a year afterwards settled, long
known as the Jones place. James Kimbrough, the father of
Henry T. Kimbrough, Elijah Anthony and Joseph Anthony,
the father of James D., and Joseph C. Anthony all came about

the same time an in the neightorhood. Joseph An-
thony, whre J - now lives. Joseph C. Anthony, thinks
his father came 1805; and J. P. C Reed thinks his grand-

father came about 1806, but as they have no record of dates
to refer to, and as they nearly all came along the Bumpdss
trail, it is very probable they came in the Summer or Fall of
1807. They all raised corn in 1808. In the latter part of 1808,
or first of 1808, Thomas Westmoreland, fatber of the late
Thos. A. Westmoreland, Esq., brought out his servants and
settled on what has since been called the Jnoes place.

He made a crop in 1809, and moved his family out from
Davidson County in the latter part of 1809. He was appointed
by the Legisiature in the Fall of 1809, one of the first Justices
of the Peace in the County, and must have been regarded as
a citizen of the County at that time. John Butler and John
Barnett came n after Westmorelgnds; the precise date not
known. Butler settled on what was long known as the Butler
place, North of Aspen Hill. Barnett settled about a mile
South-west of Aspen Hill. A few years later the Reverend
Aaron Brown and his sons, Thomas and William settled in
the neighbothood. The Reverend Aaron Brown on the place
afterwards owned by his son, Governor Aaron V. Brown, and
called the Aspen Hill place. Thos. Brown half a mile South-
east of Aspen Hill, at what has since been known as the Petty
place. Wm. Brown at what has since been called the Steven
Biles place. Captain Baker P. Potts settled at an early date
West of the place owned by Governor Aaron V. Brown.

SECTION FOUR—PULASKI AND VICINITY

It is difficult to ascertain who were the first settlers in
the town of Pulaski, or the dite at which they came. It is
believed, however, that Lewis Kirk, Alexander Black and his
brother, Robert Black, were the first who lived in the town;
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and that they came as early as the Fall or Summer of 1807. It
is known that they were here in 1807; settled the lot on y_:hkh
David S. Martin now lives in Mjrst Main Street; Robert on the
same street near the old cemetery; Lewis Kirk on the bluff
at the foot of the :houh‘x Richland Creek, about two hun-
dred yards above the Nashville and Decatur Depot. These
lots are now owned by Thos. Flippen and Pleasant Smith.
About the time the Blacks and Kirks came, or son after,
Ralph Graves, Sr., settled about two hundred yarts East of
J. B. Childers’s residence, and a little East of the Corporation
line. Charles Buford, Jas. Buford #nd Somerset Moore came
to the neighborhwmd of Pulaski in the Fall of 1807. The fa-
ther of the Bufords, James Buford, Sr., was one of the first
settlers of Williamson County, lived in, Williamson County
near Thompsons’ Station and owned a tract of two thousand
acres of land adjoining the South-west corner of Pulaski. His
sons and Moore who was a son-in-law, made some improve-
ments ¢a the land in 1807. In the Fall sowed turnips and
went back and moved their families out early in 1808. €harles
Buford settled the place known as the Charles Buford place.
James Buford the place now owned by the heirs of Nicholas
Buford; Sotmérset Moore the place on Moore’s Creek, now
owned by Mrs. Fogg. The creek was named for him, though
Buford's and Moore came the Bumpass trail. Major John
Clack, with his son, Spencer Clack, moved from Sevier Coun-
ty, East Tennessee, and settled about a mile West of the
Court Houseon the Carter farm near where his negro

were, early in 1808. These all raised corn in 1808. Wm. Gideon
came in 1808, and settled what was long known as the Gideon
place, on the Gideon road half » mile North of town. Col.
Nelson Patterson with his sons, James and Bernard M., came
in the latter part of 1808, and settled the Patterson place one
mile East of Pulaski. They raised corn in 1808. Major Thos.
Wilkerson, father of the late F. H. Wilkerson, came in 1809
and settled near the Patterson spring, between the spring and
Colonel Solon E. Rose's residence. Tyree Rodes sttled the
place his son, Robert Rodes now owns in 1809, probably in

the early part of the year. He was appointed by the ‘
ture in November, 1809, one of the Commissioners to lay ©
the town of Pulaski. Wm Kerley, known as Captain Kerley;, ™,
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came 1o the County with him, and lived on his farm several
years. Charles Neely settled near the Tillery spring, three
miles North of Pulaski at a very early day; he was appointed
by the Legislature in 1809 one of the magistrates of the Coun-
ty, and in Februsry, 1810, was elected sherifi; John White,
father of Dr. R. G. P. White, Newton and John M. White, set-
tled the place Newton White lived on in the latter part of 1809
Wam. Mayfield and sons, were very early settlers, but the date
they came is not know

Steele, the father o Alexander G. Steele and his sons
were very early settlers. They settled the place now owned
by the Honorable Thomas M. Jomes, two miles West of Pu-
laski on the Lawrenceburg road. Silas Flournoy, the grand-
father of Capt. Wni. C. Flournoy, came about 1813, and set-
tled on the Locust Hill place, where he died and was buried.
(Of the first settlers inithe town, besides Kirk and the Blacks
the following persons were here at a very early date, before
1812, but the dgle at which they came is not Kiiown.

Wm. R. Davis, Wm. Ball, Jas. Berry, German and Fountain
Lester, Dan Martin, Richard Scott, Jas. Drew, Jas. H. Wil-
liams, Wm. Hamby, Thos. Smith, Jno. McCracken, Jno. Q. Tal-
bot, Henry Hogan, Dr. Shadrack Nye, Joseph H. Trotter,
Joseph H. Hodge, Dr. Gilbert D. Taylor, David Woods, Lewis
James and William Conor, Samuel G. Anderson, Nathaniel
Moody, Alfred M. Harris, Lunsford M. Bramlette, of these
Davis, Ball, Scott, and Talbot were among the first. German
Lester came in 1809; probably the latter part of the year. The
Couny was established in November, 1809, the first County
Court being held the third Monday in February 1810, when
he was elected clerk of the County Court. The Town of Pu-
laski was located by the Commissioners and partly laid off
some time in 1810, date not exactly known, but probably in
the first half of the year as a commencement had been made
to remove the cane from the public square before October,
1810; the first sale of lots was in August, 1811. Dr. Taylor
came in 1811, and was here at the sale of the lots; the most
of those named were here at the sale of the lots; some of
them a year or two before. Bramlette, and perhaps a few oth-
ers, did not come before 1812 or 1813. C. C. Abernathy, who
first visited Pulaski, eleventh ?l October, 1810, dnd has lived

!



oo O

P

" pied by Pope and Gordon, A few years after the sale of the
lots the Commissioners, from the proceeds of the sale had
erected a good brick court house and jail, an® also put up
stocks as required by the Act of the Legislature. The stocks
were put up North of the present court house, near where the
North gate of the present yard fence is situated. The sale of £
‘the lots was wil attended and they sold for fair prices. A 3
uumber of houses was soon erecled, and the town settled up
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the immediate neighborhood ever since, thus describes the
place. “The town had been located and partially laid off, apd
a few rods of cane had been cut down on the public square
North of the present. Couft House, the balance of the public
square and what is aow the town was covered with (all cane;
-ndhroepophr.beocb.nﬂothﬂ!orfutm

Alexander Black lived in a log cabin near where David S. 3
Martin now lives on First Main Street, and had cut down a
few rods of cane where his house stood. Robert Black lived
in a similar cabin, on the same street, near the old cemetery.
fewis Kirk lived in a rough log cabin on the bluff of Rich-
land Creek at thedwot of the shoals. A rough log house had
been erected in his yard in which to hold court. Kirk kept a
boarding house, and tavern during the session of the courts.
Richard Scott had a small stock of goods in a cabin near
Kirk’'s which he soon after sold out to Jno. Q. Talbot. William
Ball kept a grocery in a cabin pear Kirk's. These were then
the only “wuses and m'dmh in what is now the Town
of Pulaski that he re .* A number of persons”were
then living in the immediale neighborhood and vicinity of
whom he remembers, Patterson, Wilkerson, Black, the Bu- f
fords, Moore, und others. Mr. Abernathy further states that :
after some of the lots were sold in August, 1811, and the cane
cut down on the public sqquare, a court house was built on
the public square out of round logs and covered with boards

.

stands. About the same time a log house was built for a jail,
which stood near the South-east corner of the public
and near the South-east cornetr of the drug st

:
:
:
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by enterprising men. Among the first merchants were Richard
S¢ott, David Martin, Jno. Q. Talbot, Jas. Doren, Jno. McCrack-
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en and Henry Hagan.
Among the first taverns were Lewis Kirk, on Richland

the foot of the shoals. Captain Thomas (Tubb)
the North-east corner of the square. Alexander,
on the South-east corner of the public square at
what was known as Kennan's lavern.

Among the first physicians were Dr. Gilbert D. Taylor,
Shadrack Nye, David W Alfred Flournoy, Elijah El-
dridge, and Charles Per| ete.

The first tan yar established by Jas. Hamby and
by Lewis and James Connor; the Connors settled the place
where G. W. McGrew's tan yard is at present, and established
a yard. Hamby settled the place now owned by Joe, B. Chil-
ders and established a yard South of his house, near the
spring in W. G. Lewis’s lot. German Lester was among the
first to build a comfostable family residence; he improved
the lots now owned by Major B. F. Carter, and lived 6n them
until about 1847 The first resident lawyers were Allr#'x,
Harris, George Cunningham, Lunsford M. Bramlette, yon
M. Yancy, W. H. Field, and Aaron V. Brown.

Among the early settlers in the neighborhood of Pulaski
not mentioned were David snd Wm. Maxwell, Josiah P. Alex-
ander, Wm. W. Woods, Gideon Pillow, thd father of General
G. J. Pillow, and Captain John Phillips, the father of our
present Captain John Phillips. These all settled on Pigeon
Roost Creek on the South-west and South. Thomas McKis-
sack, the grandfather of J. T. McKissack, settled the place
lately owned by James P. Smith. Thos. Walthall the place on
which William D. Abernathy lived, now owned by
Short. John Walthall, the place lately owned by Jno. Marks.
Thomas Williams, the place on which he long lived on the
Lasmbsferry rsd. John Williamson, the father of Thos. S.
Williamson, in the same neighborhood Hugh Campbell on the
place afterwards owned by Captain George Everly and on
which he lived until his death.

RESIDENTS OF PULASKI IN 1820

From a copy of the census of Giles County, taken by
Charles C. Abernathy in 1920, it appears that the following
inhabitants of Pulaski designated as “heads of families” and
entered together, and, as it ma¥y be interesting to some of

i




28 EARLY HISTORY OF GILES COUNTY

their descendants to know that their parénts or relatives
were here at that date, | will give their names, to-wit: James
Perry, Samuel Y. Anderson, Thos. Wilkerson, Jas. Connor,
Jno. E. H n, Wm. English, William Connor, Francis Guth-
rie, Nat Alman, Willlam Reyle, Bernard M. Patterson,
Lunsford M. Bramlette, German Lester, William R. Davis,
Robert Gibson, Tryon M. Yancy, Amos David, John Brown,
Jesse Day, Francis Hix, William Hamby, Matthias Sharon,
Jno. B. Connor, Masterson C. McCormack, Aaron V. Brown,
Elizabeth Berry, Judith Burch, Elizabeth Hooks, Mary Scott,
William Ball, Thos. White, Joseph H. Hodge, John McCrack-
en, William Rose, Jasgb Templin, Peggy Cyrus, Francis Alex-
ander, Joseph Trotter, Robert Crockett, Henry Hagan, Foun-
tain Lester, George Lovell, James Terrill, Archibaid Story,
Jesse Peebles, Samuel Pearson, Jeremiah Parker, AM M. Har-
tis, Thomas Smith, William H. Fields, Rebecca Crenshaw,
Shadrack Nye, Nathaniel Moody, James Lynch, Alfred Flour-
noy, James Patterson, Elisha Eldridge, Sallie Collier, John
Keenaw, John Hamblett, William Flippen, John Waldfop,
Thos. Martin, Charles Perkins.

SECTION FIVE-~MORIAH CHURCH,'WEAKLEY'S CREEK

Robert Reed, father of Levi Reed, Esquire, settled on the
East branch of Weakley's Creek eight miles from Pulaski near
where the “Bumpass trail” crossed. He moved from Logan
Countyy Kentucky, came by the Bumpass trail—by Columbia;
he builf his first’ cabin on the Chickasaw line and a year or
fwo afterwards had to move it back. John Agnew settled at
the moath of Agnew’s Creek for whom it was named. Isaac
Lamb, Levi Cooper, John Kitchen and David Campbell settied
near the same place and used water from the same spring.

Lawson Hobson settled the place on the East fork of
Weakley's Creek, known as the Hobson place; his hands
came out with . son son Newton a few years before the old

an came out They were among the first settlers and came
about the time Reed did Some of them may have come be-
fore him Valentine Choate settled on Choate’s Creek, from
whom the creek took its name Major Huriston settled on
Dry Creek, at a verw early date and built the first cotton gin
that was run by water on Dry Creek where Col. Jas. T.
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Wheeler now lives. Owen Shef‘mnn and William Wren were
among the very first settlers. Wren lived near Robert Reed,
Weakley's Creek it is said was numed or took ils name from
Robert Weakley, who was one of the early surveyurs. In the
Fall of 1809, John Reed'the father of Robert Reed came from
Kehtucky, with eight sons and setiled on Weakley's Creek:
after he setiled on Weakley, and about 1810, Robert Reed and
his e‘ht brothers came, of aghom was the late Reverend C. P.
Reed, and Levi Reed a Said Robert Reed all went to
school together. The firstSchool taught in the neighborhood
was in 1810 by Jno. Morgan. In 1811 a school was taught by
the Reverend James B. Porter. Capti‘n James L. Henry was
one of the first settlers and was the first constable in his
“beat.”

Robert Reed and Jonathan Berry were Magistrates in
their “beat” (or Captain’s Company,) at an early day. Old
Reese Porter and his sons, Reesg, John, David, Jas. B, and
Thos. C. came at an early day and settled near Mount Moriah
Church; the old man owned a large tract of land in the neigh-
borhood and settled near what is now Mt. Moriah Church.
His sons, David and John settled on the Lawrenceburg road
at what has since been called the Connor and Porter places.

The Rev. Jas B, on the Kennedy farm. Thomas C., on the
Pullen place at Wales Station; Heese Porter, Jr., died early.
He was the fither of Reese W. Porter, for many years a mer-
chant and ctizen of this County.

Thege is some discrepancy in dates as to when the Por-
ters came. James L. Henry, who is now in his eighty-seventh
year says he came to the neighborhood of Mt. Moriah Church
¢arly in 1808 and his recollection is that old Father Porter
was there whén he arrived He says he knows that Owen
Sherman and Wm. Wren were there also; John Black thinks
Sherman and Wren raised éorn in the neighborhood in 1806.
It is difficult in some cases to recongile the recollection of
old people as to dates; but from the fact that one of the Por-
ter family informs me that he was born in Davidson Count)
in 1808 as he learned from his parents thefyear or,year before
they moyed to Giles and from other informatio think it
probable they came in the latter part of 1808 or early in 1809.
In November 1809 the Legislature appointed David Porter one
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of the first magistrates of the County. He must have been
recognized as a resident citizen at that date.

Sampson McCowan and McAllily were early settlers. A
man by the name of Gibson first settled on the place where
Samuel Gibson now lives, but v soon afterwards was set-
tied by Colonel John Boden , who lived and died there.
He was the father of David Bodenheimer, Esquire, long a
magistrate and prominent citizen of our County. Captain
Heanry says the first marriage in the County that he remem-
bers was Jesse Béaver to Miss Harben, in a little cabin with a
dirt fleor in the cane-brake, near where Mt Moriah Church
now stands. Says they hadybear meat, venison and corn bread
for dinner, and hot toddy in tin cups, sweetened with tree
sugar. The Cumberland Presbyterian Church at Mt. Moriah
was organized in the Fall of 1811. Rev. James B. Porter was
the first preacher. Major Hurlston, Thos. Ruby, Reese Porter
and Jonathan Berry were the elders. This was the first Cum-
berland Presbyterian Church organized in the County. In
the same Fall a camp meetling was held at that place, and
camp ground established.

SEC. SIX--CAMPBELLSVILLE AND BIG CREEK

John Dickey, Esquire, father of James R. Dickey, Esquire,
moved from Logan County, Kentucky, and first stopped in
Maary and thence to this County in 1808. He cut the cane
near the Big Spring at Campbellsville and sowed turnips that
Fall, and made a crop of corn in 1809. James Ross, the grand-
father of Jas. R. Dickey, came the same Fall and settled the
place old Andrew Yokley lived on until his death.

Ross was one of 'the Commissioners appointed by the
Legislature to locate and lay off the town of Pulaski. They
traveled the Bumpass trail. The only road at that time com-
ing South from Columbia was the 'Bumpass trail. They came
? Little Bigby, crossed Elk ridge at what is now called the

okley gap, and came down the Eastern or Yokley branch of
BigCreek. The first corn raised in that part of the County
was in 1809. Hamilton C. Campbell and Jacob Baylor came
about the same time that Dickey did. Jacob Baylor and John
Dickey were appoiated by the Legislature in November 1800
Magistrates for the “beat” in which they lived. Jas. Ashmore
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was among the first settlers. He settled the old James Han-
nah place, one miles North of Campbellsville. Hg was elected
the first constable in his Captain’s “beat.” Daniel Allen was
one of the first settlers and settled at what has since been
_known as Wright's spring. He erected a powder mill and
"madeé powder there for several years. Dan Allen was the
father of General Richard H. Allen, for many years a promi-
nent citidén of this County, and afterwards of Lawrence
County. John Dickey was el presentative to the Legis-
‘lature in 1817. The settlers t to Williamson County the
first year for corn. Jacob Bayler buili a mill on Dry Creek
about one mile West of Campbelisville about 1809 or 1810.
This was the first mill built in that part of the country. A
mill was built about the same time or soon after on Richland
Creek below Moriah Church opposite James Hayes' place,
called Mayfield’s Mill James R. Dickey was about twelve
years old when his hl!per came to the County; says there
were but few houses in Columbia when his father moved
through there and but few on the road after he left Columbia.
Gideon Pillow lived on Little Bigby three miles South of Co-
lumbia It was several years after that before he seitled the
Pillow place in Giles at Wales Station. He says the Bumpass
trail came down the Eastern branch of Big Creek, by the old
#man Ross's and by Mack Alexander's or rather between the
two thence South leaving Campbellsville about one mile to
the right hand ; it then left Big Creek and took the Dividing
Ridge between that creek and Dry Creek, bearing towards
Dry Creek and crossing it where Samuel Wilson now lives,
and where old Colonel John Bodenheimer lived and died.
This trail went rather a zig-zag course to avoid the large cane
Cnnnillnm. who settled the place now owned by John Eng-
lish on the East branch of Big Creek; Jesse Foster, who set-
tled on Dry Creek where Sam Wilson lived; and Kirkland
who settled where Jng. ]. Morris lived were among the first
settlers. Isaac M Sr., and his sons, Matthew Benthal,
Peter Swanson, Yohn Wright, Andrew Yokley, Walter Locke,
the Gibsons, Reas, Caldwells, Englishes, Alexanders and Mc-
Cutcheons, Hannahs, Brownlowes, Keltner:, Wilcoxes, Shu-
lers, Normans and others, were early settlers; all came before
1820, and some of them among the first; but the dates at

\

we
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which they have not been ascriained.

SECTION SEVEN—OLD LYNNVILLE AND LYNN CREEK

The first settlers in the Northern part of the County on
Lyns Creek and Robertson’s Fork cr d Duck River, most-
ly at Davis's ford, came by where Culleoka now is, and cross-
ed Elk Ridge at Dodson’s Gap or went higher up Fo'nnujn

_Creek and crossed farther West. John Fry, father of Captain
Wm. Fry moved from the State of North Carolina in the Fall
of 1805, ceossed the Caney Fork at Stone’s River and came by
Nashville fo Williamson County and stopped ofi the Harpeth
and remained two years and™hen moved to this County. He
came the Davis ford road to Fountain Creek, kept up Foun-
tain Creek by John Richardson’s big spring, and crossed Elk
Ridge at a gap West of the turnpike gap; wesnt down a branch
of the middle prong, and crossed over to the Western prong
of Lynn Creek where he settled the eighth of March 1808. Wil-
liam Dearing, Gee 4e Malone, Gabriel and n Foulkes, and
Daniel Harrison settled on the East prong of Lynn Creek In
the Fall of 1807. Joha and Wm. Rutledge, Jacob and Andrew
Blythe, Joel Rutledge, and Parrish Simms, settled on the mid-
dle prong of Lynn Creek in the Fall of Iw‘l.'NkholurAbw-
lom, and Hugh Barren, Thos. Mooney and Andrew Pickens,
settled on the West prong in 1807; must of these raised corn
in 1808. Johin McCabe, John Angus, Jas, Wilsford, Jas. Brown-
low and othets, settled a little South of John Fry in 1809,
John Laird came in Detember, 1809 and settled the place he
lived on for many years on the turnpike half a mile North of
Old Lynnville. He crossed Duck River at the Dnvl_s Ford,
came by John Lindsay’s crossed ridge at the Dodson Gap,
came to old Mrs Follis’s who liv where Col. T. M. Gordon
now lives, and to Lynnville, and from thence 1o Old Lynn-
ville: he built a mill on the main branch of Lynn Creek, and
stapted the first cotton gin that ren by water in that part of
the Gaunty in 1811. He packed cotton in a square box and
pummelled it in with pestles and mauls. He opened a store
near his house at an early day and for many years sold goods

and wjthout previous training in the business, became a suc- -

cessful merchant. An incident is related illustrative of his
character. At a time when he needed an assistant or clerk in
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the store he made enquiry of his farmer acquaintances for an
honest respectable, industrious young man of good mind and
good habits. One was suggested, but at the same time he was
told that the young man had been raised on the farm; had
namer been from home and knew absolutely nothing of the
mercantile business. He replied that was the kind of a
young man that he wanted if his other qualities suited; said
he had his Jwn way of doing b and he would rather
undertake to learn a teachable )y:m who knew nothing
about the business than one wh raining differed from his
mode of business. John C. Walker and Elisha White came
about the time Laird did, and settled at Old L nnville. Walk-
er settled first where White and Walker's store was, and a
year or two afterwards moved East of Elk Ridge Church
where he resided until his death. Elisha White owned the
land/on which the town was builf and sold out the lots. He
was an energetic and successful man in business. William
Dearing settled the Dearing place one mile North of OM
Lynnville and kept taven on the road. His house was a favor-
ite stopping place for travelers and a noted stage stand for
many vears. George Malone first settled by Dearimg; byt soon
moved to the place one mile South of Old Lynnville on the
turnpike where he lived for many years and died. He was a
successful farmer and one of the first in the County who
raised cotton in considerable quantity for the market. Gabriel
Foulkes first settled where Laird's mill-pond was. Gabriel
and John Foulkes worked in a salt-petre cave, three-fourths
of a mile South-west from Dr. Rutledge’s old brick house.
John McCabe settled the Rutledge place about the time Laird
came oul. The Tuckers, Wilsfords, Evanses, and English were
early settlers but the dates at which they came have not been

“ascertained.

SEC. EIGHT—LYNNVILLE AND LYNNVILLE STATION

John Campbell, Wm. Follis, Nathaniel Moody, John Parch-
ment, Richard and Martin Flint, John Graves, Joel Lane, and
others uulr:! in a colony around what is now Lynnville Sta-
tion on Robertson’s Fork in Fall of 1809, aud raised corn,
the most of them in 1808. Mrs. Follis settled the place on

m\ which Muck Gordon now lives. Nathaniel Moody bailt the
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first mill in the County about half a mile South of Lyndaville
on Robertson Fork, near where the railroad crosses it. This
was built in 1808 or early in 1809. The county was established
in November, 1809, and the act establishing the County ap-
pointed Nathaniel Moody oae of the Commissioners to locate
and lay off the County Seal, t# be called Pulaski; he was also
appointed one of the first magistrates of the County. Soon
after the location of the County-seat, he moved to Pulaski and
built a mill on Richland Creek at Pulaski. Hiram and Boyd
Wilson .settied the lands over in the valley now owned by
Martin Fry at a very early date, as early as 1809,

SECTIONSTEN—BUFORD STATION

John Jones, the father of Mrs. Benton R. White and Mrs. A.
A. Dickerson settled the place East of Buford’s Station, long
known as the John Jones place; but at present known as the
Fitzpatrick place.

In the early part of 1808, this was for many years a noted
stand on tie Davis Ford road from Nashville to Pulaski #hd
considerable business was done at it in the early days. An-
drew M Ballentine opened a store there in 1815, and . sold
Roods there for asiumber of years before he moved to Pulaski
At the same time John Jones settled the place aforesaid, Sam-
wel Jones, his brother, settled st a‘place about a mile East,
now owned by Mrs. Judge Spofford. John White settled near
where Buford Station is, and built 2 mill on Robertson's
Fork, just above the Station. "Ostin Carter and John Pate set-
tled on lands now owned by A. A. Dickerson. Robert Guthrie
and Colonel .. Cleaveland of King’s Mountain memory, came
about the time John and Sam Jones came, or soon after. They
all raised corn in 1808. Col. Cluvehnq settled on part of the
farm now owned by Mrs. Judge Spofford where he died: and
his grave is near the building occupied by the Superintendent
of the farm. John Jones died in 1823, apd Sam Jones in 1815.
He was killed by a tree falling on him. About the time John
dpnes came or soon afterwards, David and Alexander Jones
settled in the same neighborhood. Rebecca Jones, widow of
Darvid Jones, is still living and is over ninety y, of age. Col
Robert Steele, brother of Thos. ‘and David settled on
the West side of the creek opposite Buford Station, about the
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time the Joneses came. He was Colonel of the first regiment
organized in the County. William and Henry Sheppard set-
tled the place on which Albert Buford lived at an early date.
Richard, Matthew and John Johnson and Jack Miller settled
the places long known by their names on Haywood Creek at
a very early day. James Tinnon the father of Robert and
Aleck Tinnon, and Joseph and David Abernathy, were early
settiurs on Richland and ywood in the neighborhood of
Tinnon's Mill

The settlers on Hniﬂ came some of them in 1808,
others zbout 1809 or 1810. Tinnon and the Abernathys it is
said, came by the Bumpass trail, leaving it somewhere South
of Campbelisville.

I regret that | have not the information to give a more
extended notice of Col. Cleaveland, one of the immortal he
roes of King's Mountain. ' Judge Spofford has kindly furnish-
ed the following transcription from the inscription on his
tomb: '

“SACRED"”

To the Memory of Col. Larkin Cleaveland
Formerly of Frankiin County, Georgia.
Born April 1748. Died July 9, 1814.

SECTION TEN—ELK RIDGE CHURCH

John Montgomery and Sam Montgomery settled on Robert
son's Fork sear Elk Ridge Church early in 1808, and crossed
the ridge al what was first called the Sam Montgomery gap,
and afterwards known as the Dodson Gap. Leander M. Shields,
father of John M. Shields, came in 1809 and settled near the
church where he lived many years. Samuel Shields and James
Shields came about the same time or soon after and settled
in the same neighborhood. | Shields was the father of
the Honorable Ebenezer J or several years a Repre-
sentative in Congress from that district, and one of the most
graceful and elegant public speakers our County has produced
Joseph Braden, the grandfather of Major J. B. Stacy, Achi
bald Crockett, Alexander Shields, Robert Crockett, Samuel
Copeland and James Montgomery werc early settlers. John
C. Walker, after remaining a short time at Old Lynaville set-
tled on the road East of the Church where he lived for many
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years and until his death. Fast of Walker's, and' ip the same
neighborhood were Presley and Robert Topp; William James,

William Ussery, and Hugh Caruthers, Samuel Parrick, Eph-*

raim Patrick, Ephraim M. Massey tnd William Marr. These
were all early settlers; some of them among the very first
but the dates at which they came have not been ascertained
with sufficient certainty to give them.
SECTION ELEVEN
Brick Church and Robert Gordon Neighborhood

Robert Gordon with his sons, Thos. K. and John, settled
on Hichland Creek near the Brick Church at what was long
known as the Gordorn“place—the third of March 1808, and
made a crop that year; cultivated 11 aeres in corn; he moved
from Kentucky ten miles from Crab Orchard to Williamson
County, Tennessee, and settled nine miles West of Frafklin
and two miles from Gideon where he lived two years and then
removed to Giles. He was in the outside settlement when he

lived in Wiltigmson.! In coming !o this County he traveled,

the old McCutcheon trail. It passed East of Spring HM.
crossed Duck River at what was afterwards kpown as Hol-
land's Ferry.above Pavis's Ford; passed by the widow Mc-
Nutt's not far froin where Mooresville is situated. The old
teace passed a little West of where he settled; went by the
old Brick Church thence South (o Elk River at Shoemaker’s
Ferry near Latitude Hill. From McNutt's to where Gordon

2" settled was twelve milees and McNutt's was the last house

ae passed; and thére were but few settlers between McNutt's
and where he moved from in Williamson County. Two or
three families were in the neighborhood before Gordon came.
A man named Vaughan was living at the spring on the widow
Mary Gordon's place, half a mile North of where Robert Gor-
don, Sr.. settled. The widow Clark and two or three of her
sons had settled on the Marsh and *ood farms.
There were no settlers for six miles in a North-east direc-
&?n to Jno. Henderson and James S. Haynes; they came about
e same time Gordon did, and settled the places long known
by their names near Cornersville. Going West down Rich-
land Creek there were not any seftlers aearer than John or
Sam Jones' and they were six miles off. In a Southern direc-
tion, it was ten miles to Robert Alsup’s who lived on the
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South-west side of Pisgah Hill. Soon after Gordon came, Jo-
seph Jarmin and old John McCandless and his song and their
families came. A man named Nation, with several sons, set-
tled the Robert H. Laird place South of the old Brick Church.
For the first two years they packed the most of their meal on
horses from Williamson County. The first year some of the
settlers used hand mills. Martin Lane, Sr., and his son-in-law.
Thos! Lane, Esquire, came two years after Gordon. The
Fraziers, Tungetts and Sa came sbout the time Lane did.
Gordon's oldest daughter, abeth, was married the first
of February, 1810 to Joseph McDonald, two weeks before the
courts were organized in Giles and they went to Maury Coun-
ty for license and were married at the widow McNutt's by
John Lindsay, Esquire. The father of William and David
Maxwell owned the land on Piqﬂm Roost settled by them and
send out a man named Milroy with his stock to improve it.
This was before Gordon came and a year or fwo afterwards
Wm. and David came out to live on the land. Richard Mec-
Gehee lived one and a hal(.miles West of Gordon; was an
early settler and one of the first magistrates in that part of
the County. John Dabney, Sr., settled about one mile North
of Gordon at a very early day. James S. Haynes and his fa-
ther, John Haynes, old William Henderson, gnd his brother,
John Henderson, and Jno. Andrews were among the first set-
tlers in the neighborhood of Cornersville and came about the
time Gordon did. At that time there was a trace from Cor-
nersville that intersected the McCutcheon trail South of Gor-
don, near where the old Brick Church stood. The cane had
been chopped so that people could ride along it. This trace
and the old McCutcheon trace were the only roads opened
when Gordon came.
SECTION TWELVE—BRADSHAW
%  Odem Hightower, father of Hardy Hightower, was one
of the first settlers on Bradshaw Creek, and came either the
latter part of 1807 or early in 1808. He raised corn in 1808,
which was the first raised on the creek.

Hardy Hightower, John Kennedy, John Elliff, James Mc-
Knight, and Sam McKnight came the latter part of 1808, or
early in 1809, and settled the placees known by their names.
Joe Jarmin came in the early part of 1808, John Young, Es-
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quire, was one of the first.settlers. John Young settled the
place known as the Archibald Ybung place. Nicholas Bolly‘.
tather of Jno. Holly, came in F ry or March 1809.

Those medtioned above were all here when Holly came.
The first year the settlers beat t of their meal in a mortar
and ground some in a little habd-mill. Hardy Hightower built
the first mill on Bradshaw. Old Nicholas Holly moved from
South Carolina to the State of Ohio, and from thence to Ten-
nessee. He came by Columbia, by where Jno. C. Wnlk.n. Es-
quire, lives; by Dabney's and by old Robert Gordono's.

' SECTION THIRTEEN—MT. PISGAH .

The first settlemefit about Mount Pisgah was by -
erend Alex MacDonald and his brothers, Joseph, Robert and
John; and his relatives Major William MacDonald and James
MacDonald, all of whom came in the latter part of 1808. Mac-
Donald settled the place now owned by Sterling Abernathy.
John MacDonald, where Col. Willls Worley now lives. Maj.
Ilve:.r‘ J:-'

Alsup before the MacDonalds about the f

:?:. and u:t.l:; in the hollow over the hill South of Alex

MacDonald’s. The old man Maples and his sons came about

the tinte or before the MacDonalds, and lived in the hollow

above MacDonald’s, Laban Westmoreland, the grandfather

of Dr. Theo. Westmoreland seftled near the John Neal place

West of Mt. Pisgah hill. He came to the County about the time

his brothers, Jesse and Thomas came in the latter part of 1808

1809.

* e:l’:yrl::ud a crop in 1809, although his family might not

have come until the latter pari of the year. Aquilla Wilson,

the Stovalls, Tilman R. Daniel, George Oliver, the Bnd}eys,

Rickman Williams and Craft were early settlers in the néigh-

borhood but the dates have not been ascertained. The first

camp meeting at Mt. Pisgah was in 1811 and held near where

William Oliver lived about half a mile North of Mt. Pisgah
@Church. In 1812 the camp meeting was held at Mount Pisgah

and kept up for many years.

SECTION FOURTEEN
Blooming Greve Church and Lestherwood Creek

Thomas Marks, father of Edward and Maj. Lewis B.

| !

~
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Marks came to the County the first of January, 1811, and set
tled the place Jacob Reasonover lives on. James Dugger, Es-
quire, came at the same time, and settled on the place Car-
roll Marks now lives. They came from Davidson County by
Columbia, crossed Richland Creek at John Jones's, now Fitz-
patrick’s; came the Gideon road to Pulaski; camped the first
night at William Gideon’s, near the factory, and thence travel-
ed oyer Locust Hill to Leatherwood Creek; kept on the ridge
because the cane was n the ridge, and there was no
undergrowth of timber %\ and in some places no cane
Where there was no cane ground was covered with pea-
vines. They kept along the ridge and went down at the point
where William Arrowsmith lived; and when they struck the
creek they kept up the bed of the creek to avoid the large
cane, and even cul a log that was across the creek and rolled
“it out to travel the bed of the creek as far as they could, in
preference to cutting their way through the large cane 6n the
creek bottoms. Msf. Nathan Davis settled the Daniel Aber-
nathy place and Capt. Thos. C. Stone, the place now owned
by John M. White at a very early day; as early probably as
1808 or 1809. They settled a year or two before Marks came.
A man named Stevens lived where Edward Marks now lives
in January 1811. Old Tom Webb lived West of the creek on
the top,of the hill on the place owned by Arrowsmith heirs.
Thos. McKerly built a house near where Mrs. Arrowsmith
lives. .
Old maa Patite first settled on Locust Hill, where old
Silas Flournoy settled. Flournoy came about 1813. Shade
Harwell and Henry Loyd moved to the County the winter that
Thos. Marks came. Austin Smith settled the place East of the
Creek that Doll Hopkins lives at. Allen Abernathy was one
of the first settlers in the neighborhood as was Austin Smith.
At the time Thomas Marks came to the County about the last
of Decgmber, 1810, or the first day of January, 1811, his son
Edward was ten years old and Lewis B, eight years old.
SECTION FIFTEEN—BUNKER HILL AND INDIAN CREEK
Benjamin Benson, Earley Benson, Valentine Huff, Wil-
liam Watson, Isham Brown and his sen; old Wm. Birdwell
and his son, John dwell, Jesse Lamb, Adam Bell and John
Lamb were very early setilers on Indian Creek, and arcund




R T

R ——

@

"0 EARLY HISTORY OF GILES COUNTY

)

Bunker Hill and the most of them, if not all of them, came
the latter part of 1808 or the first of 1809, and made corn in
1809. Adam Bell came the McCutcheon trace. The Birdwells
settled on what has long been known as the Robert McLau-
rine place. John Lamb tled the place where Thomas P.
Brooks now lives; he and his son moved from there to Lamb's
Ferry on the Tennessee River. They established the lrrr'y and
from them it took ils name. Isaac Lamb settled on the North-
east corner of the Jno. Bass field, where the old graveyard is.
Dr. Silas McGuire settled on the Joe Rowe place. Thomas

* Stanford, Sr., came in the latter patt of 1808 or in 1809, and

settled on the Wast side of Indian Creek at the ford where
old Mrs. Jolly afterwards lived. James Redus. Caleb Freily,
William McGuire and John Manarke came in 1809 or 1810, and
settled on the place afterwards called the Jno. McCormack
place, or near there. Drury Alsup, in the early part of 1809
settled the place on which Nathan Bass lived; and made corn
in 1807 Duncan Bown, and Daniel McCallam moved from
sumner County in the Fall of 1809; came by Columbis and by
way of the Bumpass trail to Crosswater where they remained
a week or two, and settled about six miles South-east of
Crosswater, at the place now owned by Henry Watson. For
two-thirds of the jway after they left Crosswater they cut the
cane to open a road for their wagons and this trail furnished a
braach road for others to travel going in that dircetion. They
arrived at the place they settled the 10th day of December,
1809. “In 1810 or 1811, Captain John Smith from Glddgow,

Scotland, settled near an’g He had been a sailor

for many years; was inthe sh Navy, and was with Nel-
son in the great Naval battle of Trafalgar. About 1811 or
1812, Aqulla Wilson settled near McCallum on the North and
Matthew Murcrief, Sr., on the South. A few years later James
Paine, Fsq.. father of Bishop Paine, settled the Paine place
one mile North-east from where McCallum lived and

the same time Robert Paine, Edward Shelton, Larkin Cardin,
and Wm. B. Brooks, settled, about a mile South of where
Brown settled. Among the first settlers on Indian Creek not

North of Bunker Hill; and John and Richard Wright, and
Jesse Perry and his sons; Buckner, Madry, William Sawyers,

named ‘were Larkin Webb, John Reasonover; Kinchew B&
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Joho Sanford, Henry and John Naive, and Daniel Molloy
South of it. A few years later Willis S. McLaurine, Robert
Mclaurine, Wm. McLaurine, Thos. Wells, Arnold Zealnor,
Josiah Phelps, John McCormack, and Martin Baugh, settled
in the neighborhood. Indian Creek Church, Primitive Baptist
was organized in 1811, George Brown was the first preacher,
and in 1811 Mrs. Nathan Bass, and Mrs. William Watson were
baptized and joined the ('Eurch. It is believed they were the

first cases of baptism i t Church. Samuel McKnight, Wm.
B. Brooks and Anold or were prominent members

SECTION BIXTBZN—MT(iN AND NEIGHBORHOOD

The first settlements in the County were on Elk River,
about the nouth of Richland Creek. Al an early day a road
or way of travel was opened on the West side of the creeck
from the “Bumpass trail,” through the settements to the
mouth of Richland. A similar road was also opened on the
East side, from Crosswater to the mouth of the creek long
known as the lower Elkton road. Soon after the County was
organized John and Wm. Price laid off a town and sold out
lots at the mouth of the creek and the plade was called Lower
Elkton. It became an important shipping point and consider-
able business was done at it for fifteen or wenty years. Soon
after a town was established at'the mouth of the creek, Dr.
Burnell and others laid off & town on the river, three miles
above and sold out lots, etc., at what is now Elkton proper;
and to dislln.lish\lbcm. one was called Lower Elkton and
one Upper Elkton. After the shipping of produce by flat
boats was abandoned, Lower Elkton went down, and the dis-
tinction of Upper and Lower Elkton ceased. The neighbor-
hood of Elkton was settled two or three years before the
town was laid off.

William Phillips came in the Fall of 1808 and settled the
Phillips place twu miles North of Elkton. He moved from
Davidson County and traveled the McCutcheon trace. Wil-
liam Menefee, Sr., and his sons, John and William, and his
son-in-law, Benjamin Long, were among the [irst settlers.
They came from Lincoln County, Nentucky; traveled what
was-clllled the Kentucky trace; came over the Cumberland
Mountains, crossed Elk River near the head of it; came along
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the State Line and the old man Menefee stopped on the South
side of the river opposite Elkton and settled above the ferry

where Samuel Fain afterwards put a distillery. This was
about the middle of November, 1808. The old man died the
following March. John Menefee settled soon afterward on
the Huntsville road three miles South-east of Elkton where
William S. Ezell now lives. William Menefee Jr., settled one
mile North of his brother John. Benjamin Long settled half
a mile North of Elkton where Dick Baugh lives at the Big
Spring, near where Hanserd lives. No person then lived in
Elkton. Benjamin Long was the first to settle near the town.
Mrs. Lucinda ¥ughlin, who is a daughter of William Mene-
fee. Sr., and a sister of Benjamin Long's wife says she was
nearly twenty years of age when her father came; that there
was not a “cane amiss” where Elkton is situated. She says,
at the time her father came, John Shoemaker was living at
the ferry on the river above Elkton called Shoemaker’s ferry
nea: where the old McCutcheon trace crossed the river. She
was married the eighth of March, 1810, to Alexandes Laughlin
by Wm. Phillips, Esquire. The license was the first issved by
German Lester, Clerk of the County Court, etc., and is now
in the possession of Captsin George Bowers. She was twenty-
one years old when she married Alexander Laughlin; then
lived on the South side «f the river at Shoemaker’s ferry, and
was here a year before her father came. He kept sall and
flour to sell, He came from East Tennessee, came down the
Hol$ton ifi a boat and brought salt and flour. He and two of
the Massengales, brothers of his first wife, owned a boat;
they lived on the Holston and boated down salt, flour, and
other commodities and Laughlin sold for them. Of the first
settlers now living (1876), Mrs. Laughlin ‘was older when she
came than any | have conversed with in the last year. | have
conversed with none who has a more vivid and distinct recol-
lection than she has of early times, She states that at the time
her father moved to this County, her brothers Renlar and La-
ban were boys living with her father, and her brother Jar-
rett Menefee came out the mext Fall. Wlliam Phillips and
Benjamin Long were appointed Justices of the Peace A
myﬁeretutwwmhmmmm
County. Captain Thos. Phillips built the first house in
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is now the town of Ekton the latter part of 1810.

Captain John Hawkins, Dr. William Purnell, Captain
James Perrill, Thos. Harwood, and Gustin Kerney came at an
early day, about the latter part of 1810, or the first part of
1811. Kerney came a year or so later than the others. These
with Thos. Phillips were among the first settlers in Elkton.
Wm. and Jno. Price, Alex and John Baldridge settled near the
mamth of Richland Creek on the East side at an early day;
ptobably about the latt rt of 1808, and settled what was
afterwards Lower Elkt ‘

William Sawyers, Buckner Madry, and John Sanford set-
tied the place Ben Osborne now lives on, called the Shelton
place, about the latter part of 1808 or first of 1809; and after
living there a year or two settled in the hollow West or
South-west of the Birdwell place. After they left the place was
purchased by James Bumipass and his son-in-law, Maxmillian
H. Buchanan, (the grandfather) and the father of Mrs. Solon
E. Rose. They lived on the place several years and sold to
Edmund S.bellon. He lived on it for many years, Old man Per-
ry and his sons Jno., Wm., Alex, and George, and one or two
younger ones settled the place afterwards owned by Duncan
Brown on which he lived for many years and until his death.
On this place, Ex-Governors Neill S, and John C. Brown
were raised, and on which the latter was born. The former
was born ou the place his hlb;r first settled about two miles
North-west. In the latter part of 1814, Daniel McCallum moved
from the place he first settled about two miles south and set-
tled the piace on which he lived for many years, and until his
death in 1830, being half a mile West of Duncan Brown, one
mile East of James Bum and four miles North of Elkton.
in 1808 and 1809 Brice M. Garner brought a boatload of salt
down the Tennessee River and up Elk as far as Shoemaker’s
ferry, with a vew of carrying it to Fayetteville, but the stage
of the water was such that he could not get his boat over the
shoal above the ferry; and he stopped there and built a house
near the ferry in twenty yards of the river, stored his salt
and sold it out The place was called the salt house for a loug
time.» Salt was brought up the river in keel boats and sold
there for years. In 1811, John McCracken sold goods
at the salt being on the old McCutcheon trace. It was
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a noted stand and place for crossing the river.

For the first three yéars the principal travel from Pulaski
and the places North of it lo Huntsville crossed at  Shoe-
maker's. From Pulaski the first road went out by.MacDon-
ald’s and over the ridge by where John Neil now lives to the
MeCulcheon trace; down Indian Creek by John Birdwell and
John Lamb's to Shoemaker’s. Irishtown on Silver Creek, em-
bracing the Sotuhern part of the land lated owned by Wm. L.
Brown, on the turnpike was settled March, 1810 by Hugh
Campbell. Four men by the name of Phillips (all Irish), a
man named White and one by the hame of Snipes, and others;
Joab Campbel"#ame a year or two later. .

In the Fall of 1816, at a muster at William Phillips’ the
great fight between the Prices and McKinneys came ofl
James Price and James McKinney were the principals. Joab
Campbell was the friend of the Prices, and Phelps and Jno.
Smith of the McKinneys. There was no special quarrel be-
twed s the principals. The Prices were regarded as.“cham-
pions” in Wheir neighborhood and the McKinneys“in theirs.
One of the principals asked the other which of his family
was regarded as the best man He replied that he thought he
was. The other told him to prepare himself for a fight. They
engaged. They were both champions in size, physical develop-
ment, game, and endurance. [t was a most desperate fight and
continued long. Their friends became engaged and at one
time a half dozen fights were going on. The crowd became
exciled and almost half of them stripped to fight, without
having any particular person in view to fight, or anything
in particular to fight about. To one who never witnessed
such a scene the effect is indescribable. The writer was then
a boy. It was the first fight he ever saw and was the most gi-
gantic one he has ever seen. Price and his friends were vic-
torious.

Samuel Woods settled the Goode place now owned by ©
James M. King in 1812, Previous to that George Stanford lived
\here, and made the first improvment. John Manaske lived
on the place afterward known as the Jno. McCormack place
and made powder there on a small scale. Colonel Jam r-
rell settled the place where Dr. James A .Bowers now

Colonel Gustin Kerney settled the place where old Jacob Mil-*

~
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ler tirst lived when he came to Elkmont a few hundred yards
South of Dr. Bower's residence. The road from Elkton to
Pulaski was cut out in the Fall of 1810 or Spring of 1811, Wm.
Phillips was overseer of the hands to open it from Elkton to
Paine’s Hill; about half the distance. Mrs. Laughlin says, that
after her marriage in March, 1810, to Alex Laughlin they lived
on the Duty place, South of the river al Shoemuaker's ferry;
and While living there the earth-quakes occurred. She says
Nicholas and Sam Fain h first stores in Elkton. That
Talbot, a lame man, clerB@ for them, or was in the store
with them; that some time after they came, Taylor and Me-
Ewin had a store there, and Maj. John Bass was in pwriner-
ship with them. The Fains and Bass were merchants in Elk-
ton for many years. They were men of the highest integrity,
popular and successful in business.

SFSTI_ON SEVENTEEN—SHOAL AND SUGAR CREEKS

It will be remembered that by the treaty of 1805, the
Chickasaw Indians parted with their right to the land, North
and East of a line run from the South-west corner of Maury
County to Ditto's landing on the Tennessee River; and that all
the land South and West of that line remained Indian terri-
tory until the treaty of September, 1816. Consequently the
South-western part of the County could not be settled as ear-
Iy as the Northern and Eastern parts, although a considerable
portion of the land had been entered before 1790,

The first settlers were Reuben Riggs and Henry Morgan.
They lived on the place afterwards owned by Carey Gilbert.
William Noblitt, James McKinney and Kallit Nail were very
early settlers. Nail lived at the Black place or at the foot of
Vf'hll was called Nail's Hill, now called Minor Hill. James
Collins was also one of the first settlers, All these were liv-
ing on Indian territory at the time the United States soldiers
drove the settlers back and destroyed their crops and im-
provements. Many of them Wwere driven off and their crops
and improvements destroyed. After the treaty of Stptember
1816 the lands on the Indian side of the line were mostly u-:
r'urrd or purchased by the settlers and (hat portion of the
County was rapidly settled up. James Paisley in 1818, settled
the old Paisley place, and in 1820 built a horse mill.

N
\

\
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ted a water
Anthony settled there in 1817, and erec :
mlll?lu:hhﬂ is called Shores’ Mill. In 1818, Mrs. Mary l:l. K
Gooch.nolherolblnlclh.ﬁooch.ﬁul..lcmdd on Shos
Creek, at the Gooch place; and about the same time Captain
Jerry 'Barnu. Hezekiah Jones and David Jonees, James White,
Esq., settled in the neighborhood” " e

ln.(‘:wehmadencroplnllll.lnleumeyn o
families of the Brownings, Mat Davenport, Sam and \'n
Hopper James Hammonds, Asa McGee, John Boyd and u:d
than Carroil, settled in the nei;hborhpod. Reuben mgpl 1:'.
corn on the Gilbert place, and Collins on the Dlnlcn"c:nes
place at an early date; tbey. are believed to be the or
among the first who raised corn in the ncl;hbotbood.d

The first Church organized was by the C D}nn ldemd
byterians in 1818, at Paisley’s. Reverend R ona

d A. Smith were the preachers. .

Hcve;;:" Crek was settled in 1818 by Samuel Cox, Jesse Mar-
jow. and his sons; the Appletons, Tuckers, Glen and others.

These named were among the first settlers. Cox built a mil} -

at the place known as Malone's Mill. There was an Indian

trail leading from Nail's Hill (now Minor Hill), towardd¥g

i f le. It was two or three
Huntsville and peshaps to Huntsvil
fe:t wide: some of the first settlers claim to have driven

hégs along this trail. -

.
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CHAPTER V

, ORIGIN OF LAND TITLES AND LAND WARRANTS

To explain to the rising generation the origin of our land
tithes, and the reason why so many of our firs! settlers lost
their lands by conflict of title, it is necessary to briefly recur
to the legislation of North Carolina, in relation to her Wes-
tern territory and the mode adopteglor the payment of her
soldiers and the public debt; toget with the action of Con-
gress in relation thereto.

To carry on the war of the Revolution, the Provincial
Congress had peither money nor credit, and the State of
North Carolina issued scrip to pay her soldiers and the ex-
penses of the war, and made it a legal tender. The scrip de-
preciated until at the close of the ‘war it was almost worth-
less. With the feelings of a mother for her unfortunate chil-
dren, the State resolved to iake up to_her soldiers all they
had lost by the depreciation of her u'ri;;. and adopted a scale
of depreciation for every month in the year, from 1777 to
1782, and provided for the auditing of all accounts for such
depreciation; and issued her certifjcates for the specie value
thereof which she provided might be exchanged for land war-
rants at fifty cents per acre; and opened a land office at Hills-
boro, N. C., called John Armstrong’s office, for the sale of
Western land and the entry of all warrants issued in payment
of the public debt, std as a permanent reward for the patri-
otism and zeal of her soldiers, gave lands to them; to each

vate six hundred and forty acres, and advancing with the

ficers according to grade, and appropriated a tract of coun-
try on the North side of Middle Tennessee fiffy-five miles
wide. Commencing where the Virginia line crossed the Cum-
berland River, and West 10 the Tennessee River, and issued
Warrants for the same,—called Military” Warrants, and estab-
lished an office in Nashville, calling it Martin Armstrong’s
office, for the entry of the same, giving the preference to the
officers and soldiers within the district thus appropriated. In
1782 the General Assembly appointed Absolum Tatum, Isaac
Shelby and Anthony Bledsoe, Commissioners 1o lay off the
lands appropriated to the officers and soldiers; and also

N
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twenty-live thousand acres donated to General G(ecnc. and
provided that the Governor should appoint # suitdble guard,
with the requisite officers, not to exceed one hundred men to
accompany the Commissioners. Early in 1783 the Commis-
sioners, with a guard and a large number of the settlers, on
the Cumberland, set out from Nachyille to Harpeth Glades
on the Big South Road, and traveled South across the State,
crossing Duck River near the mouth of Flat Creek, at what
was called the Shallow Ford, and crossing Robertson’s Fork
' and Richland, and down Bradshaw to within one or one and
a half miles of the mouth, where it rained 30 as tJ raise Elk
River past fording; they then went down the fiver to where
the McCutcheon trace crossédit, and then on a high bluff on
the North side of the river took their astronomical observa-
tions, to fscertain the thirtyfifth degree of North latitude.
Gen. Daniel Smith took the observation, and by his calcula-
tion they were about three miles from the South boundary of
the State. The river being past fording their purpose was to
make a canoe, an' send over some of the party to go to the
South boundary, but finding a good deal of Indian signs and
Indian horses, they finally concluded not to cross. They
marked a number of trees on the hill with the names of those
present, and the date, #ad turned back. The place has since
been called “Latitude HilL” Among the settlers who accom-
panied the Commissioners were the Blodsoes, Shelbys, Cassel-
mans, McCutcheons, Bradshaws, Elijah Robertson, General
Jamé Robertson. General Dan. Smith and others, being sixty
or eighty in all some of them doubtless going as part of the
guard allowed.

These were the first while men that explored Giles Coun-
ty, or were ever through it so far as is now known. They
gave names to most of the creeks, and located or took notes
for locating a considerable portion of the best lands in the
County. Gen. James Robertson named Richland. Elijah
. Rob#rison Robertsons Fork and Haywood; Bradshaw and In-
dian Geeeks were named at that time but it is not known by
whom, After they left “Latitude Hill” they went up Indian
Creek and over to the head of Buchanan Creek, and thence
to Haywood where they camped the first night. After they left
Elk River Elijah Robertson located a tract of five thousand
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acres for John Haywood and it is believed named the Creek;
from Haywood they went over to Fountain Creek, and after
going down Fountain Creek to the fork, went down Duck
River io the Bigby, and below Columbia laid off twenty-five
thousand acres for General Greene. The Commissioners esti-
matigg the State to be one hundred and ten miles wide at a
point fifty-five miles North from the Southern boundary as
ascertained by them, run a line West to the Tennessee River;
East as far as where the Cumberland Sliver crossed the North
boundary of the State, assigning al*ﬁ of that line as the
district st apart for the officers and $bidiers. The next Assem-
bly whilh mef the same year, at the request of the officers di-
rected it to be laid off; from the North bousdary running
fifty-five miles South which was run accordingly in the
Spring of 1784 by General Rutherford. ;

“ The laast line is eight or mnine siles farther Sodth than
the first one. In 1783, after the close of the war the Genéral
Assembly of North ‘Carolina, declared her boundary to begii
at the lines which separates that State from the State of Vir-
ginia; thence with that line West to the Mississippi river
thence; down the river to the thirty-fifth degree of North
Latitude; and East to the Appalachian mountains; and after
assigning new boundaries to the Cherokee Indians in East
Tennessee, appropriated all other vacant lands in ‘the State
whether claimed by Cherokees or Chickasaws to the redemp-
tion of her lic debt. and to satisfy the claims of her officers
and soldiers;“and opened offices for entering the same.

The treaty of peace having been signed in Paris in No-
vember 1782, although not fully ratified until Feb. 1, 1783;
and the whole State being open to location and enlry;,nnd
every holder of the warrants permitted to enter wherever he
chose, saving the lands in East Tennessee assigned to the
Cherokee Indians and the district reserved for the officers
and soldiers. Very soon a host of warrant-holders, locators
aond surveyors, traversed the State from the mountains to the
Mississipp River making locations for which no system had
been adopted; no road or path led from one part of the State
to another except a few Indian trails. The creeks and streams
were unknown and without name. These were named by the
first exporers and sometimes different names were given to
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the same stream. \

To add to their difficulties the Indians were greatly ex-
asperated at the entering of their lands, so that much of the
land so located was done by stealth, as it were, for fear of the
Indians. Having no concert of action two or three locations
were occasionally made on the same land, and often the calls
of one entry conflicted with those of another. The descrip-
tion of land located was ofien indefinite; so much so that
many of them could not afterwards be identified. As an
illustration: One location in the South-east part of the County
described the land as beginning on a particular “tree, on the
bank of the branchughere we camped the night and killed
the bear.” While these men lived the land could probably be
jdentified but not by strangers. After the organization of the
Federal Government, the States having within their bound-
aries unappropriated land were urged to cede them to the
General Government s a common fund for the payment of
the public febt. None of the States except Virginia, Georgia,
and North Carolina, had any unappropriated land wighin
their boundary. Virginia claimed all that immense territory
out of which has been made the States of Kentucky, Illinois,
Indiana, Michigan and Wisconsin; and with a liberality
worthy the “Mother of Statesmen” ceded all her unappropri-
ated country North of the Ohip River reserving only a small
portion for the satisfaction of her military warrants. The resi-
dents in what is now Kentucky, had already taken steps to
become am independent State. Georgia claimed all the, terri-
tory West of the Chattahoochie, to the Mississippl, between
the parallels of 31 and 35 degrees of North Latitude out of
which the States of Alabama and Mississippi have been form-
ed. She refused 1o cede her territory, or to recognize the
right of the Federal government to interfere therewith and
made two efforts to sell her territory to certain Companies
called the “Zazoo Companies”; one of which was the Tennes-
see Zazoo Company composed of Zachariah Cox and others,

Fembracing a number of the most prominent men in Tennes-
see who, in 1795, parchased all North Alabama for sixty-five
thousand dollars; and attempted to sell it. But those sales
were opposed by the Federal Government and all attempts to
sell the territory under these purchases called the Zazoo pur-

A
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chas was prohibited. Georgia finally repealed the Act and
ceded to the United States her territory in 1802 for one mil-
lion, tvo‘bundred and fifty thousand dollars. The object of
Georgia was by enlisting indvidual enterprise, to have her
territory speedily settled, a thus protect her citizens
against the Indians.

i North Carolina, by Act of General Assembly, in Decem-
ber, 1789, ceded her territory West of what is now her West
boundary fo the General Govegnment subject to the satisfac-
tion of all her land wa d the fullfillment of all her
just obligations to her own c¥izens.

The deed of cession was signed in 1790, and soon after
accepted. In the same year the Federil Government organ-
ized the territory thus ceded into a territorial government
calld the territory of the United States South of the Ohio, and
appointed Wm. Blount, Govgrnor. Soon after the cession the
Federal Government by Act of Congress, stopped the entering
of land in the territosy ceded and declared all entries made
after the cession void.

In June, 1796, Tennessee was admitted into the Union as
a State and on her admission a Bill was introduced in Con-
gress enacting a forfeiture of all rights to lands in Indian
terrilory, in case the claimants should go on the land or have
it surveyed or the lines marked. Some of the delegates from
States that had no land to cede were dissatisfied at the small
amount likely o be realized from the public land in Tennes-
see; and took the ground that entries made on lands to which
the Indian fitle had not been extinguished, were void; that
the State of North Carolina could convey no title, having no
title herself. This gave rise to a debate on the subject of the
tenure of the Indians in which Mr. Madison, Mr. Gallatin, and
others, took part. Mr. Madison said, “It was unnecessary 1o
investigate the Indian mode of occupancy, and opposition 1o
civilized society; that the Nations in Europe who had
possessed territories on American Continent held that the
Indians had only a qualified property in the soil; that if it
was conceded that they have an unqualified title, they could
not be prevented from ceding to foreign governments their
lands within the limits of the United Staies.”

Mr. Gallatin took the yme view, and both sustained the
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right of North' Carolina to dispose of her lands as she had
done.

CHAPTER VI—CONGRESSIONAL RESERVATION

By the terms of the cession of 1790, the Federal Govern-
ment was boung to fulfill in good faith sll the obligations of
the State of North Carolina to her ditizens at that time, thou-
sapds of warrants had not been located or extended, and no
office having been opened for the entry of the same the State
of Tennessee became impatient at such delay, and through her
Legislature in 1801 claimed the right to dispose of all the va-
cant and unappropriated land within her bougdaries, and ap-
pointed her Senators and epresentatives in Congress her
agents to have her claims tled. The result was a compro-
mise; and to carry out said settlement Congress passed an
Act in April 1806 requiring a line to be run beginning where
Elk River intersects the Southern boundary of the State of
Tennessee, thence North to Duck, thence down Duck, to the
line of the district reserved for the officers and soldiers of
the Continental une: thence with said boundary to the Ten-
nessee River: thence down the river to the North boundary of
the State, and upon the State of Tennessee relinquishing all
claims to the lands South and West of this line, the United
states ceded to the.state of Tennessee all the claims to the land
North and East of said line; subject to the conditions of the
original act of cession of North Carolina and for the purpose
therein prescribed; and subject to the express condition that
all entries of land, rights of location, warrants of survey, etc.,
not actually located North and East of said line and subject
to the further condition that the State of 'l'enneufe shall ap-
propriate one hundred thousand acres of land in ‘one body—
in the lands reserved for the Cherokee Indians in East Ten-
nessee for the use of two colleges, one in East Tennessee, and
the other in West Tennessee and one hundred thousand acres
in one tract within the limits thus ceded for the use of Coun-
ty#Acadamies, one to be establishied in each County, and six
bungged and forty acres of land in every six miles where ex-
isting claims will permit for the use of schools for the instruc-
tion of children. To ascertain the Southern boundary of the
State, with reference to running the line contemplated by the
Aet of Congress a party of surveyors went out in 1808, I have

B , )
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been uasble to find any report or record of their proceedings,
although I have had search made in the archives of this State,
and of the State of North Carolina, and also the General land
office al Washington. They doubtless made rpeort, as the
Legislature declined to adopt the line run by them. James
Wright was one of the surveyors The line was called Bright's
line; it passed through the land I first lived on. My deeds
call for it. .From my youth I had heard the tradition of the
country in relation to it; I heard Bright on several oc-
casions talk about it, buf I have ecollection that he stated
where they took their observatioffs. Two places have bgen as-
signed 1o the traditions of the country—one at Latitude Hill
in Giles County and the other farther East it Lincoln County.
From my early impressions I believe it was Latitude Hill and
and so stated several years ago over my signature, which was
published. From a recent invessigation I am now of opinion
that the observations were taken in Lincoln County, but

“whatever discrepancy there may be as to the place at which

the ogservations were taken they all substantially agree that
the surveyors, not having full confidence, either in their in-
struments or in the accuracy of their observations, were in-
fluenced to some extent by the observations taken at Latitude
Hill by the Commissioners in 1873 and probably by measure-
ment, and stopped a little short of their own calculitions,'and
from the point thus ascertained, run West, striking Elk River
at the head of the island above the Freeman mill about a mile
below Elkton, and from the West bank the river run North
at a variation of six and a half degrees, West for the true
meridian, passing West of Elkton, and crossing the turnpike
road about a mile North of Elkton and striking Duck River
about eight miles above Columbia. This line was called the:

. Old Congressional Reservation line or Bright’s Line.

In September, 1806, the Legislature, being dissatisfied
with the line as run, appointed Gen. John Strother a Commis-
sioner on the part of the State to ascertain the point at which
the Southern boundary of the State crossed Elk River etc.

They provided that he should be attended by the survey-
or of the Second District (William P. Anderson,) and request-
€d the Governor to communicate with the proper authorities

“at Washington and request the co-operation of the United

i
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States Government.

In October, 1807, General Strother and Wm. P. Anderson,
on the part of the State of Tennessee, and Col. Meigs, as is
believed, on the ipart of the United States government, with
This. Freeman as mathematician commenced at a point
twenty miles East of Elk River in Lincoln County. On the
time adopted by the surveyors the years before and probably
at the same place, and there the observations were taken by
Freeman on the twelfth, fourteenth, and fifteenth of October
1807. for the determination of the South boundary of the
State or the 35 degree of North Latitude which, they ascertain-
ed to be two-miles 24258, poles South of the place of observa-
tion, being about two and three-fourths miles further South
than the temporary line adopted by the surveyors the year
before. From the point thus ascertained, they run West strik-
ing Elk River at the mouth of Jenkins Creek and from the
right or West bank of the River run North at variation of six
and a half demrees West from the true meridian; passing two

and one-fourth miles West of Prospeet, passing the East mar, -

gin of Pulaski and striking Duck River near the Eastern mar-
gin of Columbia a short distance above the bridge, and thence
down the river. Asnd here 1 beg leave 1o relate an incident
that occufred while Strother’s line was being run, told to me
b# James Bright of Fayetteville. He was then a young man
#nd engaged as a surveyor by Wm. P. Anderson, and Judge
McNairy of Nashville who was largely interested in locating
snd entering land. By agreement with Anderson Bright was
to meet him on the lines before they reached Duck River.
Bright wnt to Columbia on his way to meet him. There was
then only two or three houses where Columbia is situated. A
man named Estes lived there; he traveled from thence South
by his compass through the woods and came to no house on
his way, until he came neas to where Campbell Station is.
There he found a family in a log cabin recently put up at
# which he stopped—but the occupants had nothing for him
@@ his horse to eat. He pursued his course until he crossed
Richland Creek near where the railroad crosses it without
meeting any person or seeing a house. On the south side of
the creek in a dense cane brake on the land now owned by
David T. Reynolds he found a deer hung up and freshly skin-

1 ‘
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ned and some portions of it taken away. He got down and cut
off a piece apd broiled it on a fire which he struck up, but

could not eat it without salt or bread. It made him sick. Believ
ing that those who killed the deer could not be far off he com-
menced hollering, and was answered by the surveying party
who were not far from him. On getting to their camp he
found them lying down and resting, as he thought, but as
they remained longer idle than he supposed they would, he,
asked if ey were not going on yith the line. They told him
it was Sunday and they did n*r'k on Sunday; he assured
them it was not Sunday, but ‘e they could be satisfied
they examined the memorandum of their travels, and found
they had lost a day. Bright received from Anderson his loca-
tion and notes of vacant land he had found on the trip and
Bright went back to Nashville and had the lands before the
party got back. Among the lands thus saved by Anderson was
the Patterson tract adjoining Pulaski. The owners and hold-
ers of warrants and land claims were dissatisfied with the
settlement and compromise of April, 1806 Between the State
of Tennessee and the United States Government, requiring all
warrants not located to be located North and East of the res-
ervation line. They insisted that in 1783 the State of North
Carolina after Assigning new boundaries to the Cerokee In-
dians in East Tennessee appropriated all other vacant land in
the State, whether claimed by Cherokees or Chickasaw In-
dians 1o the redemption of her public debt, and to satisfy the
claims of her officers and soldiers; that a large portion of the
warrants were issued in exchange for special certificates of
indebtedness, and that such warrants were received under the
assurance that the holders had the right to locate them on

any wacant land in the Stafe. That at that time North Carolina

‘was an independent sovereign State with all her rights and

sovereignty that Great Britain possessed; that by the Act of

cession the U. S. Govérnment took the territory subject to the

satisfaction of the warrants and was bound to fulfill in good

faith all the just obligations of the State of North Carolina to

her own citizens in relatian o said territory. That by restrict-

ing warrant holders to but little over one-half the State and

withholding a porition of that for schools ~vas impairing the

obligation of the original contract between the State of North

{
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Carolina and her own citizens and was inequitable and unjust
to the warrant holders. Such was the dissatisfaction that the
legislature of Tennessee appointed a Commission of vhlchA
General Strother was chief 10 ascertain whether there was
sufficient vacant lands of suitable quality North and East of
the reservation line to satisfy thg warrants not located.
Soon after the cession in February, 1796, Congress stopped
the entering of lands and prohibited those who had obtained
grants for lands to which the Indian title had not been ex-
tingished from going on their lands or having them surveyed,
or their lines marked. Many members of Congress from
Stafes that had no lands to cede, took the gfound thlgall the
entries made and grants"dsued on lands to which the Indian
titte had not been extinguished were void, embracing nine-
teen-lwentieths of the whole State. This view of the question
was agitated for twenty-five years, and caused great uneasi-
ness to those whose interests were affected by it. Governor
McMinn in his message to the Legislature in September 1817,
refers to it, an says in substance, that the U. S. Government

had granted six hundred and forty acres of land for thes '

County-seat of Giles County, situated at Pulaski; and in many
other respects acted as though they held those lands by regu-
lar title. That the United States Government claimed to hold
under the cession from North Carolina, and if it acquired
title from North Carolina it followed that the officers and
soidiers had an indisputable right to the lands granted to
them before the cession. Mr. Grundy in a speech in the United
States Senate in 1812, urged the early extinguishment of the
Indian title to the lands West of Maury and Giles, embracing
the Western and South-western part of Giles, and to the
Mississippi river. It was charged that the delay was unneces-
sary; that by postponing the establishment of lines until the
original locators and surveyors were dead or removed, the
claimants would be unable to identily their lands.

+ In this way many persons lost their lands, #nd others
wﬁ compelled to litigate their titles. For twenty years after
G was first settled there was almost a continuous litigation
of land claims; and but for the eminently wise and conservat
tive policy of our Courts, in adjusting and quieting titles, the
loss would ha‘,vc been much greater. But the equitable and lib-

-
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eral ldm'lnblrntjon of our land laws could not reach the loss
to the poor soldiers to whom the warrants were issued; many
of them had no homes, their pay and their subsistance for
the greater portion of their six years hard service were in
land warrants; a considerable portion of which were entered,
and grants jssued to the owners before 1790, but they could
‘not occupy them. The delay and indifference manifested by
Congress, disheartened them and depreciated Western lands,
and land #arrants. The necessitigs of the owners and holders
forced them to sell for whatev ey could get; and in this
way speculators and capitalist e largely possessed. As
an evidence of it one among the first deeds registerd in our
County, was by parties in Philadelphia for 226,260 acres,
made up of various tracts in different parts of the State, many
of which were in Gilees County.

CHAPTER VII—DEPOSITION OF GEN. JAMES ROBERTSON

The party of citizems that went out to Latitude Mill in
1783, on their return camped the firsi night on Haywood
Creek, where Elisha Robertson located a tract of five thou-
sand acres of land for John Haywood, describing the land as
beginning on a white oak one mile sbove a large spring on the
bank of a small creek that runs into Richland, which the
Commissioners and their guard came down on ‘their return
from Elk River, and on which they eamped the first night.

This was the land on which Albert Buford now lives.
Either because of the indefinite description of the land, or
fear of litigstion, the Uepositions of T. Cox and General
James Robertson were taken on the 10th of February 1809,
under the orders of the County Court of Maury County, to
identify the land, perpetuale testimony, etc. General Robert-
son identified the land very satisfactorily. Richard Hightow-
er, Gideon and Wm. Pilow and Wm. P. Anderson were pres-
ent, and asked a number of questions, among others who were
along,—the object of the expedition, and the route traveled.
In answer to which he gave the names of such as he had re-
memberéd, and described their travel; as these were the first
white men who explored the County, and as many of their de-
scendents are still lpvlng in the County, I will give the names
of those who were l@l and substance of the deposition
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He states that sixty or eighty persons were along, their
names as far as be remembers were: Anthony Bledsoe, Kasper
Mausker, Daniel Smith, Isasc_Bledsoe, Philemon Thomas, Eli-
jah and James Robertson, Frederick Stamps, Thoras Cole,
John Lackey, Andrew Casselman, Benjamin Casselman, Wm,
Pavis, Davidson, William Doggans, Andrew Boyd, two by the
name of Shelby, thred by the name of McMurray, O. Me-
Cutcheon, Samuel McCutcheon, James McCutcheon, J. Hollis,
Turner and Sampson Williams, James Clendener, D. Frazier,
Robert Banks, E. McLain, Jamees Sanders, William Callens-
worth, D. Hays, Jas. Todd, Thomas Spencer, John Gibson, Ed-
ward Cox, Wm. Bradshaw and N. McClure.

He state$in substance that they started from Nashville in
February, 1783, that leaving the Commissioners, Isaac Bled-
soe and A. Tatum, and the balance of the guard at the Har-
peth Glades, on the Big South road, they set ouf South to as-
certain the Southern boundary of the State, and to hunt a
body of good land, to run out General Greene's 25,000 acres
sor swhere South of the line the Commissioners were run-
ning. They camped the first night between Harpeth and Flat
Creek, about two miles from Duck River, and crossed Duck
Riyer at what was called thefShallow Ford and encamped the
second wight on what they called Floating Camp Creek, now
called Cedar Creek; third night on Robertson Fork, fourth
night on a branch of Biadshaw Creek, the next night on Brad-
shaw, stopping before twelve o'clock to take their latitude,
and stayed there two or three nights. They were then one &r
ofie. and*s half miles from mouth of the creek. Rain fell that
night so as %o raise the Elk River past fording. The next
morning they went to Elk, going about two . miles, and
struck the river where McCutchedn’s trace crossed it. Gen.
Daniel Smith took the observations, and concluded they were
in about three miles of the South boundary of the Slale.'nir
purpose was to make a eanoe and send some of the party over
to ascertain the Southern boundary; but there being a good
deal of fresh Indian signs and Indian horses, they concluded
not to cross the river, but to turn back after marking a num-
ber of trees, which place is now known by the marked trees,
where McCutcheon’s trace CI’W Elk River. (The on
a higb bjuff on the North-side of the river, and is now

.
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Latitude Hill.) States that they aimed to go South from the
Harpeth Glades but at times discovered that they were off the
course. They took observations several times; some of the
pames of the company were generally cut upon the trees at
each encampment. The weather was very cold and they cut
ot less than a dozen trees at each encampment for fire wood.
Elijah Robertson named Robertson Fork, and probably Hay-
wood. Gen. Robertson himself pnamed Richland Creek. Brad-

! shaw and Indian were named but does not state who

named them. After left the marked trees at Eik river they
went up Indian er to and up Buchanan Creek out to
and down Haywood, where they camped the first night; over
to and down Fountain Creek to near the fork where they
camped the second night. From there they went a North-wes-
tern course to the mouth of Little Bigby, and run out General
Greene's twenty-five thousand acres on the South side of
Duck River, including the mouth of Little Bigby.

SETTLERS ON INDIAN LANDS DRIVEN OFF

In 1809, 1810 and 1811, U. S. Soldiers from Fort Hampton
situated on Elk River four miles above its mouth, were sent
out in the month of June to driye all the setlers off the Indian
land as it was called, although some of the settlers had grants
for their land. They acted very rascally; cut down the corn
with large butcher knives, threw down and burned fences
and houses and forced the settlers back over the line. In some
Jocalities the settlers soon returned, and the villianous work
of removial and destruction of improvemenis was repeated.
This was a terrible calamity on the settlers who had strug-

*gled against so many difficulties to get places on which to

live. In the prospect of rising corn for their bread, the most
of those driven off went back over the line, and built huts
and camps on the land of any one who would permit them to
do so. They had to do this or anything to shelter their fami-
lies until théy could do better. Among those driven off were
the following: William Welch, who lived six or seven miles
West of Campbellsvill, was driven off and his improvements
and crop were destroyed. Lawson Hobson's improvements
and crop were lotally destroy.d, and his hands driven off.
Robert Reed had inadvertently built his cabin on the line;
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the soldiers would pot allcw it to remain, and threatened to
burn it, but gave him permission to remove it. Charlees W,
Dever who lived on the place now owned by Mrs. Lindsay
was driven off and his extensive improvements and crop was
destroyed. Levy Reed, Esq., says he saw six houses burning
at one time on the banks of
Soldiers, because they were on the Indian side of the line.
Thomas Reed, Sr., who livd about a quarter of a mile East of
where 2. P. C. Reed now lives, was on Indian territory and
hiy crop and improvements were destroyed, cut down and
burned Vi

In the neighborhood of Prospect a good mny persons
were over the line, and they were treated as those on Weak-
ley Creek, many of them went back over the line and built
cabins and camps on the Ward tract of land. James Ford kept
a little ferry on Elk at the mouth of Fords Creek, and the
Undted Ste' & Government had coatracted with him to fe
over the mail-rider who carried the mail from Columbia to
Fort Hamplon once every two weeks, was permitted to re-
main until his contract went out, and the very day it expired
the soldiers came and threw down his fence and took the roof

off his house. Ford moved back a few miles and rented land

‘Tor three years before he returned. A good many families on

©

Shoal Creek and West of Prospect were driven off at the same
time; among them were Reuben Riggs and Henry E. Morgan,
who lived on the Carey Gilbert place; William Noblett, James
McKinney, Kallett Nail and others lived over the line, were
visited by the soldiers, and the crops and improvements of
most of them were destroyed. On the South side of the river
Wiliam Kyle had a large and valuable farm, and he was driv-
en off three times. On the Alabama side the Reduses and
Simmses and those who settled Simms’ settlement, were driv-
en off and they went back over the line and built camps and
shanties which they covered with bark which they stripped
rom the trees like tan bark. A considerable number of these
camps were together, and the place was called Barksville for

a long time. I saw the camps with the bark covers on them
when a boy.

Weukley Creek by United States,

-
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INDIAN ALARMS

The early settlers lived for several years and until after
the close of the war of 1812 in constant fear of the Indians.
This was especially so in the Western and Southern portion
of the County, It will be borne in mind that the Chickasaw
Indians’ boundary line until September, 1816, ran from Lewis’
Grove at the South-west corner of Maury County to Ditto’s
lariding on the Tennessee River, and approached to within
five miles of Pulaski, and ¢ d Elk River two or three
mils above Prospect, luvingﬁ’csl and South-western por-
tion of the County in Indian ritory.

All the country West, South-west and South of that line,
for hundreds of miles belonged to the 'ndians. Three miles
above Ditto’s landing on_a line to the head of Elk, and
thence to the head of Duck River, and from thence to the
mouth of the Hiawassee ou the Tennessee River, all South and
East for hundreds of miles was claimed by the Cherokee In-
dians, until February, 1819, thus giving the Indians both
banks of the Tennessee River, from the mouth of the Hiawas-
see 10 the mouth of Duck River, except eight miles on the
North side at Ditto's landing secured to the whites by the
treaties of 1805 and 1806. In all the territory thus claimed by
them they roamed and hunted at pleasure, and passed
through the country to and from their excursioss to Northern
tribes; and even by the treaty of 1805, they were allowed to
hunt North and East of said line for some time. The proxi-
mity of the early settlers to the Indians, and their frequent
appearance in numbers sufficient to be formidable, in their
hunting and traveling excursions, together with a knowledge
of the cruelties perpetrated by them, on the early settlers on
the Cumberland and other places; their character for treach-
ery, ambuscade and stealthy approach, the sparse population
and dense cane brakes, which covered the whole country, all
contributed 10 keep up a state of uneasiness and dread of the
Indians. And besides, during the war of 1812/ was general-
ly believed that there were British and Spanish emigrants
among the Indians encouraging them to acts of hostility. Fre-
quently, reports from trivial circumstances, were circulated,
that the Indians were hostile in feeling wad meditated an at-
tack; and some times that they were approaching. On such oc-
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casions the seftlers in the Southern and Western part of the
County would go back into the settlements, and remain a few

days. The terror and confusion of whole families in flight '

from a supposed hostile advance of Indians, is absolutely in-
describable. - !

I witnessed several of these flights when a boy. My fa-

«ther lived about ten miles from the nearest point to the In-
dian line. He dever left home, but two or three times made
preparations to go, hid his valuables, and had his horses and
wagoti ready. One time the settlers South of my father went
back té Gordon's twelve miles North-east of where we lived.
At another time they went back to the Reverend Alx McDon-
ald’s five miles North-west.’

On such occasions those who would remain would as-

. semblg three or four families at the strongest and most se-
cure house in the neighborhood, and prepare for defense. At
night they would carry the axes into the house, stretch chains
across the door 1o keep the door shutters from being broken
in suddenly, loud their guns, have their butcher knives close
at hand, select their cracks in the house to be used as port-
holes, put down the firée—and one man would sit up as sen-
tinel while the Others slept.

At one time in the Fall of 1813, soon after the terribie
massacre at Fort Mimms, the settlers were greatly alarmed,
especially in the Southern portion of the County. It was re-
ported the Indians were certainly advancing; had crossed the
State Line, and had killed one persop. Such was the alarm
that all the families South of my father’s left home in great
haste, not waiting to get up members of their families who
were in the neighborhood, some in wagons, some on horse-
back, taking with them such of their valuables as they could
conveniently carry. For a whole day they passed my father’s
going back into the settlements. My father, although he had
made preparations to leave was quite unwilling to go, as long
# any others would remain. Late in the evening three or four
fangifies residing immediately South of my father’s came, and
camped for the night. That night my father and three other
neighbors, and those who had camped for the night, agreed
to remain until more definite news could be obtained. In the
worning they with several others started out to reconnoiter

-
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the Southern border of the County, and finding no Indians
crossed the Tennessee River, and returned in a few days with
the news that the Indians had no hostile intentions. The alarm
was first given by a young man in the Southern part of the
County, who'had killed snotBer and immediately - (led: and
tg.prevent being pursued told every person he saw that the
Indians were coming, had crossed the State Line, and had
killed one person (the one he had killed himself,) and in this
way the mdrderer escaped. The ngas reached Pulaski in the
evening, and caused great alam‘na the women and those
few unused to Indian warfare; ‘men resolutely preparing
to make a‘desperate defense. Immediately preparations were
made for the battle. After dark the women and children and
negroes were removed a fpile East of town, and hid in a dense
cane brake, on what is know called McKimmon’s branch, two
or three hundred yards East of Colonel Solon E. Rose’s resi-

dence, and left there with strict orders to be perfectly quiet,

and to keep the children {rom making a noise. The men then
returned {0 meet the Indians when they advanced, resolved
to exterminate or be exterminated.

All the dogs in town followed to the women and chil-
dren’'s camp,' and not having the fear of the Indians before
their eyes, or earing for military orders; and being instigated
by their canine instincts, they kept up an incessapt barking
and fighting all night, and could have been heard for miles
around to “the great terror of the good people then and there
assembled.”

! THE EARLY SETTLERS
Character, Habits, Their Mode of Life, Manners add Customs

The early settlers traveled the roads opened by previous
emigrants fo the point nearest the place they wished to go 1o,
and then cut the cane at the place they stopped at. The cane
on the rich lands was from twelve to twenty feet high, and on
the ridges and thin land from four to seven feet high. The em-
igrant stopped frequently in the midst of a cane-brake, by a
spring, cleared away the cane from a few rods of ground,
erected a temporary shelter for his family, and then put up

log cabin, split out puncheons for the floor, the door-shut-
1eri were made out of long, wide boards, pegged on baltons,
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and hung with wooden hingees. The chimneys were made ol
sticks and clay, generally very wide. The {able was made out

e

of ul*s or boards, planed or drawn with a drawing knife,

The cupboard in one corner to the right or left of the
fire place, rmade of the samie material, and very rough. The
bedsteads were made in the simplest and rodest style. The
cradles for the children were made out of like material. Some-
limes a sugar trough served the purpose, or the bark from a
Hickory or Lynn tree, taken off in the Spring with a head
and oot piece. Many of our brave ancestors were soothed to
sleep in such a cradle in their infant days. There were no
nails or plank to be had in the country; a chopping axe, (and
sometimes a broad #xe,) d frow, iron wedge, drawing knife
and hand saw, an auger and one or two chisels, oceuionally'
a jackplane, were the mechanical tools of the early settlers,
and with these he made every thing. Occasionally a settler
would bring a cross-cut saw, and it was loaned for six or
eight miles around. A few years later the whip-saw was
brought & and plank sawed by for particular uses. Such
was the indispénsible out-fit'of“an early settler, togethef with
his ln:sty rifle and keen butcher-knife, with which they were
expert. -

For .lhe women il was equally indispensable to have a cot-
ton spinning wheel and cards, and occasiogally a flax wheel;
and also a loom on which to weave cloth. looms and ev:
erything were made in the rudest and most primitive style
imaginable, and for want of house-room the looms were often
set up at the end of the house outside, and covered by a shel-
ter of boards. Deer, bear, panthers, wolves, wildcats, etc
were abundant, scarcely a day passing without seeing o;
hgunng these animals. The men were all hunters, from neces-
sity. In this way they provided meat for their families until
they could raise hogs. The women made all the clothing,
carded, spun, and knit, every night until bed time, and when
ll?e men and boys were not otherwise engaged, of nights, they
picked the seed out of the cotton for_mother; the women pre-
ferring to spin the cotton picked b’ hand. They spun and
wove clothing for their husbands and sons, dyed the threa
or wo‘.)l with home-grown indigo, or with the bark and r
of various trees. The also spun and wove their own clothing.
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It was very rare lo see either man or woman with ap-
parel that was made of imported goods. In addition to scarci-
ty of goods and difficulty of procuring them, Giles County
was settled soon after the restrictions on trade by the British
Government know as “the orders in Council,” followed by
the “Milam Decrees,” and then by the émbarge of Congress
in December 1807, and finally by such restrictions as almost
prohibited all trade. And such was the opposition to Great
Paftain, that the wearing of imported goods or using any-
thing imported, was ! a disgrace and unpatriotic. An
incident illustrative of 'times was told of the grandmother
of Mrs. Kercheval. A" gentleman from one of the Eastern
States at breakfast, playfully remarked that the coffee, (which
was made of rye or okra, as was common in that day.,)
smelled very strong of the embargo. The lady replied with
spirit that it smelled equally as strong of liberty. Such were
the patriotic feelings that pervaded all classes, that they
cheerfully submitted to hardships and privations 1o suslain
the action of ouf Government, and maintain its precious hon-
or. Very little imported coffee, lea, Or sugar was used. Cof-
{e¢ was made of okra, rye, parched corn,‘etc.

The Bobea tea plant, a species of black tea, and cultivated
and used by those fond of tea: it grew very well, and doubt-
less would yet. Sassafras tea was a favorite tea, and is still
used very largely by people in the country. Large quantities
of sugar was annually made from the sugar tree; every family
made emough for family use, and same made it for sale.
Molasses from the sugar ree, of a very fine quality, was made
for family use. Every family had a sugar camp, where they
bofled the water that ran from the trees; each family having
from fifty to one hundred trees tapped and running at a time.

They lived almost entirely on corn bread. The Johnny
cake, baked on a board abdut sixteen inches long, was a fav-
orite mode of preparing it, and it tasted excellent.

The costume of the men and boys was generally the hunt-
ing shirt. It was comfortable and convenient for laboring men
and easily made. It was worn by our soldiers during the
Revolutionary War and was the militia uniform, and the
early settlers cherished it for its sssociations. In the war of
1812 it was the uniform or most usual dress of the militia and
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voluateers from Tennessee. It is said that no tr

a beholder with more awe, than a company of m i:!::;:::
men, uniformed in the old-fashioned black hunting shirt
After the battle of New Orleans, it was inexpuénble lo‘Euro:
peans how the flower of the British army was so easily de-
lr.atcd by undisciplined troops, A British soldier who was in’
the battle, on his return {o England, was asked what kind of
troops they encountered. He said they were large, strong-
looking men, perfectly fearless, who wore black gowns, and
had long black guns; and when they went 1o shoot they peep-
ed along the top of their guns.

The early settlers tanned theit own leather in tro
made for the pusgose, and dressed the skins of deer kurlc:“:;
them, and made buck-skin, out of which hunting shirts, pants
and vests were made for men and boys. They made their own
‘hof" their bridles and harness; often, at night, when the
day’s work was over, by the light of a candle or grease lamp
the boys would pick cotton, or reel thread for their molben‘
and sisters. The mother and girls would card, spin or knit
until bed-time. This was all done in the same cabi®. One
great advantage to the children was, they heard all the con-

‘ versations of their parents, and between them and grown-up
~persons whe might be there as visitors, or so-journing for the
night. They heard the tone of voice and saw the expression
o;c countenance of their parents, when they condemned what
t dy‘lhoughl wrosg, or praised virtuous and meritorious acts;
;r; n'lh'h way the parents instilled into their children their
bdu views of right and wrong by their daily life and actions
'b.ore them: and left their impress upon them to a degree
"": c:innot'now be done, when the children spend most of
| r time in rooms to themselves. If children had school
essons to learn at night, they studied them in the room

where their parents were, and t |
and the children greatly n;:med_he lesson was talked aboot

Again, children thus raised in the
‘ com -
pell’lons. hearing them talk about all subkd:. t‘;t’;l:'ld‘::::e‘:f
enlarged and more early matured; men were more communi-

quite different from what they generally are at present

cative {o boys, and more companionable; but the boys w
They treated bovs like they thought they knew something. In \

£ Ar h
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this one respect the children of the first settlers were better
off than the children of the present day, and makes one wish
for the old times again.

Whilst the want of house room occasioned some incon-
venience, it was not without advantages. Very little surplus
fuel and candles were wasted by young mea sitting up with
the girls until mid-night. Young men then were men, and they
meant business when they went to see the girls, and it did not

. tdke them very long to tell it and receive an answer. The
fire-place was ge six or seven feet wide; the old folks

would sit on one and the young folks on the other; and
if there was a couple that wanted to court, they sat next to
the corner and the other young folks, between them and the
old folks. Some of the best and most effective courting that
ever was done in the Counly, was carried on with the old
folks on one side of the fire-place, and the parties courting
on the other. -

When a new-comer arrived all the neighbors assem-
bled to help build his house; and if it was late in the
Spring and he was likely not to get enough ground cleared, on
which to raise his bread-corn, the neighbors all put in a day
or two chopping or making rails for him. When any of these
settlers had a house t¢ raise, or logs to roll, the neighbors
went to help him, and very often their wives would go too,
and have a quilting or sewing for the wife of the man whose
logs were rolled. In the evening after the labors of the day
were over, the men would amuse themselves with athletic ex-
ercises, wrestling, jumping, etc., and sometimes after supper
they would have a country dance, or perhaps the young peo-
ple would play “Old Sister Phoebie,” or “William Co-Trim-
ble-Toe,” and the old folks would sit around and tell how it
was when they were young.

So that these times of generous{and substantial help to
neighbors, were made scenes of social enjoyment, and pleas-
ure to those who performed the labor. Although the early
settlers as a class were deficient in learning, such as is
taught in schools they were remarkable for their practical
common sense, and their almost unerring discrimination of
character. They were ctica! judges of human nature, and
were rarely mistaken. a new-comer was honest, truthful,

'




§ /
63 "q}!':AHLY HISTORY OF Gll‘ﬂg COUNTY

and industripus, and was not a coward, he had friends, and
although he might have a fight at every muster, as long as he
acted honorably and brave, he had friends; but if he showed
the least proclivity to dishonesty or falsehood, or was lazy, he
lost all claims to the sympathy of his neighbors; and if he
was cowardly, that, of itseM was looked on as little less than
a crime. Men at that day fouglt when they were insulted;
public opinion forced them to do t, without regard to wheth-
er they whipped or got whipped. But they fought with na-
ture’s weapons. It was a fist fight; and when Gver they made
frienids, took a drink and the past was forgotten.

4 man who would then draw a pistol pr dirk on his an-
tagonist, would be odrng&ud. called a dirty coward, and lose
all prestige of chivalry.

HOSPITALITY

The hospitality of the first settlers was proverbial; trav.
elers had no difficulty in staying at any house where night
overtook them, if they were willing to put up with the fare,

such as the fo uily enjoyed; their horses were cared for and -

they provided for, as comfortably as the circumstances of thé
family would enable them to do, without fee or reward, ex
cept those few on thoroughfares, who kept houses of enter-
tainment as a means of living. No traveler was charged for a
night’s lodging. The entertainment, unostentatious and hum-
glé as it may have been, was sa cordial, and every attention
rendered so cheerfully, that if it was poor the traveler went
away their friend, and if he was in search of land to buy, he
felt as if he would ke to be in that neighborhood.

DOMESTIC HABITS AND ECONOMY

It was a maxim of the first settlers to buy nothing they
could produce or make themselves. No farmer sent to Nasj.
ville for seed potatoes or for wheat or oats to sow, these
were produced in the County; and one neighbor got from an-

her very often by an exchange of commodities. Mechanics
n those days seldom laid in stock, but worked the material
eir customers. The farmer furnished the iron and steel

out of which his axes, plows and other tools were made, and
the smth charged a certain price for his work. When boots,
and shoes were made by n‘tmlur shoemaker, the leather

4
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and even the shoe thread was furnished by the customers,
and the shoemaker charged for the making. Men and boys
when they wanted fine hats, caught the raccoons, or got the
requisite number of skins, and took them to the hatter and
he charged a certain price for making. In this way a hat cost
about twenty per cent less than to buy it, and the saving to
the customer with the blacksmith and shoemaker, was in the
same jon. As late as 1840 1 was in Mr. Thomas Martin’s
store, when he was showing ajor James Buford some goods
for negro clothing. Major &g told him he had his negro
clothing made at home. Mr! rtin replied that the labor of
the pegro woman would be worth more in the gotton field
than it could be making cloth, and that it wax cheaper 1o
purchase the cloth. Major Buford replied that At might be so
that year, but it would bé breaking one of hisAong established
rules “to buy nothing he could make him {.” Major Buford
was then and continued to be one of the gest and most_suc-
cessful farmers in the County. The first rs raised their
own rice and cleaned by beating in a mortar. They cultivated
the Indigo plant and made their own Indigo, which was pre-
ferred by the old women who understood dyeing, to the In-
digo of commerce. They raised their own flax, prepared it
and ‘ud it spun for shoe thread or wové it into linen for the
Summer wear for men and boys. They raised their own hemp
and made their own rope.

The women were as economical and industrious as the
men, and even mare so. They made jeans, linseys, and cotton
goods, knit socks, saved the feathers from their geese and
ducks, made tree sugar, butter, cheese, tallow candles, soap
and many other things, which they bartered in stores, for
such goods and articles as they wanted; and many of them
paid their entire purchases in this way. And it was not con-
fined to them whose circumstances made it necessary for
them to do so, bift the wives of the most influential and
wealthy prided themselves in paying all their own expenses.
Like all noble women of their day they sought by domestic
economy to keep down expenses, and better their estates.
The most of families had their merchants with whom they
traded, and had an understanding with them in relation to
such articles as they expected to barter, and the women
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thought no more of sending ‘their bater {0 their mechant,
when it was ready or going with it themselves, than their hus,
bands did in sending their bacon, wheat, hemp, and other
farm products to the same merchant. often to be bartered for
something eise. The women made their own dresses and the
clothing for their husbands and sons There were but few
1ailors and a considerable portion of their custom was in cut-
ting out Sunday coats for men and boys, which were made
at home. We had then no milliners or banks, and no use for
either, as it took only six yards of calico to make # woman a
dress, and there was little money in the country. But now
they have both becoliie indispensable, and the trouble is as
to which shall have precedence. As to the habits of the young
men | will give two incidents illustrative of the times.

I have heard Mr. Tom Martin often tell that when he was
sixteen or seventeen yesrs old, he went to live in a slore as a
clerk at seventy-five dollars per year and his board. He found
his own cisthing, which was made for him by his mother. At
the end of the first year he had his seventy-five dollars, Tess
three dollars and fifty cents, having spent only three dollars
and a half*during the year. He was the most successful mer-
chant ! ever knew, and he made a large fortune at the busi-

- ness. | heard Dr. P. W. Phelps, late of Elkton say, that during

the first course of lectures he attendéd at Transylvania U_nl-
versity,, he spent only two dollars more than his actual
sary board, tuition and Ir"clingexpﬂuﬂ. Is it surprising

that such men succeeded?
]

MILLS-—COTTON GINS AND OPERATIONS

The settlers wi$ came the latter part of 1807 and 1808,
and the early part of 1809, had great difficulty in procuring
meal for bread, and even corn out of which to make the same.
For the first two years a considerable portion of the meal
used was packed on horses from Willlamson County. Some

rbeat their corn in mortars, others ground it on hand-mills.

The first mill was built on Robertson’s Fork by Nat Moody,
about s half mile South of Lynnville Station. Robert Buchan-

an built a mill on Buchanan’s Creek in-1809 which ground in °

the latter part of the year. About the same lime Cunningham
built a mill on Richland Creek near where S. B. March lives,
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| and Hardy Hightower one on Bradshaw. John White built a

mill on Robertson’s Fork near Buford's Station at an early
day. Baylor built a mill on Big Creek in 1809 or 1810, it was
among the first mills in the County. Williams built a mill at

a very early day on the South side of Elk River, on the Blow-

ing Spring branch, near where Morrell’'s mill is now situated.
Some of the settlers in the North-west part of the County, got
theiz meal the first year or two at Pillow's miil on Little Big-
by in Maury County. Afte ¢ Town of Pulaski was laid off,
Nat Moody moved to P’x and built a mill on Richland
Creek, about 1811 or 18f%; and about the same time a mill
wias built on the creck below Mount Moriash Church, opposite
where James Hays lives called Mayficld's or Clack’s Mill. Be-
sides these there were horse-mills in different neighborhoods
which were indispensable for grinding in summer, as most
of the mills that were fist built were on streams that failed
in summer. :

Many of the frst emigrants brought with them cotton
seed, and at first planted small patches, like garden patches,
then half an acre and some times more, gradually increasing
as they opened land. It was raised for several years in this
way for home consumption. Little was raised for market un-
til after the war of 1812. The first sold on the market was in
small parcels, generally sold in the seed. ‘George Malone on
Lynn Creek and Thomas Meredith, who lived four miles South
of Pulaski, on what is now the Rodes farm, were the first
who raifed in any considerable quantity for market.

The first settlers separated the lint from the seed with
their fingers; some used two rollers, one above the other
turned by a crank. In 1810 or 1811 Lester Morris who lived
niear Rehoboth Church, made a small gin turned by hand, a
year or two later he made a large one that was operated by
one horse, with which he ginned for his neighbors several
years. John Laird started the first gin that was run by waler
in 1811 or 1812 on Lynn creek; about the same time or soon
after, John Henderson started one on a branch about a mile
South of Cornérsville. Col. Hulburt started one on Dry Creck
at an early day, near where Colonel Wheeler now lives. This
was about 1813. Cotton gins were used in Madison County be-
fore they were in Giles. | remember when a small boy my
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father took 8 few hundred pounds of seed cofion to a gin in
Madison County on Flint River; the next year he took it to

Calloway’s gin. For packing cotton Calloway had a large *

hole cut in the floor, and dropped the empty bag through it,
fasténed the mouth of the bag to the floor, and pressed the
cotton with the feet and with rauls. In this way he packed
in large long bags about 250 pounds.

John Laird had a square box made, and put the bag or
cloth in the box, tramped the cotton in with the feet or pum-
meled it with mauls or pestles. It was severdl years before
cotton wax packed by lever power. Great improvement has
been made in the cultivagion of cotton. It was a disputed ques-
tion with the early settlers whether there was any advantage
derived from thinning it in the stand. The first cotton 1 ever
saw raised was not thinned and the first [ ever saw thinned
was left, » stalk to the foot, scattered over the top of the
drill two inchés wide. William Brown, Esq., was the first in

the Southern sart of the County who tried chopping through

it with the hoe, and he was persuaded to make the experi
ment by old Mr. Strong, who had cultivated cotton or had
seen it cultivated in the South.

TOBACCO

The first settlers commenced raising t o as they did
eotton, for their own consumption. Those who e from the

_State of Virginia were acquainted with the cultivation of it,

and preferred it as a crop to cotton. The land was new and
rich and better adapted to tobacco, than cotton. From 1816 to
1821 a large quantity of tobacco was shipped annually from
Giles. Under an Act of the Legislature, the County Court ap-'
pointed Inspéctors for Pulaski and Lower Elkton at the
mouth of Richland Creek, the two points from which to-

y bacco was mostly shipped. About 1820 or 1821 the price de-

clined until it barely paid the expenses of shipping, and then
the cultivation of it was abandoned.
& HEMP

From 1811 to the close of the war, there was a good deal

of hemp raised in the County. It brought a good price during
the war. Those who raised it sent it to Nashville, and general-

of .i//‘
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CATTLE

But for several years after the first settlers came, and
until the close of the war more money was realized from the
raising of cattle than from any other business.

The range was good and the cattle required nothing but
salting occasionally, and a little attention to keep them from
straying off. Beef cattle were in greal demand during the war.
Some ogthe early merchants collected their accounts in beef
cattle, and drove them to ore, and with the proceeds
purchased their goods. | r*;n-r that Mr. Doren was one
that purchased goods in that Way.

: MERCHANTS

The first merchants for many years went 10 Baltimore on
horseback for their goods, and their goods were hauled out
on wagons from Baltimore. Some goods were occasionally
brought up the river in keel bouals from New Orleans. From
the early settlemént of the country until about 1840, nom-
erous flat-bottomed bbats were built at Pulaski, and at vari-
ous points along Richland Creek and Elk River, by which the
tobacco, cotton, hemp and other products were shipped to
market; generally shipped lo New Orleans.

These boats.floated down with the current, and usually
required about six~weeks to make the descent; under favor-
able circumstances it was made in less time, dependent upon
the stage of the ‘water and the influence of the winds. For
inexperienced boat hands about fifty dollars was paid for the
trip. The hands received their wages in New Orleans, and
defrayed their own expenses home. The mosi of them walked
home. Many young men who had never been out of the county
availed themselves of this opportunity to see “the world.” The
marvelous stories they told on their return )"err listened to
by the boys with as much interest as if they had made o
made a tour to the Holy Land. At an c-ar;‘y day keel boats
were brought up the river with merchandise. The trip re-
quired between three and four months. /Salt was brought
down the Tennessee River from King's /salt works in keels
and piroques to the mouth of Elk, and ﬁp Elk to the mouth
of Richland; occasionally up Richland ‘o Pulaski; but gen-

erally stopped at the mouth of Richland, then called Lower | s

Elkton, or went up to what is now Elkton.

TR Y s T ey Sl
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MANUFACTURE OF POWDER
The most of the powder used by the first settlers for many

years was manufactured in the County. The ingredients of

which, as doubtless, all know, are Nitre, Charcoal and Sul-
phur, requiring, according 1o, the French formula, seventy-
five parts of Nitre and twelve and a half each of charcoal and
sulphur. This formula is often varied. Daniel Allen, father of
General R. H. Allen, erected a powder mill at a very early
day at Allen’s Spring, since known as Wright's Spring, a few
miles North-west of Campbellsville. The salt-petre used by
hifo was procured mostly from a cave near Campbell's Sta-
tion in Maury Coun¥¥, which, at one time was worked by
Dr. G. D. Taylor, also from a cave three-fourths of a mile
South-west of Dr. Rutiedge’s old brick residence; which was
worked by Gabriel and John Foulkes, who exchanged salt-
petre for powder, and sold and bartered the powder in the
nempborhood. A man by the name of Williams had a powder
mill near $4& State Line, about one mile South-west from Elk-
mont Springs, on thd Blowing Spring branch. Salt-petre Was
procured from two caves in the neighborhood, but mostly
from a case near the mouth of Elk River. A man named
Manasco, living on Indian Creek, made excellent powder on
“a small scale, enough for the neighborhood. He was a Dutch-
man, and generally when asked if He had any good powder on
ilumi. would say in his foreign brogue, he had some but it was
not first-rate, it was a little too quick and a little too strong.

At a later day Jas. Ross had a powder mill in the Western
part of the County. His was on the Lawrenceburg road. Some
of the salt-petrs used by him was procured from a cave in
Wayne County. The cave near the mouth of Elk River was
extensively worked for a number of years, and afforded em-
:)Iuymenl for many persons living in the Southern part of the
.ounty.

Potash was in great demand during the war. It was used
in lixerating and chrystalizing the salt-petre. Many persons

Dengaged in the business who procured ashes from log-heaps,

burned and otherwise, dripped them and boiled the lye down
to a black salt, or sort of residium, which they sold to those
who were making salt-petre. g

In the Southern part of the County many young men and

-

o
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lads went throtgh the woods, and put fire in all the hollow
trees they could find with a hole near the ground, and one
near the top of the tree. The blaze would run out at the top
and roar like distant thunder. The ashes or rather cinders
secured in this way, were said to be richer in potash than
ashes procured from a burning log-heap. Many of the hollow
trees now standing in the woods, that appear to have been
burnt ¢lt, were burnt out in this way.

> HES

Baptist—The first Bapt Church organization was at
Crosswater in 1808 or 1809, by the Buchanans and Ezells. The
church building was a log house on a glade about a quarter
of a mile South of the Spring. George Brown and William
Calloway were the preachers. After the removal of the Buch-
anans and Ezells from the neighborhood, the place of wor-
ship was changed and another house erected, near Lewis B.
Marks’ called “Old Zibn.”

The Lyan Creek Church near Old Lynnville was organ-
jzed in November, 1810, John Martin was the first pastor,
Jacob Baylor, Deacon. ; ’

The Robertson Fork Church about 1810 or 1811, Peter
Ussery and Wm. James were among the first. members.

A church was organized near the place now owned by
A. R. Gordon, known as the Marin B. Woods® place as early as
1811. Willis Hspwood was the first preacher.

Indian Creek Church was organized in 1811 Mrs. Nathan
Bass and Mrs. Wm. Watson were baptized and joined the
church in 1811. George Brown was the first pastor; Samuel
MeKnight was among the first members. Wm. B. Brooks and
Arnold Zealnor, a few years later were prominent members.

A Baptist Church was organized in Pulaski at a very early
day, but neither the date nor first members cang be ascer-
tained.

Methodist—The first Methodist Church was organized on
Lynn Creek, and about one and one-half miles North of Old
Lynnville in 1808. A man named Prewilt was the first preach-
er. A church was organized in the neighborhood of Mount
Pisgah in 1809, soon after the Revereffd Alex McDoflald came
to the county The first meetings were held at his house. About
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the time a church was organized at Mt. Pisgah or soon after,
one was organized in the neighborhood of Brick Church, but
at what place or the date of the organization has not been
ascertained. Alex McDonald preached to them occasionally.

A church was organized at Rehoboth at a very early day,
about 1810 it is believed. The firs! meetings were held at the

. house of Lewis Brown. A church was organized at an early

day on Indian Creek, at the house of old Thos. Stanford,
about three miles South-west of the present Bee Spring
Church, as early as 1810 or 1811. A Methodist Church was
organiged In Pulaski al 2 very early day, buf the date has not
been aseertained.

Presbyterian—The first Presbyterian Church organiza-
tion was the Elk Ridge Church, two and a half miles East of
Lynnville Station, by Reverend Gideon Blackburn and Robert
Henderson. Hugh King, Jas. Shields, and others were Elders.
David Weir was the first pastor. About the same time or soon
after Mars Hill Church was organized, with William Black,
Ephraim Patrick and others as elders.

Cumberland Presbyterian—Mount Moriah Church was or-
ganized ip the Fall of 1811. Reverend Jas. B. Porter was the
first pastor, and Major Hurlston, Thos. Ruby, Reese Porter
and Jonathan Berry elders.

CAMP MEETINGS

The Presbyterians held a camp meeting near Elk Ridge
Church in 1811, and-established a camp ground and kept it
up many years, \

The Cumberland Présbyterians held a camp meeting and
established a camp ground at Mt, Moriah, in the Fall of 1811,
and kept it up until about the commencement of the late war.

The Methodists held a camp meeting in the neighborhood
of Mt. Pisgah in the Fall of 1811, about a guarter of a mile
East of where Wm. Oliver lives, and near where Major Mc-
Donald lived at that time. The next year it was held on
Pisiiih Hill, where it was kept up until the late war. This was
the most noted camp ground in Tennessee and was attended
by people from a great distance. About 1830 there were over
aiemhnndrcd camps on the ground, and al some meelings
f 150 to 200 perosns were reported as having professed
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religion. During the revival of 1817, Robert Paine, (now
Bishop Paine,) Sterling and Hartwell Brown, professed re-
ligion that fall; afd in a few weeks joined Conference and
commenced preaching. They were well educated for that day,
and soon took a high stand in the ministry, and were success-
fuliand useful preachers.

Several camp grounds were established at a later date,
which flourighed for a time but none lasted as long, or had
the wide reputation of the three ve mentioned. Camp
meetings commenced with lh(:n:fhrsl settlements. They
were a necessity of the times. were but few church or-
ganizations; The first settlers, although but few of them were
members of any church, were, as a class firm believers in the
Christian religion, and had a great reverence for the Bible
and the preaching of the Gospel. They would go to a great
distange to hear preéaching and on account of the sparse pop-
ulation, when there wasg an opportunity to hear preaching for
geveral days, those who lived at a distance cooked their pro-
visions, took bedding and wen!t in wagons with their families
prepared to stay several days. The first year they usually
took their tent clothes, or made temporary camps. In this
way they remained on the ground durifm the meeting. The'
next year the preparations made were more extensive and
comtinued to increase, until, in some measure they became
places of entertainment, and while, doubtless, they continued
to do good, the necessity which brought them in to existence,
does not now exisi.

A peculiarity which attended n:ew camp. meetings has
long since passed away. The “bodily exercise” or “jerks,”
which, more or less attended all revival meetings, from 1815
to 1825 were very frequent. Persons deeply affected upon

-the subject of religion, generally women and girls, were tak-

en suddenly with spasms or convulsions, and, most generally
severe jerkings of the head, so that the hair of the women
and girls when unbraided, would crack like a whip. On such
occasions the men in company would usually take hold of
them, to keep them from injuring thmselves. It certainly was
not pretense on the part of those who had these spasms. Girls
that I couldwordinarliy hold with ose hand, and whose ‘physi-
cal sirength was not equal to half my strength, I could not

S
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begin to hold on such occasions wilhout help. On one occa-
sion at Old Stanford’s a yousg womfan took the jerks; the
preaching was in the house where the family lived, and had
their cooking utensils. Two young men were holding her
when a very wicked man standing by told them to let her go
that she had more sgnse than to fall among the pots, and said
he saw her look that way when she was about to fall. He
went out into the yard cursing and swearing when he, him-
self, took the jerks, which frightened him terribly. Whilst the
jerks attacked persons under great excitement, most generally
at religious meetings, there was no more religion in the jerks,
as such, than in a hard ague. It was a sort of epilepsy, brought
on frequendly by symypathy with those who were exercised;
it was contagious in the sense that epilepsy is said to be in
the East India army where if one soldier is stricken down
with it and it is generally known in the line, others are apt
to be similarly affected, when, if it is concealed no others
may be affected.

SCHOOLS .

The first classic school outside of the Academy st Pulaski,
was established by the Reverend Daniel Weir, near the junc-
tion of Lynn Creek and Robertson’s Fork, between 1810 and
1815, and was kept up for many years. At this school a good
many young men wire taught the Latin and Greek language.

EARTHQUAKES

The earthquakes in the latter part of 1811 and first part
of 1812, greatly alarmed many of the early settlers. They
occurred about the time of the great shakes at New Madrid,
which commenced in the Fall of 1811, and continued until

the destruction of the City of Caracas, in South America, the |

twenty-sixth of March, 1812; after which they suddenly
ceased. About New Madrid and on White River and on the
Mississippi River from the mouth of the Ohio to the St. Fran-
cis, there was an incessan! quaking for several months, in
which the ground rose and sunk in great undulations, and the
surface of the earth burst open in fissures, from which mud
water was thrown as high as the tops of the trees; in the
time Reelfoot and other lakes were formed. The t

N
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convulsion which caused the shakes at New Madrid, doubtless
caused the quaking of the earth in this County. I have been
unable to find any record of the shakes in this County. Mrs.
Thomas Williams, now eight-seven years old, says the first
shake here was on the 16th day of December, 1811. Dr. Henry
Laird who was then ten years old, and living with his father
at Old Lynnville, says the hardest shake was the 23rd of De-
cember, 1811, Others think that the hardest shake was in the
Spring, in log-rolling e. Levi Reed, who was then twelve
years old, reme o hard shakes, one at night and the
other in the morni which horses became so frightened
that they ran away with a wagon. James L. Henry says the
hardest shake was in December 1811, on a Sunday night just
before Christmas. He was then a man grown and in Pulaski
at the time. From what | heard my parents relate and from
others who were here al the time, there were several hard
shakes at intervals;"with a good many lighter ones. Horses,
dogs and cows, by instinct, or probably from a change in the
electrical condition of the atmosphere, seemied to have a
premonition of an approaching shake and appeared restless
and alarmed. The shakes were preceded by a low, rumbling
sound, like a wagon going over a rough road-bed; or distant
thunder; and sometimes they came suddenly without any
warning. The shocks were sometimes like a sudden upheaving
of the earth, and at other times the motion was vibrating or
like a trembling of the ground. The dishes in the cupboard
and the boards on the house would rattle.

Many perwt.u becamie greatly alarmed on the subject of
religion, and religious meetings were kept up in the neighbor-
hood at intervals for several weeks, and at times for several
days or nights in succession, as in times of a revival, at which
some of the most religious were on the anxious seat, and
some professed religion; but afier the shakes were over
many of those most alarm it is said were no better than
they were before; and it was afterwards called by some in
derision, “the Earthquake Revival.” To show how powerfully
some persons were wrought on by fear, | will relate an inci-
dent which I learned from my father. A man who lived a few
miles from my father had been accused of making counter-
feit money, and had been arrested and placed in jail a time or



@ now owned by Governor John C. Brown, near his Western

\

80 EAKLY HISTORY OF GILES COUNTY

two; but who was never convicted, came to my father’s the
morning after the first hard shake, before he had heard the
opinions of his neighbors, and told my father that he had
buried some pieces of copper with other metals and some
chemicals, to undergo a process, preparatory to making
mdney out of it, and asked my father if that could have
caused the shaking of the earth, and he made a clean breast
of his plans, as if he had been confessing 1o a Priest, and
wanted 1o get religion and be a better man than he had been.
My father told him it was merely an earthquake and advised
m to move off, which he did very %ﬂ after. L remember
distinctly the first shake that I was told was an earthquake.
It was early in the (Horning; the family had not risen from
bed, my father had a wagon that was placed near the end of
the house the shock was sudden and left the impression on
my mind very much as if the corner of the house had been
raised by a prize and suddenly dropped. The chains about the
wagon rattled, and my father told me to run out and see what
was abou (he wagon. | went out and returned and told him
there was nothing. He then said it was an earthquake. ["was
alarmed and watched him to see if he was frightened, and
finding that he was not alarmed, I soon got over it. I remem-
ber several shakes after that but nothing definite about them.

Thos Williams, an old citizen of this County, told me that
he was on the Mississippi River in a flat-boat, near New
Madrid when there was a hagd shake, and at the time that
Reelfoot Lake was formed, and other places were sunk. He
said the cable of the boat was broken instantly and the boat
carried up stream rapidly for near two hours, and that when
they were running up stream the river behind them looked as
if it had been greatly elevated, almost like a hill in the river
behind them.

ANTIQUITIES
On the lands lately owned by the heirs of James Patter-
son, deceased, one and one-half miles East of Pulaski, and

boundary, and near what was the boundary line or dividing
lLine between the old Patterson tract and the Bernard M. Pat-
terson tract, sbout three hundred yards South of the Fayette-
ville road, there were two Indian mounds; one forty feet ath

-
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the base, and eight feet high, the other about thirty feet at the
base and six feet high. Human bones -were found in these
mounds. No appearance where the earth thrown up was
taken from. Large forest trees growing on them and
around the base.'

On the lands owned by L. D. Suttle, deceased, eight miles
South-east of Palaski on the place known as the Biles tract,
on the East side of Richland Creek there was the remains of
an aglient fortification. It was on high ground, might be call-
ed a hill, with a comman view of all directions. On the
side next to the creek it " steep; about thirty acres were
enclosed, with an embankment five or six feet high, which, in
1826, before the land was clesred, was too high and steep to
ride over it, except in places.  The forest growth was large
poplar, beech, etc., and irees three and four feet through were

growing on the embankment and at the base of it. It was: .

laid off with angles at particular places, and had the appear-
ance of being planned by persons acquainted with military
defenses, and must have been laid off by a people tarther ad-
vanced in civilizatiog than the Aborigines of this country. On
the lands lately o @by Doctor Ben Carter adjoining the
town of Pulaski, about one hundred yards South of the well
where the negro quariers were, was a mound about thirty
feet at the base, and six or seven feet high; hetween the well
and the mound is a branch, the bottom of which is a hard
limestone roek, on one side is a rock ten or fifteen feet long
and several feet wide, in which was the well defined track of
a larg oxen, and @ man with a moccasin on. The track of the
oxen is two or three inches deep, and that of the man one
and a half or two inc Both tracts plain and distinct, as if
made in soft clay. The und is South-west of the railroad
and near to it. The tracks are fifty or one hundred yards
North-east of the mound.

CANNON BALL

In ‘812 or“lﬂ! a cannon ball was found by one of the
negr belonged to Wm. Marr, in a dense cane-brake, at
what is known as the panther spring, htree-quarters of a mile
North-west of Marrs Hill Church, and about four and a half
miles North-west of Cornersville. At the same time they
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fousd in a hollow tree at the spring a large number of rock
arrow points. The old McCutcheon trace passed near the
spring. The cannon ball is in my possession and weighs
eleven and a half pounds, and is doubtless what was cllled a
twelve pounder. When Mr. Marr moved from the County in
1818, he left the ball with Ephraim Patrick, who was a neigh-
bor and it has remained M his family ever since, and was sent
to me by his daughter, Mrs. Moffitt.  The inquiry naturally

arises, how did the cannon ball come there? It may have been *

taken there by the Indians traveling from the settlements on
the¢ Cumberland, or the Commissioners who weat out to Lati-
tude Hill in 1783 may have had artillery with them and left it
there. They had a guard of soldiers and traveled the Mec-
Cutcheon trace which was near where the ball was found. Or
it Desoto crossed the Tennessee River as is insisted by some
and is more than probable, that he did, it may have been left
there by him.

On the East side of Richland Creek opposite the shoals,
on a »igh bluff were the remains of an ancient fortification.
About four acres were enclosed 'within the embankment, ob-
long in form and evidently designed for defense. The earth
was thrown up and although beaten down considerably, was
since the settlement about three feet high, and had the appear-
ance of having had four entrances at unequal distances, one
toward a spring in the bauk of the creek.” There were Indian
graves within the enclosure. Kirk’s house, where the first
courts were held, was in the enclosure. In a cave at the
spring. known as Anderson’s spring in the Northern part of
the town, the bones of a remarkably large human were
found. The jaw-bone would go over an ordinary man's jaw,
and the thigh bone was a good deal larger than that of a very
tall man. Some pieces of pottery were also found. The pottery
was a composition of shells; some flint pikes were occasional-
ly seen. High up in the cave a human body was discovered
in a remarkable state of preservation, surrounded with a
cloth in whichfeathers had been interwoven. Numerous
mounds and burying places exist in various parts of the Coun-
ty, which from the trees growing on and about them must

settled the country. A remarkable feature in some of the

have been made hundreds of years before the white peo&

N
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mounds is that they are built up of shells and pebbles, which
must have been transported from a considerable distance
from river or creek. Another remarkable feature in those
burying places is the wonderful state of preservation in which
the bones were found when first exhumed.

INCIDENTS AND ADVENTURES OF EARLY SETTLERS

The unwritten history of our County abounds in incidents
of 'frontier life the narrapdve of which would perhaps excite
the wonder and challeb*e credulity of the present genera-
tion. No record has ‘made of them they live but In the

" memory of the few old settlers remaining and with them will

soon pass away and be forgotten. Few of them perhaps, have
any historic worth except as they serve to show prime traits
of character. The early settlers were remarkable for their
self-reliance and daring adventure, which were impressed on
their descendants, and doubtless have had a great influence in
moulding the chgracter of our present citizens,

In illustration of these dominant traits of character, I will
give a few incidents and adventures of the early settlers.

The,noble women in that day were, in their sphere, fully
equal to the men, and should not be forgotten. Mr. and Mrs.
James Ford settled on the North bank of Elk River, near

. Prospect, in June, 1807. In the Fall of the year he went back

to East Tennssee after his stock, leaving his wife and children
the oldest of whom was a daughter twelve years old, by them-
selves. Whilst he was absent one of the childrn sickened and
in the night died. Mrs. Ford dressed it and watched by it un-
til day. In the morning having no one by whom she could
send word to the neighbors, except her children, and fearing
to send them off, the poor women left them with the dead
child and went to Mr. Johnson's, her nearest neighbor about a
milée off, on the same side of the river, traveling through
dense cane-brake with no road but a bridle-path, liable every
moment to meet a bear or panther, or Indian. Arriving there
she engaged Mr. Johnon to make the coffin. She then return-
ed home and then went to Mr. Kyles, a neighbor on the other
side of the river, having 1o wade the river, to get him to dig
the grave. Such were the wives and mothers of the early pio-
neers. The oldest daughter of Mrs. Ford, now Mrs. Kerr, still

\
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survives, (1875), and from her | recently received the forego-
ing incident, together with much valuable information as to
the early settlers.

The Bolins—In 1808 or 1809, the precise date not ascer-
tained, but probably in 1809, a tragedy oecurred at James
Ford's the father of Mrs. Kerr, of no ordinary character. It
was at a time when there were no courts or civil officers in
what is now Giles County, and must have therefore have been
before February, 1810, and it was after cpuris were establish-
ed in Maury County, which was the latter part of 1807. A
man named Reynolds, who lved on the Thomas Reed place
on the rivgr, and a man named Rarden, who lived at the Thos.
Witson place, arrested a young man named Crouch, at the
house of Bolins who lived one and a half miles West of Ford's
at what has since been called the Alex Brown place. Crouch
was a nephew of the Bolins, and Reynolds and Rarden arrest-
ed him in bed early in the morning, tied his hands and started
with him to Columbia, to have him tried or committed by the
iegal authorities on a charge of felony, there being no courts
or civil officers in Giles. They stopped at F s to gél break-
fast, and it was before breakfast time. Ford met them and
asked them not to stop at his house, as the Bolins, the young
man's uncles were his neighbors, and were dangerous and
desperate men and he feared they might come up while the
men were at brakfast and have a difficulty, and they might
do him an injury. They insisted on having breakfast and got
down, Mrs. Ford who was in the yard tending to some domes
tic duties told her husband if they must have breakfast there
was plenty of cold victuals cooked and on the table, and to go
and give it to them and let them get off as soon as possible.
Before they got in the house the two Bolins came in, and ad-

vanced towards the young man. They all had their guns. Rey- .

nolds told Bolins not to interfere or he would shoot. One of
the Bolins cut or partially cut the rope that tied the young
man's hands and as he cut it Reynolds fired and immediately
Rarden and one of the Bolins shot. The three shots were al-
most simultaneous. The Bolin that cut the rope although shot
through, took his gun from his shoulder and shot n as
he was turning to walk off, and killed him instan ne of
the Bolins lived three or four hours and died; the othe ved
AN
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until some time in the night. Reynolds' arm was broken and
the bullet cut two or three holes in his vest, Rarden was
buried at Ford’s. The Bolins at the Alex Brown place, where
they lived. The foregoing is the recollection of Mrs. Kerr
about the killing, which took place at her father's when she
was thirteen or fourteen years cf age. Her account agrees
with what I recollet myself to have heard the neighbors say
about it. Rarden's grave was shown to me in 1826, by Capt.
Baker P. Potts, and related the circumstances as he had
heard them from F, He stated that Reynolds attempted to
load his gun again, the powder down and started the ball,
but by weakness from loss of blood and having the use of on-
Iy one hand, he could not ram ‘he bullet down, his gun being
a rifle; and seeing the prisoner start off he begged Ford to
ram the bullet down for him, that he might shoot the prisoner
and offered him or his wife either one fifty dollars to ram the
ball down for him, which they declined to do. The prisoner
went off, Reynolds got well, and nothing was done with him
about it. X

Spencer Clack—Spencer Clack was born in the State
of Virginia in 1783, and while a youth came with his father,
Major John Clack, to Sevier County, in East Tennessee, where
be remained several years and camejwith his father in 1807
or 1808 to this County. His father fir# settled one mile West
of the Court House on the Dr. Carter farm near the well, at
what was called the negro quarter. While living there Spencer
with two white men and a negro man, ran a very large bear
into & cave, the entrance to which was an opening like a sink-
hole; and it was called the sink-hole cave. The descent was
precipitous and difficult, and about ten feet from the top of
the ground to the bottom of the cave. Clack knew the interior
of the cave and the extent of it, as he had explored it before.
The bear having evaded his pursuit several times before, he
determined to kill it this time at any risk. He caused a rope
to be fastened around each of his ankles to aid him in de-
scending and to draw him back if it should become necessary,
and after giving directions to the white men and the negro,
with a torch in one hand and his gun in the other, he slowly
descended head foremost. As soon as his head entered the
cavity he shined the bear’s eyes, and found he was off to one
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side about fifteen feet, and by the lime he got to the bottom
of the cave he could see the body of the bear standing with
his side towards him. Being a good marksman, gxpert with
the knife and an experienced bear hunter, he took his aim be-
hind the shoulder 5o as 1o shoot him through the heart. He
said he was fully sgtisfied when his gun fired that he had
killed the bear dead and would have no trouble with him. He
fastened the ropes to the bear and was drawn up by the men
above.

Jesse Lamb—Jessie Lamb was one of the lirrsl settlers
on Indian Creek. He was a ‘mull man of unusual strength
and agility and an experienced bear hunter. On one occasion
as was 10l me when | was a young man, he run a bear into
a large hollow log then ¢rawled into the log after the bear
with his butcher-knife, knowing that the bear would make
a rush to get out as soon as he found something was coming
in after him. When Lamb beard the bear start he lay dowan
with his face up, and as the bear was passing over him he
<abbed him behind the shoulder and killed him instantly. Oa
anothér occasion he became satisfied that a ®olfe in _ the
neighborhood had her whelps in a cave about a mile North-
west of where Jas. Paine lived. He went into the cave, found
the oid wolf out, got the young ones and carried them home.

Mr. Lavesk—Mr. Lavesk was one of the early settlers in
the Southern part of the County. On one occasion he was
traveling through an uninhabited portion of the country
South of Elk River, on one of those trails or bridle- paths that
preceded roads. In the evening he discovered a large panther
following him. Being in doubt whether the panther was pur-
suing his journey on the highway, or pursuing him, he quick-
ened his pace for some time, but noticed that the panther kept

about the same distance from him. His only weapon of de- -

fense was a pistol. He could not rely on that except at a short
distance, and then.if he failed to kill he would have little
chance to retreat. It was then nearly sun-down and Qe
could not reach any house before dark. It became important
to know whether the panther was pursuing him; and if so, to
have the fight before dark. He came to a place the
road forked and came together again in a short.’ ce.
Lavesk took the path that was but little traveled an hen
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the panther came to the fork he took the same path. He then
decided the panther was pursuing him, and he at once select-
ed the ground and planned the attack. There was a log across
the path which he had to cross over and just beyond and close
to the path a tree blown up. He got off the horse and moyed
him out of the path. Then he cocked his pistol and dropped on
his knees by the blown up tree root; rested his pistol on a
projecting root, took careful aim and as the panther reared up
with his forefeet the log to cross it as he had calculated
he would do, l."a fired and killed him.

CAPT. JAS. PATTERSON—IMPRISONMENT IN MEXICO

In the Spring of 1809 Jumes Patterson started from Pu-
laski with three negro men to go to the lead mines in the then
Territory of Missouri. After prospecting the mines and per-
haps ¢ngaging in business a short time, he went to Fort Inde-
pendence, and from thence in the Fall of the same year with
Josiah Mc@lannahan and William Smith, ¢ealled Billy Smith),
who was a brother of the noted duellist, John Smith, his three
negro men, a Spaniard and Indian Interpreter, he set out on
horseback for Santa Fe, N. M., with a view of opening up a
trade between those places which at that time offered great
inducements, to those who should early engage in it. The
route was unexplored but knowing ‘the latitude and longitude
of the place, he traveled by his compass, as near a direct
course as the surface of the country would admit. After many
trisls and great exposure he reached Santa Fe, with his party
at a time when there was some public disturbance, or threat-
ened insurrection, preceding the Revolution for Independence
Mr. Patterson and his associales were immediately arrested
on the charge of being spies in the interest of the French
Government, put in irons and sent under guard to Chihuahua.
After arriving at Chihuahua, having had their guns, horses,
money, ammunition, etc., taken from them, they were im-
prisoned and kept heavily ironed for nine months. The irons
were then taken off and they were kept in prison nine months
longer, during which 'time they suffered greatly for provisions
clothing, and the necessary comforts of life. Capt. Patterson
as long as he lived could not talk about his imprisonment
without showing in his changed tone of voice and manner,
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the painful associations which the recurrence brought up. He
was a Masofl, and the Priest who visited him was also a Ma-
son, and lhmrh his influenge, as he supposed their condi-
tion was rendered more tolerable. At the end of eighteen
months they were turned out of prison but not permitted to
leave the city, and Wwere required to support themselves as
best they could. Smith was a gun-smith and a very ingcnious
mechanic. He repaired gun-locks, etc., and invented a machine
to mill their silver coin in moulding the metal, which he
turned to some profit. The Revolution which finally result-
ed in the independence of Mgxico, commenced after they

were lrrew. /3

Don li;u'fl Hidalgo the first leadgr of the revolutioh,
was captured with others of the insurgents and taken to Chi-
huahua, whilst Mr. Patterson and his party were there; and
was there shot as history shows in July 1811. Mr. Patterson
witnessed his execution and in substance thus describes it:
Hidalgo requested that he should not be shot in the back,
that his eyes should not be bandaged, and that.he might be
permitted to face his executioners. Two other prisowers
were shol at the same time. Four squads of soldiers were
detailed to shoot the prisoners. Hidalgo was talking to those
around him, told them, “The knell of Spanish rule had sound-
ed.” The first squad fired and one of the two prisoners fell.
The second squad fired and the other one fell; the third
squad fired and Hidalgo was still standing and appeared un-
moved and continued to talk to those around as though no
danger threatened; with the fourth volley he fell. Colonel
Nelson Patterson of this County, (the father of Jas. Patter-
son) saw in a newspaper an extract from a Vera Cruz paper,
published in the City of Mexico, an account of their capture

and imprisonment, and wrote to the authorities at Washing- -

ton. The U. S Government demanded their release from Spain
After having been nearly three years prisoners they were
permitted to leave, the three negroes and the Indians de-
clined to return with them. The Governor or Commandant
of the City gave them back their guns and pistols, and some
powder that was so weak they could not kill a deerggl more
than thirty yards. He also gave them a map by to
travel to reach the United States at Natchi on
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the Western border of Louisiana. The Governor's Secre-
tary was a Mason, and he told Mr. Patterson privately not to
take the route the Governor designated; thai the Governor
had posted a band of Indians at sfcertain waltering place, on
the way where they were to slop, with strict instructions to
kill them all; that the Governor did not intend they should
reach the U. S. to tell the Americans of the barbarous and in-
human treatment they had received, for fear the United
States Government avould make a demand on Spain for re-
dress. The ﬁy directed them on a different route,
which they foll ind escaped the Indians.

They set out on foot and traveled through the South-
eastern portion of the staked plains, into the Wetsern portion
of Texas. They were out of water for three days and in
their despair of ever reaching the United States, they decided
to separate and pach take his own course, and to meet at
Natchidoches: and if either lived to get through and the oth-
ers failed,.he was to inform their friendg of their impfison-
ment and that they had perished on the plains. After a great
deal of suffering and hardships they all got to Natchidoches.
McClannahan first, Patterson two days after, and Smith the
next day, without gun, hat, or shoes, and with but little
clothing. The Indians had run him for three days through
the Chaparell and he barely escaped them. From Natchi-
doches they came home with but little trouble. Mr. Patter-
son said they had nothing to eat coming through the plains,
except what they killed with their guns; and that the powder
hisd beén so prepared and weakened that it was supposed
they would not be able to defend themselves against the In-
dians, or kill any game. They were at one time three days
without a bite to eat. Mr. Patterson said that during their
sufferings and privations in prison, they had the kind
sympathies of the women, who often sent them provisions
and other things by stealth.. This he always mentioned with
feelings of gratitude, and generally with his eyes moistened
and subdued voice, and spoke of it as an illustration of the
fact that woman has an instinctive sympathy for the op-
pressed and suffering of her race. Mr. Patterson related sev-
eral incidents illustrative oi the difficulties he had to en-
counter in traveling over the wild desert; one of which was
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that he lay one night in a small ravine or gully to protect
himself from the North wind. He lay with his gun bV him
and his pistol in his hand; in the night a wolf came up and
smelt of his hand; he could have shot him but the report of
the pistol would bring the Indians upon him. He lay with his
pistol cocked, pointing at the wolf, resolved to shoot if the
woll made an attack, but the wolf after smelling him, went
off without interrupting.

Before Mr. Patterson returned home the war of 1812 had
commenced. He went out with the troops under Gen. Jack-
son in the Fall of 1813, to the Creek Nation and was elected
Lieutenant in Captain Johff Gordon's Company of spies, and
had a squad of twenty men put under him for special duty,
under the immediate orders of General Jackson.

He carried through the Indian war a large bear gun rife,
six feet in length, which carried fourteen balls to the pound.
The gun is now in possession of his son, J. Nelson Patterson.

An incident is told of him at the battle of Horse-shoe,
which miuy be worth relating. Mr. Patterson, with his gquad
was out reconnoitering on one of the flanks of the army. He
discovered that & party of Indians were about to cut them
off, and Believing that the Indians had not seen them ordered
his mien to fall back to the breastworks. After they started
he saw one of his men whose attention was directed another
way and did not know of their danger. Being hard of hear
ing, instead of calling him'to attract his attention the doughty
soldier ran back to inform him, and they both started for
the breastworks. By this time the Indians saw them and
pursued them. A tall, athletic, swift-footed, Indian took after
Patterson and was close behind, near enough to touch his
back a time or two, as he struck at him with his tomahawk,
and but for the fact that Patterson wore a thick, buckskin
hunting-shirt, he would have probably been killed or wound-
ed. His comrades at the breastworks witnessed the race,
with the most intense anxiety; they saw the danger he was
in, and hallooed as loud as they could “run, run, run, run.”
When he got in safe he turned on them with an air of disdain *
and said using some words not laid down in army regula
tions, “Did you think I was running jockey?” James Patter:

son was for many years a prominent and useful citizen of -
o
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Gilese County. He contributed liberally of his means to build
up schools and to promote the public enterprises of the day.
He possessed a good estate, was generous and hospitable. His
influence was on the side of law and order, morality and re-
ligion. He was born in the State of Virginia, February 29th,
1784, died August 3, 1856.

Lieutenant Kerley and General “Hickory™ Jackson—Wm.
M. Kerley came to the County in the early part of 1809 with
Tyltt Rodes and lived a r or two on his farm. He went
out with the first t der the call of the State in the
Fall of 1813, for service ¥n the Creek Nation; and was Lieu-
tenant in one of the compsnies from Giles County. He be-
came somewhat conspicuous by rosisting the authority of
Gen. Jackson at Fort Deposit, at a time when a portion of the
troops were about leaving the army, believing their term of
service had expired. | have read no account of the transac-
tion, that is entirely correct according to my infogmation,
and none which does justice to Kerley and his comrades.

To fully understand the controversy between General
Jackson and his soldiers, it is necessary briefly to recur to
the terms of their enlistment, The massacre of Fort Mimms,
the thirtieth of August, 1813 startled the whole country and
caused a stampede of all the white settlers between Mobile
and Huntsville. The Legislature of Tennessce being in session
and fearing an immediate advance by the Indians, on her
Southern borders, without waiting to consult the general
Government, authorized the Governor to call out 3500 of the
militia;, in addition to the volunteers who had been dis-
charged in the Spring, after their return from Natchez with-
out limiting their term of service, and pledged the State to
pay them if the United States Government refused. The Gov-
ernor ordered General Jackson to raise two thousand of the
number in hig division; the balance to be raised in East Ten-
nessee. Under the orders of General Jackson the militia ren-
dezvoused at Huntsville, Oct. 4, 1813, and were mustered into
service without specifying the time they were to serve. Near
the close of the year General Jackson, learning that the mili-
tia expectéd to be discharged, the fourth of January at the
expiration of the three months, insisted that, having been
raised under an Act that did not limit their term, and mus-
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tered into service without specifying the time they were to
serve, by implication they were bound for the shortest time
allowed by Act of Congress, which lwas six months. T‘o"i.
cers and soldiers insisted that they were enlisted with ex-
press understanding and belief that it was for a three months
campaign; that the militia raised in East Tennessee under the
same Act was mustered into service for three months, and
were received as such and claimed their discharge the fourth
day of January.V

General Jackson having received a letter from Governor
Bisunt, indicating his acquiescence in the opinion of the mili-
tia, perceived it woq%be useless to try to hold them; but
believing they were botnd under the law to serve six months
if required, he determined to hold them until reinforcements
arrived. Accordingly he issued an order prohibiting them to
leave without his permission.

“At half past ten on the morning of the fourth of Janu-
ary, (quoting from Kendall's Life of Jackson), neither the
officer of iie guard nor any of the sentinels were found at
their posts. On the report of this fact General Jackson order-
ed the arrest of Lieut. Kerley, the officer in question. He re-
fused to surrender his sword, asserting that he was no longer
subject 1o the orders of General Jackson. The General di-
rected Col. Sitler, the Adjutant-General to parade the guards,
‘and Captain Gordon’s Company of Spies, and arrest Kerley
4t all hazards. The order was instantly obeyed. Kerley was
{ound at the head of his C ny, which with the rest of the
militia was formed and ready to march. Colonel Sitler order-
ed him to halt but he refused. The Colonel then ordered the
guards to'stop him, which was done; still he refused to de-
liver his sword. Sitler then ordered the guards to fire on
him if he persisted in his refusal, and both parties simultane-
ously cocked their guns. At this critical moment Gen. Jackson
himself rode up and in person demanded of Kerley the sur-
render of his sword. Again Kerley refused imperatively. The

GEeneral drew a pistol from his holster and was levelling it at
Kerley's breast when Colonel Sitler placed himself between
them, urging him to*submit. A friend of Kerley's drew his
sword from the scabbard and presented it to Col. Sitler who

refused to accept it. Having been returned to Kerley, he
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finally surrendered it to Col. Sitler and was put under
guard.”

Charles C. Abernathy of Giles County witnessed the
transaction. He says the account given in Kendall's Life pf
Jackson is substantially correct, except as to Kerley's giving
up his sword. He says he had gone to the camp of Dr. Gilbert
D. Taylor, then of Pulaski, who was a surgeon in the army;
that Col: Sitler stopped Kerley about twenty or thirty yards
frofh Taylor’s camp, wherg he and Dr. Taylor were sitting;
that when Kerley rflm?o surrender his sword “General
Jackson, coming up will a pistol in his hand, declared to
Kerley, that if he did not give up his sword he would blow
him through.” At this crisis Dr. Taylor said to me, “This
will never do,” and immediately left his seat and running to
Kerley jerked his sword from his hand, and offered it to Col.
Sitler which Sitler refused to receive from him. Dr. Taylor
then placed the sword bick in Kerley's hand, and taking Ker-
ley’s arm with the sword in his hand, extended it to Colonel
Sitler, whereupon Col. Sitler received it, and Keiley submit-
ted to arrest.” He says, “It is very doubtifyl whether Kerley
would have voluntarily surrendered his sWord.” That Gen-
eral Jackson certainly would not have parleyed long with
him, and that but for the timely interposition of Dr. Tavlor,
there is no telling what would have been the result; that the
opposing forces were nearly equal. He says “During the
progress of the affair, I calculated on witnessing the blood-
jest time ! had ever seen, the result of which would have
been the breaking up of the Creek War at least for a season.”

After Kerley's arrest he asked pardon of General Jack-
son, and in explanation of his conduct stated that having
promised his company to lead them home, he feared it would
be considered a compromise of his courage and his honor to
surrender his sword. He was soon released and his sword
restored. (It is said that Kerley ordered his men not to fire
on the soldiers in case the word was given, but to fire upon
Jackson.) He was ever afterwards the friend of General
Jackson. The tradition is that General Jackson said Kerley
was too brave a man to punish. While the controversy was
going on with Kerley, the rest of the Brigade with the excep-
tion of Caplsin Willis and about thirty of his men, marched
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off and no further effort was made to arrest them.

Dr. Taylor—Having mentioned the name of Dr. Taylor
in connection with the arrest of Lieutenant Kerley, it is due
to his gallantry, patriotism, and exalted worth, that some
record should ‘be made of him. Gilbert D. Taylor was born
in Orange County, Virginia, November 18& 1791 in the same
house in which his relative, President Taylor, was afterwards
born. After pursuing his medical education fn Philadelphia,

“she game to Pulaski in 1811, and commenced the practice of
miédicine. H# soon acquired reputation as a surgeon and Yor
bold snd herdic treatment. On the first call for troops for
service in the Creek Nation, in the Fall of 1813, he went out
ander General Jackson, and was appdinted surgeon of his
regiment. When the term of service of his regiment expired,
he was appointed on Gen. Jackson's medical staff, and re-
mained through the Creek campaign. In the battles of
Emuckfaw, and Enotochopie, at his own request, he acted
with the artillery Company under the command of Liueten-
ant Armstrong. Not Latisfied with his own favorite rifle
which he took from home, he purchased from Major Thomas
Wilkinson a smooth bore gun of unusual size and caliber, the
barrel of which was five feet Jong. It carried from thirty-five
to forty buckshot st a load. The evening before the expedi-
‘tion Jeft Fu Strother, he and Chalres C. Abernathy ran a
quantity of bullets in his rife moulds which he used as shot
in loading, shooting twenty-five rifle balls at a time. At
Emuckfaw, when the Indians made an attack before day, Dr.
Taylor took good position. He took position by a tree in the
dark and watched for the flash of Indian guns and fired at
the fiash. Whenever he fired, his comrades recognizing the
teport of the gun, would cry out, “There's Taylor's artillery.”
An examination of the dead after the battle showed that his
big gun had been used to terrible effect.

At the battle of Enotochopie, when Col. Stump and his
cavalry Became demoralized, by the charge of the Indians
in the reafyDr. Taylor was one of the intrepid twenty-five
who defended the ford until the Infantry with the artillery
could cross. Of that noble band eighteen were shot down.
His coolness and bravery on this occasion called forth the
warm comendation of his General. He made a profession of

k. 8
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religion in 1814, and in 1819 was ordained a minister of the
M. E. Church. He was a faithful and most efficient minister
of that Church. He was a man whom all delighted to honor
as well those of other creeds, as the members of his own
Church. His sympathy with the afflicted, his pastoral visits
to the sick, and his affectionate interest in their spiritual
welfaré, knew no bounds, and greatly endeared him to all
He died the sixth of August, 1870, in the 790th year of his age.
“The Memory of the Righteous is Blessed.”

MARTIN, BALLENTINE AF’(‘ARTER

A record of |Giles County \u(:ui){k- incomplete withoul a
memorial of three of her citizens who2ame some years after
the first settlers but who for nearly forty years filled a large
place in her history; who, by their energy_perseverance, in-
tegrity, liberality and enlarged wiews of public policy, left
their impression for good 'on the present generation. | refer
to Thomas Martin, A. M. Ballentine and Dr. Ben Carter. No
men ever enjoyed more fully the confidence of the commu-
nity in whith they, lived, and none ever more deserved il
They were leaders in their day in all the puhlic enterprises
in the County. As prominent and successful merchants, they
exercised A large and controlling influence on the mercantile
interests of the County. So much so, that for twenty vears
before the war, there was only one or two mercantile failures
in Pulaski, and but very few in the County.

‘Thomas Martin was born in Albemarle, County, Virginia,
December 16th, 1799, moved from Sumner County to Giles
County in 1818, was married to Miss Nancy Topp, Oct. 12th,
1824, and died in Pulaski, January 13th, 1870.

Andrew M. Rallentine was born in Tyrone County, Ire-
land, in 1791, and under a provision of the laws of the coun-
try at that time, he served seven years in the British army.
At the expiration of his term he migrated to the United
States, and landed at Philade here he remained for
several years in a wholesale dry goods house at very small
wages, until an offer was made to him by George Crockett,

of Nashville. Having no money to pay traveling expenses,
they were paid by Crockett, and he lived with Crockett as a

~N
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clerk for sbme time, until he paid the debt and came to Giles
County in 1815, and settled on Robertson’s Fork at the Jotes’
place, now known as the Fitzpatrick place, where he estab-
lished a small store, and married the daughter of John Goft.’
He moved to Pulaski in 1821, where he resided until his
death, June 27th, 1863, at the age of sevenly-two.

__ Dr. Benjamin Carter was born in Sumpter County, S. C.,
June the 14th, 1992 He moved with his father at an early
date to Maury County, Tennessce. Having read medicine
and attepded lectures in Philadelphia, he settled at Elkton
abeut 1817, and practiced medicine there for many years. He
was married June 13th, 1822, to Elizabeth K. Lindsay. About
1829 he moved to Puld¥ki; practiced a year or two, and then
engaged in the mercantile business. He died the 16th day of
July, 1865. These men had no distinguished lineage to boast
of, nor the armorials of noble ancestry; but they had what
was more valuable, they were endowed by nature with a
large share of common sense; they were men of untiring in-
dustry, ene 4y snd perseverance, and consistently just in all
their dealings. And besides they were Christian gentlemé®n,
whose influence and liberality in their respective churches,
were exercise for great good. They have Jeft an example
worthy of imitation by the youth of our country, which, if
followed will lead to success.

MASONIC LODGES

The first Masonic Lodge established in Giles County was
Laurence Lodge, No. 16, at Pulaski, instituted by dispensation
issued Aungust the 4th, 1816, by Robert Searcy, Gr. M., but it
is not known who were the: charter members. But from a
roll of the members certified to by Amos Davis, Sec'y., the
names of those who were members in January 1818, were
given. As it may be interesting to some of their descendants
1 will give their names here to-wit: Shadrak Nye, W. M,

dames Patterson, S. W, Thomas B. Jones, J. W, Henry Hagan,
Treasurer, Amos Davis, Secretary, T. B. Haynie, S.D. LS.
Cennor, J. D., William Hamby, St., Willlam R. Davis, Tyler,
David Reed, Samuel Cooper, A. Rogers, J. M. Phillips, S. Y.
Anderson. William Kelly, N. Patterson, N. Davis, G. H. Ed-

{
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wards, Lewis Connor, A. M. Harris, J. B. Connor, M. C. Mc-
Cormack. B. M. Patterson, Tryon M. Yancey, G. Kearney, Jas.
Frazier, Enoch Davis, T. Williams, J. D. Graves, F. Hicks,
Harrison Hicks, Thomas Smith, James Perry and John Sam-
uel.

In 1821 the lodge failed to e‘:ct officers, at the time
required and ceased to work for more than two years, by
which the Charter was forfeited. In October 1824 a charter
was ‘nmcd for a new iod y the name of LaFayette
Lodge No. 51, to Thos. B. J¢ W. M., Alf M. Harris, S. W,
Alex S. Jones. J. W., and othePs. At the annual meeting of the
GrandLodge in 1825, Aaron V. Brown, William C. Flournoy
and V. Loring were delegates, at which communication A. V.
Brown was elected Junior Warden. The Lodge was pros-
perous for many years. Among the prominent members not
named were Dr. Alf Flourney. Dr. Gilbert D. Taylor, Dr.
Chas. Perkins, Dr. L4 Cooper, Dr. Elisha Eldridge, Dr. E.R.
Field. Sterling H. Lester, John K. Yerger, Collin §. Tarpley,
Spencer Clack, L. H. Brown and others. During the suspen-
sion of Masonry from about 1834 to about 1841, the Lodge
ceased 1o work and the records and jewels were were lost.
In 1842 on petition of William H. Field, James McCallum,
Samuel J. Rogers and others, a dispensation was issued by
Frand Master Tannehill for a new Lodge c¢alled Pulaski
Lodge, No. 101, which was chatered in due time and is still
in existence.

The second Lodge in the County was Elkton Lodge No.
24, at Elkton, instituted under dispensation issued November ¢
28th, 1818, by Gr. M. Wilkins Tannehill. The early records
have been lost and it is not known who were the charter
memibers; but at two meetings of the Grand Lodge in 1819,
Dr. Bent Carter was delegale to_one, and Dr. John H. Camp
to the other. Among the earl)wn were: Dr. Jno. H.
Camp, James Camp, Ben Carter, Gustin Kearney, Robert B.
Harney, William Phillips, Thos. Phillips, John Hawkins,
Wyth Simgs, Wm. H. Moore, Wm. §. Neal, Matthew Black and
Abel Wilson.

The Lodge having made no returns from 1822 to 1827,
and having ceased to work, in 1827 a number of members ap-
plied for authority to form themselves into a Lodge. The

-
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Grand Master advised them to do so under the old Charter,
which was declared irregular at a meeting of the Grand
Lodge, and a new Charter granted with the name and num-
ber of the old Lodge with Archer Phillips, W. M, A.
M. Upshaw, S. W, and Thomas Phillips, J. W. Among the
prominent membens a few years later, in addition to some of
those already named were Dr. Dabney B. Phillips, I'r. Zeno
T. Harris, Dr. William E. Harold, Dr. W, H. Butler, Pinckney
B. Wilson, Hardy Benson, Claiborne Kyle, Henry and William
Jones, P. H. Braden, William Braden, James McCallum,
George D. Scruggs, Charles Leatherman, David J. Moore, Wm.
Monroe and others. i

Duringethe general suspension from 1834 to 1841, Elkton
Lodge did not surrender her Charter, or abandon her organi-
zation, but met occasionally without doing any regular work,
except to bury the dead, etc. In the Fall of 1842 the Lodge
with the permission of the Grand Master resumed work and
is still in existence.

The Lodges in Pulaski and Elkton were the only ones in
the County, previous to 1845. Since that daté Lodges have
been established at Cornersville, Bethel, Lynnville, Brad-
shaw, (since removed to Pisgah), Campbellsville, Prospect
and Bodenham.

A number of Lodges of 1. 0. O. F. were established in the
County before the war, but members of the order requested
to furnish statistics have failed to do so.

CONCLUSION )

It is said to be an axiom that no people ever lose their
prosperity, but by departing from the principles to which
they owed their success. In looking back to the early settlers

v

of our County, what were the principles that actuated them— .

what wlu’ll;e dominant idea that advanced their national
prosperity? It was to purchue nothing they could produce,
or make themselves, 10 sell more than they bought, and to
live within their income, be it much or little.

In conclusion it is impossible to contemplate the early

settlement of our County, in its varied scenes, without admir-
ation for the character of its early settlers. nd%nt

exercise of body, and mode of life invigorated their comtitu-

N
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tions, and fitted them to endure hardship and fatigue. Their
necessities stimulated their inventive geniuvs, and developed
their mental powers; their isolated condition and exposure
to danger, made them self-reliant and courageous. They often
courted danger “for danger's sake.” Their intercourse with
each other was most cordial and friendly, they called each
other by . their Christian names. There was then no rival
grades or soclal distinctions in their respective neighbor-
hoods, but al! wh ere honest, honorable and industrious
stood on a par. F’riu and courage gave to each a knowl-
edge of his own Mpacity, while friendship, confidence, and
mutual dependence, knit them together as a band of brothers.
Cherished be their memorie., green be the sod that covers
their neglected graves.

PART SECOND—DESCRIPTION OF THE COUNTY

The boundaries of Giles County as defined by the Legis-
lature, commenced at the S. E. corner of Maury County,
thence S. 10 the S. boundary, of the State; thence W. far
enough to include a constitutional County; (625 square miles)
thence N. to the Maury County line; thence E. to the Maury
County line to the beginning. The width of the County from
East to West is about —— miles. The Northern boundary fol-
lows the meafpders of the ridge that divides the waters of
Duck River from those of the Elk. As originally established
the Eastern boundary from North to South was about ——
miiles. At the middle of the County about —— miles, further
West about —— miles, averaging about —— or —— miles,
making the area slightly over six hundred and twenty-five
square miles.

Since the late war a portion of the North-eastern part of
the county embracing Cornersville, containing about - or
—— squaure miles, was cut off and added to Marshall Coun-
ty, leaving the County with about square miles. No coun-
ty in Middle Tennessee is better watered than Giles—both as
to springs and running streams.

Lynn Creek rises in the Northern part of the County,
flows South into Robertson Fork, one and a half miles below
Old Lynnville.
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Robertson Fork rises in the North-eastern part of the
County, flows a South-western direction, until it pgsses the
middle of the County. Then it turns South and enters Rich-
land Creek, a mile or two below Reynolds Station.

Richland Creek, so appropriately named by General Rob-
about three miles $outh of the original North-east corner of
the County, flows an irregular south-western direction, until
it passes the middie of the County, thence South a few miles,
and then turns to the West, forming a large curve, going
three or four miles West of the middle of the County, receiv-
ing on its curve to the West, first Big Cregk, which rises in
the North-western part of the County; next Dry Creek and

. then Weaki€y’s Creek, which with its tributaries rises in the

West and North-western part of the County. Below Weakley
it curves to the East and again comes to the middle of the
County at Pulaski, having received Moore’s Creek on the
right hand side. Above Pulaski after passing Buford Station,
it receives on the East Haywood’s Creek and Pigeon Roost
week. From Pulaski its general direction is § -east, flow
ing Into Elk River about five miles East of the middle of the
County. It receives no streams of importance below Pulaski

from the West. On the East side some distance below Pu-'

laski, it receives Buchanan Creek, Newton’s Creek and Silver
Creek. On the East boundary of the County is Bradshaw's
Creek which flows South into Elk River. Between Bradshaw
and Buchanan’s Creek is Indian Creek, which flows South
into Elk River.

Elk River enters the Eastern boundary of the County
six miles North of the South-east corner of the County, and
flows an irregular South-western direction, passing out about
the middle of the Southern boundary.

The South-western part of the County is watered by
Ferd’'s Creek, Jenkin's Creek, Shoal and Sugar Creeks, with
their tributaries, all flowing South and South-east into Elk
River. The lands on Richland Creek from its source 'to its
mouth, are among the best and most productive lands in Mid-
dle Tennessee. The broad valley of tillable land on Richland
from its entrance on the Eastern boundary with th of its
tributaries fo the mouth of Weakley, and up Weakl its
tributaries to the Western boundary of the County, preSegts
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a broad scope of country across the County of unsurpassed
beauty and fertility.

From Pulaski East and North-east is a chain of hills Aaml
highlands which divide the waters which flow North u)l«:
Richland, from those flowing South into Brad\huw". Indian
Creek and Buchanan Creek. The lands on these crecks as
well as those on Newton's Creek and Silver Crek, are all of
the same quality as those on Richland, but not in as large
bodies. The lands on both sides of Elk River, generally for
some’ distance lie, 11, and are regarded as the best cotton
lands in the Coulys From Pulaski on a South-western direc-
tion, an irregular chain of hills and highlands, separates the
waters which flow North into Weakley and Richland above
Pulaski, from those which flow South into Ford's Creek, Jen-
kin’s Creek, Shoal and Sugar Creeks. The valleys on these
creeks are very rich and productive, but not in as large
bodies generally ‘as are on Richland above Pulaski.

The numerogs streams and valleys of the County are
separated by m and highlands, rising sometimes four or
five hundred feet above the water, level. The most of these
hills especially those on Richland, and its upper lrib.uh.rh-s.
and those between Bradshaw and Richland, are especially
productive, even where they are too steep for cultivation.
Blue grass grows well upon most of the hillsides. The lands
in the Eastern and North-eastern part of the County and the
adjoining lands in Lincoln and Marshall, aré as fine lands
tor blue grass as any in the State. There is a grass lot a mile
or two from Cornersville in Marshall County, that was sown
over sixty years ago, and has been a grass lot ever since, and
affords good grazing now, as | learned recently from Colonel
McClelland, who owns the place. | mention this place because
I recollect no other that has stood so long withoft being cul-
tivated. There was a large grass lot on the old Robert Gor-
done farm, sown about the same time which was a good
grass lot a1 the time fhe old man died, and for several years
after. It was grazed far more than thirty years, and some
of it may yet be in a grass lot, but a portion has been culti-
vated since his death. The original forest growth when the
early settlers came, was unsurpassed in grandeur and beauty.
To one who never saw it till felled by the axe of the hardy
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Robertson Fork rises in the North-eastern part of the
County, flows a South-western direction, until it passes the
middle of the County. Then it turns South and enters Rich-
land Creek, a mile or two below Reynolds Station.

Richland Creek, so appropriately named by General Rob-
about three miles SoutH of the original North-east corner of
the County, flows an irregular south-western direction, until
it passes the middle of the County, thence South a few miles,
and then turns to the West, forming s large curve, going
three or four miles West of the middle of the County, receiv-
ing on its curve to the Wesl, first Big Creek, which rises in
the North-w n part of the County: next Dry Creek and
then Weakley's Creek, which with its tributaries rises in the
West and North-western part of the Counly. Below Weakley
it curves to the East and again comes to the middle of the
County at Pulaski, having received Moore's Creek on the
right hand side. Above Pulaski after passing Buford Station,
it receives on the East Haywood's Creek and Pigeon Roost
Creew. From Pulaski its general direction is South-gast, flow
ing Into Elk River about five miles East of the middle of the
County. It receives no streams of importance below FPulaski
from ‘the West. On the East side some distance below Pu-
laski, it receives Buchanan Creek, Newton's Creek and Silver
Creek. On the East boundary of the County is Bradshaw’s
Creek which flows South into Elk River. Between Bradshaw
and Buchanan's Creek is Indian Creek, which flows South
into Elk River.

Elk River enters lh Eastern boundary of the County
six miles North of the South-east corner of the County, and
flows an irregular South-weéstern direction, passing out about
the middle of the Southern boundary.

The South-western part of the County is watered by
Ford’s Creek, Jenkin's Creek, Shoal and Sugar Creeks, with
their tributaries, all flowing South and South-east into Elk
River. The lands on Richland Creek from its source to its
mouth, are among the best and most productive lands in Mid-
dle Tennessee. The broad valley of tillable land on Richland
from its entrance on the Eastern boundary with those s
tributaries to the mouth of Weakley, and up Weakley and

tributaries to the Western boundary of the Cdunty, presents \
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a broad scope of country across the County of unsurpassed
beauty and fertility.

From Pulaski East and North-east is a chain ul. hills .nml
highlands which divide the walers which flow North u_uu
Richland, from those flowing South into Bradshaw, Indian
Creek and Buchanan Creek. The lands on these crecks as
well as those on Newton's Creek and Silver Crek, are all of
the same quality as those on Richland, but not in as large
Sodies. The lands on hpth sides of Elk River, generally for
some distance lie wﬁ\d are regarded as the best cotton
lands in the County. ‘Pulaski on a South-western direc-

tion, an irregular chain of hills and highlands, separates the
{ waters which flow North into Weakley and Richland above

Pulaski, from those which flow South into Ford's Creek, Jen-
kin’s Creek, Shoal and Sugar Creeks. The valleys on these
creeks are very rich and productive, but not in %as ldarge
bodies generally as are on Richland above I’uluski.

The numesgous streams and valleys of the County are
separated by hills and highlands, rising sometimes four or
five hundred feet above the water level. The most of these
hills especially those on Richland, and its upper tributaries,
and those between Bradshaw and Richland, are especially
productive, even where they are too steep for cultivation.
Blue grass grows well upon most of the hillsides. The lands
in the Eastern and North-eastern part of the County and the
adjoining lands in Lincoln and Marshall, are as fine lanfln
for bluc grass as any in the State. There is a grass lot a mile
or two from Cornersville in Marshall County, that was sown
over sixty years ago, and has been a grass lot ever since, and
affords good grazing now, as I learned recently from Colonel
McClelland, who owns the place. I mention this place because
I recollect no other that has stood so long without being cul-
tivated. There was a large grass lot on the old Robert Gor-
done farm, sown about the)same time which was a good
grass lot at the time the ofd man died, and for several years
after. It was grazed for more than thifty years, and some
of it may yet be in a grass lot, but a portion has been culti-
vated since his death. The original forest growth when the
early settlers came, was unsurpassed in grandeur and beauty.
To one who never saw it till felled by the axe of the hardy
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pioneer, it is bardly possible to describe it. It abounded in
the principle species of trees that are found in other counties

in Middle Tennwec. but the markd difference was in their -

size and massive dimensions. This was noticesbly so

land and its uppes tributaries,‘and between R{chh:;m:l:
Brandshaw. The poplar, beech, spgar Iree, elm, walnut, lynn
oak, scaly-bark, (hic ), and white ‘cak were larger than l
ever saw any where else, except in the portions of Lincoln
and Marshall, lying contiguous, and being of similar quality
of soil and timber from five to seven feet in diameter. White
oak from five to six feet, beech, black walnyt, ash, scaly-bark

hickor'y, sugar tree, elm and lynn were four or five feet Ln'
diameter. Thgir sizes wile not unusually large for Giles
Ceounty-—occasionally some were found larger than these

Grape vines were numerous and very large. The UM
were unusually large where Pulaski is situated and particu-
larly on what is now the publi¢ square and along First and
Second Main Streets. | remember where there was a grove
of .lbe largest - s2 beech trees North-west of where the Meth-
odist Church stands and West of G. W. Woodring’s residence
I have heard the old settlers speak of a very large poplar
that stood on -or near thé public squire that was between

five and six feet in diameter. It was bléwn down soon after
the first settlers came. Two or three paths through the cane
to the spring passed by it and it was a place of resort for

some lime for afternocon gatherings, and for those who

smused themselves playing cards. A remarkable feature in

the forest growth was noticeable in the difference in the

growth of the East and West side of Richland below Pulaski

and for a few miles above, Whilst the timber on the East side

of the creek was of the largest size of poplar, beech, white

oak, sugar tree, elm, etc., that on the West side was of a

smaller scale in size, embracing most of the varieties on the

East side, but abounding more in white oak, hickory and pop-

lpr of a smaller size. The soil on the West side is different

f that on the East, but not the less productive. For wheat

and some other crops it is said to have some advantages. The

most remarkable feature in the scenery of the County' was

the dense cane brakes, which covered the greater portion of

the country. On the creek bottoms and on the rich, black soil
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the cane was from .10 1o 16 feet in height. On the rich popiar
and beech uplands, it was from eight to twelve feet, and on
the ridges and thin land from five to eight feet. The latter
was called maiden cane. On some of the poor ridges and

.. \those.of the character of barrens there was little cane, and

where there was no cane the ground was covered with a
wild pea vine. To stand on a high hill or knob at the head
of a long valley of cane brake, after a light shower of rain,
with the #iin shining brightly an with a breeze sufficient to
keep the tops of the cane and |} in gentle motion, is one
of the grandest sights mortal "beheld. At that time there
was but little undergrowth of timber; no bushes or thickets
of bushes as we now have. The forest trees generally had
long clean bodies, much {reer from limbs near the ground,
than at the present day. This of course added greatly to the
beauty and grandeur of the scenery.

One of the difficulties encountered by the first settlers in
opening roads through the large cane, was that it was neces-
sary to cut the cane below the jsurface of the ground, other-
wise the stubs of the cane were almost as dangerous to men
and beast as if they were steel spikes, and aumerous were
the accidents to man and beast from cane cut above the

d. For several years after the first settlers came hors-
es and cattle from the more Northern counties were driven
into the county for the benefit of the range. This sometimes
gave rise to serions complaints by the settlers. It was alleged
that those whe drove off the foreign stock, some times took
more thaf they brought. This was particularly the case dur-
ing the war of 1812 when the demand was great for horses
and beel cattle. Unprincipled men gathering stock for army
contractors, !nqqenlly took out more than they purchased.
Besides the proximity to Indian territory and the want of
organized courts, for a few years, afforded bad men oppor-
tunity often to take off stock with impunity.

The fertility of the soil in those' dense cgne brakes for a
few years after the cane was removed was emarkable. The
mold which had uecumuhteg for ages from the decaying
leaves was so deep and loose that a walking stick could be
easily thrust into the ground a fool and often half its length.

_After the removal of the cane but little labor was required
® .
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On rd>ef November, 1809, nine days after the -
Iy was &stab d, the Legislature chartered an Aca
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1o raise corn, besides cutting down the cane sprouts. The
large yield of corn and the little dsbor required to cultivate
it, soon made corn abundant and cheap. Five grajns were
usually planted in a hill, all matured and made good corn.
Five stalks were grown there as well or better than three in
the adjoining land of same quality, cleared twenty years after
the cane was gone. "In a few years after the cane became
tramped by stock, the cane began to fail. It showed it first in
the large cane on the rich lands. When it began to fail it

died out very fast. The small cane on the ridges and thindand __

lasted several years longer than the large cane. The vitality
of the cane root is wonderful, Land in the immediate vicinity
of Pulaski t s been cleared and enclosed for sixty years,
and cultivated a portion of the timle when left uncultivated a
few years, if the stock is kept off it, grows up in cane and
would soon make cane thickets if undisturbed. One of the pe-
culiarities in the cane is that it acquires its growth in height
and size the first year. Some of the largest anl tallest cane
I ever saw was the first year's growth. They can be easily
tolé, mot only by their appearance, but by being soft and
easily cut with a knife; the outer surface or enamel does not
harded the first year, and in this way they are distinguished
from the pld cane although of the same size.

Memory recalls no incident in my early life more vividly
than one associated with the cane brakes. When a boy my
father ranged his cattle two or three miles from home. He
salted them every week. | frequently went out with him. The
place of salting was on the top of a high ridge, with a valley
of cane brake on each side. The cane on one side was a mile
or two in extent. The cattle were accustomed to the call of
my father. To stand on the top of the hill when the weather
was favorable, etc., and look down the valley on either side,
and see the cane tops waving to the breeze, hear the sleck
cattle responding to the call and witness their rush to get to
the salt through the cane was highly exciting.

MBURG ACADEMY

",

~
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County, called Pulaski Academy, and appointed as
;?r';u?: tbereo(y. John Sappington, .\'cls(fn Patterson, Tyree
Hodes, Samuel Jones, Somerset Moore, Charles Buford, and
Charles Neely. In September, 1812, the name of ll.:.e ademy
was changed to Wurtemburg Acadrmy.. and l\r Wwill m 'Pu:-
nell, David Woods and Alfred M. Harris, appointed additional
Trustees. There being a surplus fund, lhe‘proc("my of the
sale of the town lots in the hands of the (.omn'nssnuper.s of
the town of Pulaski, er paying for the public bulldlpgs.
etc., on application Legislature they were authorized
1o invest a portion in a purchase of the large lot on

; which the Wurtemburg Academy building was erected. For

a number of years the Legislature exercised the right to ap-
point trustees for the Academy. The Acadcm_y was 'wrll at-
tended and the teachers generally men of solid attainments,
and with a great deal of practical common sense. Their dis-
cipline was rigid and exacting, and one of the results was
that our Academy soon had the reputation of being an ad-
mirable school in which to prepare young men to enter col-
lege. ‘
I have hot access to any records which would enable me
to give the names of the different teachers, in this time h'on-
ored institution, with the order in which they taught. Suf-
fice it 1o state from my own recollection, that about 1824, the
Academy was for several years under the direction of the
late William W. Potter, who was a very cmciepl teacher, and
disciplinarian. About 1826 or 1827, a Mr. lx.,-nn'g from Bow-
ling Green, Ky., was at the head of the Institution, for some
time: and was very successful in sustaining ils reputation.
He afterwards became eminent in Kentucky as a lawyer and
Judge, and was a most estimable Christian gentleman. About
1834 a Mr. Price had charge of the school. He afterwards ac-
quired reputation as a lawyer and judge in .\lissiui;')pi...\bput
1841 or 1842 Mr. Mendum was at the head of the institution
some time. He ha d aconsiderable reputation as an instruc-
tor and disciplinarian. About 1846 or 1847 John C. Brown
(then just returned from college, and since Governor and
Confederate General), with Daniel, G. Anderson had charge
of the shool one or two sessions. Brown exhibited remark-
able talent as an instructor and evinced thorough knowledge
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of books. After them Benjamin F. Mitchell and John A. Mc-
Roberts had charge of the school a number of years. Mr.
Mitchell bad the reputation of being a ripe scholar and a suc-
cessful teacher. Mc Roberts was peculiarly adapted to im-
parting instruction to youth, and had considérable reputation
as a teachér. Mr. Mitchell married a daughter of Edward D.
Jones, Esq., in the neighborhood and left the Academy and
entered the practice of law. Woodbury Mitchell with James
L. Jones had charge of the school a session or two [ believe,
and were successful as teachers. Mr. Mitchell is now the
able and popular pastor of Zicon Church in ‘Maury County,
and Mr. J is at present the Chairman of our County
Court. In 9 a college charter was obtained for the old
Academy by the name of Giles College, and suitable buildings
erected, etc. Prof. Sharpe, Prof. Jno. H. Stewart and Prof.
Chas, G. Rogers, were successively 'in charge, of the College,
associated with them most of the time was McRoberts and
Alfred H. Abernathy. Stewart had the reputation of being a
profound scholar. Rogers as a teacher of mathématics had
few superiors. Abernathy and McRoberts were Jong con-
nected with the school and were eminently successful. Dur-
ing the late war our college buildings were used as a Feder-
al hospital, and were s0o much damaged during the war that
the principle building had in a great measure to be rebuilt,
the loss of which, with other liabilities required the college
property to be sold.

FEMALE ACADEMY

Al a very early date a first-class female school was es-
tablished under the name of the “Female Academy.” The
first building erected or obtained for the Academy, was on
the lot now owned by J. B. Childers, and on which he has
long reisded. Without sttempling to enumerate the teachers,
I will mention a few who were personally known to me. The
years 1827 or 1828, the Rev. James Hall Brooks took charge
of the Academy, and taught several years. He was a superior
teacher and disciplinarian. Under his managment the §tron-
age of the Academy increased, and made consi
tation. A few years later the first Academy buildings. 'w

'
\
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sold or exchanged for the lot on which the Episcopal Rectory
is now situated. This site was more central to the patrons
of the school. After the school was opened in the new build-
ings it was under the management successively of Mr.
Thomason, an Englishman, Mr. Davis, Dr. Rawles, and 8th-
ers. In 1842 or 1843, the Reverend Robert - Caldwell took
charge of it, and continued the management with competent

. assistants for a number of years, until 1853 or 1854 or per-

haps later, when t ndition of the building from a crack
in the wall, or ot use, was deemed unsafe and not wor-
thy of having necessary improvements made to it; and the lot
and building was sold a short time before the late war. Our
“Female Academy” unpretentious as it was, had the reputa-
tion of sending girls and young ladies 'to higher schools, bet-
ter drilled and more thoroughly taught in what they pro-
fessed to have studied, than from almost any other place.
= >

COTTON MILLS
About 1847 or 1848 a charter was obtained for a manu-
f{acturing company, and the.name of the “Richland Manu-
facturing Company,” at Pulaski, under which a company was

soon organized. gs were erected and “Pulaski Cotton
Mills” started about 1850. They have been in successful op-
eration for most of time since, and but for the late war

would doubtless have been a valuable invcs}menl for the
stockholders.

RAILROAD

In 1856 the County subscribed $275,000. payable in five
annual installments, to build the section of the present Nash-
ville and Decatur railroad from Columbia to the Alabama
line. The road was completed in 1860, or about that date.
Although the road has fullfilled perhaps the expectations of
the general public, in facilities for transportation and travel,
yet, strange to say, our citizens have become more indiffer-
ent to building turn-pikes and keeping up the country roads,
than they were before we had the railroad. This doubtless
may be attributed in"part %o our system of labor and our
County producing little else for market besides cotton.
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COURT HOUSE AND JAIL

The first Court held in the Coynty was a Court of Pleas
and Quarter Sessions on the third Monday in February, 1810,
at the house of Lewis Kirk, who lived in a log cabin on the
bank of Richland Creek, at the foot of the shozls ahout 200
yuds' above the Nashville and Decatur depot. e Court
was held in a rough house, erected in Kirk's yard for that
purpose, and was called the first Court House.

Aboul the same time a rough log cabin was erected near
it for a jail. and this was called the first jail. Persons were
imprisoned in it for misdemeanors, contempt of Court, etc,

+ Those charged with felonies, etc., were for the first two or

three years senl to the Williamson County jail, after that for
two or three years to Maury County jail. The tradition is
that while the jail at Kirk’s was used, a good fiddler was im-
prisoned for some minor offense, and occasionally a party in
town who were fond of amusement (some of the#m men of
influence and high standing) would.go to the jail in the night
after bedtime, prize up one cornet of the house, block it up,
take out the prisoner, carry him up into town, fiddle and
frolic until nearly day, then take him back put him in prison
and let down the corner of the house again. After the sale
of lots in August, 1811, the cane hfvln. been cut down
on the public square, a court house was built on the public
square about where the gate of the present court yard
fence it. It was built out of round logs, covered with boards,
in which courts were held about two years. The first Cir-
cuit Court held in it was December 1811, The records of the
Court show that the Court was opened on the first day of the
term, at the house of Lewis Kirk, and adjourned to.meet at
the Court House. This was called the second Court House.
About thg same time a Jog house was built for a jail, near the
South-east corner of the public square, and near the South-
west corner of the drug store lately occupied by Pope & Gor-
don. The Commissioners of the town were required by Act
of fhe Legislatare, after paying for the land on which the
town was located from a sale of the | Lo use enough of the
proceeds of the sale of the lots to bui Court House, jail
and stocks. The Commissioners alt they had ‘ample
funds, dflayed erecting tb% public buildings the citizens

-
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t, and the Court House was burned one night
'i'kr:ﬂn::o::mr;:ﬂl‘l was bufnd with the a’s?cni and full knowl-
edge of some of the mést influential citizens, to force lh‘e
Commissioners to build a suitable house. Whelhcr’.lhc cil'n-
zens instigated the burning or not, they did not egret il.
When the house was burning some of those present were
active in, bringing out the benches, and trying lo save as
much 'he_\' could. Whilst others, and most of thl'nt men of
infl , were as active in throwing them back. When one
of t , 4 prominent citizen was aslgd why he was lhruwmg
the benches and tables back, he said he was "h)‘ln‘ 1o
smother the damised fire.”

The minutes of the Circuit Court at April term, 1814,
show rather a singular entry in relation to the burmnghlo~
wit: At a Circuit Court began a held for the county of Giles
on Monday the 20th day of April.«1814, on the plnfe where
the Court House lately stood, in thé town of l’ula-slu. present
the Honorable Thos. Stewart, Judge, etc. “The Court House
being burnt, it is therefore ordered that ('.ou'ri be :djuurncd
to meet al the house of Daniel Martin immediately.

The Court was held that term at the house of Dnnifl Mar-
tin, (the father of our David S. Martin.) Al.lhc'Apnl term
1815 Court was held at the house of Isaac Smnh..u_)‘ H?c town
of Pulaski. He was a brother of the late Samurl_ S. hlmlh._ and
Capt. Tom Smith (Tub Smith.) About the time the Court
House was burned or soon after, a citizen !ron“lhe country
of some property and influence but at times bolsterous, was
sent to jail for contempt of court. He was greatly enraged at
having te go to jail and especially at having 'f’ be locked up
in a log pen> where those passing could sce him through the
cracks; and he swore that no other person should be so hu-
miliated. That night the jail was burned, whether b.y nim or
some other person no one seemed to care. [t is evident the
citizens were rather pleased that it was burnd.

The Commissioners of the town soon contracted with
Archibald Alexander, a citizen of the place, to build a Court
House, and with Phillip P. Maury of Williamson County to
build a jail. A substantial two-story brick Court House was
erected, by Alexander on the site of the present Court House,
It was considered a fine Court House at that day. It stood a
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long time, when it was taken ‘ovn}n another Court House
was built on the same site, of larger nsions and on a dif-
ferent plan. This was a large, fine looking house. In a year
or two after it was erected it accidentally took fire in the
cornice, from a defective flae in the wall and was burned
dovn. ol

Courts were then held for a year or two in the old Odd
Fellows Hall on the first floor. In a few years after the burn’
ing the present Court House was built, which is one of the
best built houses in the State, and in point of symmetrical
proportions it is not surpassed by any building | ever saw.
The late Colonel Heiman of Nashville was the architect who
furnished the plan and directed the erection of the building.
To insure good walls the Commissioners contracted for the
brick to be delivered and counted, in the Court House yard
all 1o be hard brick and whole brick. They procured
other materials, hired the best brick masons by #the day and
employed the late F. H. Wilkerson who was a mechanic him-
self of large experience to supesintend the work. The late
George W. Tillery executed the wood work. This may be said
to be the fifth Court House we have had, two of wood and
:‘hree of brick. The present Court House is still an excellent
ouse.

The jail contracted to be built by Maury in 1814, was
erected on the ::;th-vut corner of the public square where
the jail long stood. When the building was completed, want-
ing only one or two hour's work, it was accidentally burned
it is said by shavings taking fire from some persons who lmi
gone into the house at night to play cards. The building
would probably have been received by the Commissioners
the next day, but as it had not been reecived, held that the
loss must fall on the contractor that they were acting under
the authority of the Législature, land had no discretion: that
the funds were from the sale of the town lots which they
would have to account for, and accordingly sued Maury for
$2400. advanced on the contract, and recovered judgment
against- him in the Circuit Couht of Williamson County. On
petition to fhe LCegislature by a n of citizens of Giles,
John Bell, who was then a member of Legislature, from
Wililamson County, procured the passage 8 a bill rel,kvlu
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Maury from the payment of said judgment and making the
payment of the $2400. to him by the Commissioners a valid
credit to them on final settlement, and also authorizing them
to pay him six hundred dollars more, being half the balance
due on the contract, provided the County Court should be of
opinion that such payment would be just and equitable un-
der the circumstances; and make an order on their minutes
to t effect, a copy of which order should authorize the
C ers 1o pay over the money. Another jail wae

on the same sile, by, I think, the same contrac-
tor, which was in its way a good, safe jail—and rgmained un-
til near the close of the late war, when it was burne® down
it is said by the retreating Confederate Army. It had been
used by the Federal authorities to imprison citizens when ar-
rested, and it is said was in a very foul and loathsome condi-
tion, and was burned to keep our citizens when arrested
from being imprisoned in so unhealthy and loathsome a
place. Afterward the County Court decided to remove the jail
from the public square, and had the present neat and excel-
lent jail erected, on First Main Street; the lot on which the
old jail stood being sold for a very fair price. Our present
jail is the fifth one erected in the county, two of which were
log houses and three of brick.

JUDGES OF THE CIRCUIT COURT

Thos. Stewart was the first Judge of our Circuit Court. He
was elécted Judge of the Fourth Judicial Circuit, which em-
braces Giles County, at the same session the Legislature
adopted the Circait Court system, in place of the old Superior
Courts. He resided in Williamson County near Franklin. He
had the reputation of being an able judge and a man of un-
impeachable integrity. As illustrative of the man aud of the
times, I beg leave to give an imcident in Judge Stewart’s life,
told me by Mr. John Goff, long a citizen of this county. Be-
fore he came to this County he was a near neighbor of Judge
Stewart. In harvest time Mr. Goff had a reaping to which
all his nd‘ﬂaorl were invited. Wheat and other small grain
at that day wis cut with the old-fashioned sickle. Every
neighbor carried with him his own sickleg As in thy days of
the Patriarchs reaping was not oaly a time of substantial help
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to neighbors, but they were times of feasting and social en-
joyment. Judge Stewart was quite an old man, occupying the
position of Judge and was ipvited, not to labor—but to par-
ticipate in the entertainment and the social enjoyment of the
day. 'The Judge came on the day appointed with his sickle.

, Mr. Goff explained to him that he did not e him to en-
gage in the harvest field. The Judge said he had come to the
reaping and would take part with the reapers. Mr. Goff was
a man of fine size and of unusual physical powers, id an
active life and was a good reaper, as he thought. After the
other reapers got well on their way, Mr. Goff and the Judge
sat it. Mr. Goff said he dashed off rapidly and thought to
leave the Judge immediately, but to his surprise he found
that the Judge kept close up to him. He then let himself out
at his best speed thinking to tire the Judge, as the round they
were cutting was of considerable length, still the Judge kept
up. Goff said he very soon found out that, instead of run-
ning away from the Judge, it was necessary 1o exert his full
physcial powers to keep up, with him, and by the time he
got around he was willing” to rest himself, while the Judge
was apparently not fatigued. To those who never witnessed
an old-fashioned reaping, it is difficult for them to appreciate
the excitement.

{, The Legislature of 1817, established the Sixth Judicial
Circuit, composed of the counties of Maury, Lincoln, Bedford,
Giles and Lawrence. Alfred M. Harris of Pulaski was elected
Judge of the New Circuit. He was an earnest, forcible, speak-
er and an able advocate. He improved the place on the hifl
West of the Publif Suare. The same on which the Esq. E. W.
Rose resided at the time of his death. His law office was on
the South-east corner of his lot, two or three hundired yards
from the public square. When asked why bhe did not have his
office nearer the Court House, he said, men who had im-
portant suits, and were able to pay good fees, would find
him readily enough. He resigned in the Fall of 1821.

Robert Mack of Columbia succeeded him, first by the ap-
pointment of the Governor, afterwards by the election of the
Legislature, the 26th of 1821. He was a man of
strong native intellect, of ry and perseverance
and with some eccentricities. He under many dis-
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advantages in coming to the bar, as many other young men
at that day did, who afterwards became prominent in the
State; he attended the first courts held in our County soon
after he was licensed. An incident occurred at the first Court
he attended, which was the tirst or second Circuit Court held
in the County, that 1 will here relate. At that time there
were but few houses in the town and Colonel Nelson Patter-
son who was a hospitable old Virginia gentleman living half

© 2 nile from town, invited Colonel Thos. H. Benton, Mr. Mack

lawyers 1o his house. They all occu-

_4and two or three other
&Led {he same room, when preparing to retire for the night,

‘Mack requested the boy that wailed on him to bring in a
needle and thread in the morning, statingsthat he wanted to
“fix his gallows™ (meaning his suspenders,) Benton made
some playful remark about it, and in the morning when the
boy came i, Benfon asked him if he had brought the needle
and thread, which he had not; when he came in the second
time, Benton asked the question again; jocularly remarking
that he wanted Mack to “fix his gallows® Mack felt keenly
the reflection, and retorted with some warmth, “Now Bent,
don't trouble yourself about my “gallows,”"—if you keep on
as you've started the government will some day fix your gal-
lows.” Benton fook it all in good humor. The effect was that
none of them ever afterwards attempted to have sport at
Mack's expense. Judge Mack resigned in 1826,

William E. Kennedy, then of Fayetteville, succeeded him,
first by appointment of the governor, and then by election pf
a call session in 1826. At the time he accepted the appoim-
ment he was the Representative in the Senate from Giles and
Lincoln; and Aaron V. Brown was elected in his place for the
call session of the Legislature. Judge Kennedy was an able
fearless, and upright Judge; a man of greal firmness and dig-
nity of character. Without ostentation or show of authority,
he mainetained the dignity of the Court more completely than
any Judge 1 everysaw on the Bench. There was a magnetism
or something the man—his manner or look—that im-
pressed all who /attended Court; without the difference be-
tween familiarity off the Bench, and what was due to the
dignity of the Court when in session. He was a devoted
friend. An incident’ occurred in one of his last courts, which
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in justice to his memory, and as an example to the rising
generation, should be recorded. At one of his courts in an ad-
joining county a poor, worthless, drunken man was indicted
on a charge of petit larceny, | believe; when the case was
called the Judge told the Attorney General that he could not
try the case; that as wort as the man was they were in
the agmy together, (the war of 1812) in the samesmess or
company, that while in the army, the man had befriended

him or done him a favor-—under circumstances he could nev-

er forget, and if the trial’ was pressed as he was not legally
incompetent to try it—he would resign. But told the Attor-
ney General lhql if he would continue the case he would

have some other Judge to hold the next term of Co
urt. Before
the next term Judge Kennedy resigned attended the next term

and defended the poor man as a lawyer, and with his able
argument and persuasion cleared him. Knowing both men as
I did, I regard this as the highest exhibition of undying grati-
tude T ever knew. Such a man never forsakes a friend if he
:h(:nld be unfortunate and lose his popularity and influence
as too many of the present day do, “Judge Ke
in the Summer of 1833. y e
Lansford M. Bramlette, of Pulaski, succeeded

3 5 him, first
:)y appointment of the Governor, and then by election of ll;:c
egishature, Oct. 7th, 1838. He held the office until the early

:nls;t of the year 1836, when he went on the Bench as Chan-
ellor. ‘

Edmund Dillihunty succeeded Judge Bramle

: tte early in
:::. having been elected by the Legislature in the Pal’; :)f

. He was an able and faithful Judge, and was deservedly
popular with the people. His large influence was persistently
exerted in behalf of the people, for education, temperance
;nonllly and religion. Our State can boast of but few mcﬁ
‘l;d:f: as Dillihunty and Kennedy. He continued in office un-
:’ ln:ﬂ?:nh in January or first of February, 1852. William
“..nor e n;cceed.d him, first by appointment from the Gov-
- n by election by the Legislature in the Fall of 1853

n after by election by the people, the fourth Thursday of
May 1;54. the Constitution having been ded so as to :i:)
the eléction of Judges and Attorney G to the ;’eoplee
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Nature was bountiful in her gifts to Judge Martin. Be-
sides being endowed with a strong and vigorous intellect,
ready perception and fine imagination, he had a wonderful
flow of spirits, and was genial and social in a high degree.
He was long a member of the Presbyterian Church, and was
a faithful and conscientious Judge. He held the office until
the courts were closed by the late war. He was re-elected
by the people in 1870, under the provisions of the new Con
;muu? and held the office at the time of his death.

CHANCELLORS

The first Chancery Court held in Pulaski under lhc""‘u-p-
arate Chancery system, was by the Honorable W. A. Cook,
Chancellor, etc., in Aphl 1832.

Lunsford M. Bramlette was elected (Chancellor by the
Legislature in the Fall of 1835, under the provisions of the

. Constitution of 1834, and entgred upon the duties of his of-
fice in the early part of 1836. He held the office cight years
until the Spring of 1844. Judge Bramlette was born in Sur-
rey County, N. C., brought up in Wilkes County, Ga., came to
Tennessee in 1813, and was admitted an attorney in the
courts of this County in April, 1814. Possessed of a good
mind, strict integrity, #nd great ehergy of purpose, by close
application 1o his professios he succeedgd in a few years in
getting an extensive and lucrative practice, which he retain-
ed until he went on the Bench in 1833. He was & good lawyer
and a good advocate, but as a speaker he was neither elo-
quent nor graceful; but withal he was forcible, earnest and
sincere. He seldom had an important case on hand long that
he did not enter into the feelings of his client, and believed
he was right; and whether he gained the case or not, he gen-
erally sucdeeded in gaining the lasting good will of his client.

Mr. Grundy took advantage of this weakness of Judge
Bramlette on one occasion, when he was opposing counsel.
The character of Bramlette’s client was no{ the best and
Grundy abused him most unmercifully, from the very start,
apd kept so irritated and excited that he did not
make out his case as strong a$ he might have made it, and

L
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Grundy gained the case, when it was said the merits of the
case were against him. As a Chancellor he was slow in form-
ing his opinions, but generally correct. He had an exalted
opinion of the law. After he retivred from practice, nothing
more interested him than to listen to a gopd legal argument.
If a question was raised about which he was not satisfied,
he %ould look up the authorities with as much cife and in-
terest as If he were interested. He was a courteous, dignified

lawyer, of the old school conscientiously just and upright;

He was for many years an elder and prominent member of
the Presbyterian Church in Pulaski. He died at an advanced
age. . 8

Terry H. Cahal, of Columbia, succeeded Judge Bramlette
in the early part of 1844, and held the office until the close
of the year 1850, when he died. | He was a man of strong,
mind, quick perception, impulsive and liberal. He gathered
the strong points in a case quicker than any lawyer [ ever
knew. If there was the least fraud or usury insthe transac-
tions involved, he was sure to scent it. He illustrated in a
high degree the truth of the safing that the character of the
lawyer's practice ‘before he goes on the Bench, has a modi-
fying influence on his opinions and rulings as a Judge. Judge
Cahal’s practice had been largely on the defensive side of
suits and as a Judge instead of trying to aid every one that
came into Court, to get what they wanted, his mind was ac-
tive to discover whether they did not want something they
ought not to have, and if they did not come into his Court
with absolutely clean hands, they were turned out. Widow
women and children, needed no solicitors in his Court. He
guarded well their interests. I beg leave to relate an instance
in this respect. The Administrators of a deceased man Tiled
a Bill to sell a small poﬂ{ou of the land to pay debts. They
believed the state was' solvent. Before the land was
sold the estate proved to be insolvent. The Administrators,
with the widow, applied for a sale of the whole tract; the
widow saying she desired her husband's debts paid, if it
took all the land. The Judge promptly refused to order a

sale. The widow then executed a ‘relinquishing dower, .
_ete. and her deed was presented to udge with the Bill.
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The Judge in a stern and very emphatic manner told the law-
yer who had charge of the Bill that the widow's dower
should not be sold; that he knew what was best for her, bet-
ter than she did herself, and ordered her dower 1o be laid off.
The woman was greatly displeased at the time, but two years
after she said, Judge Cahal was the best friend she had ever
had. As a Chancellor his opinions were rarely reversed.

Honorable A. O. P. Nicholson, of Columbia, succeeded

sppointment from the Governor in the early part

of He held the office a few months and resigned. His
d abilities as & Judge and as a statesman, and his
great worth as a man are so well known to the peogle of
Giles County, thut I can add nothing that could interest.

Honorable Samuel D. Frierson, of Columbia, succeeded
Nicholson by appointment from the Governor in the Sum-
mer ‘of 1851. He held the office only a few months until it
was filled by the Legislature. ; !

John S. Brien, of Davidson County, succeeded Frier-
son. He was elected Oct. 24, 1851, and entered on the duties
of shis office the eighth of March 1852. His first Court was at
Pulaski at that date n his Commission was spread on the
minutes. Judge Brien held the office about two years and
resigned—the date of hiis resignation cannot be gscertained.
He was a good lawyer, an able advocate and popular with
the people. As a Chancellor his decisions were very seldom

freversed; and while on the Bench he was courteous to the
bar, to suitors, and all having business in Court, and it may
be well said, he was a popular Chancellor. .

Samuel D. Frierson succeeded Brien and held the of-
fice until his death the elevnth of March lgﬁ. He possessed
a clear, discriminating mind, was always calm and self-pos-
sessed, patient and respectful. He was the only Judge I ever
knew on the Bench buf what I could tell before a case was
half through, from something he said, his manner, look, or
tone of voice, on which side his mind was unconsciously
drifting. This I regard as the highest and rarest qualifica-
tion of a Judge. ‘le possessed another rare qualification in a
high degree; that of being able to correct kis owf™opinions,
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when once formed, by patient, laborious, investigation, with-
ouf any extraneous influences, brought to bear on him, Ailto-
gether he was a model Chancellor. 1 cannot forego lhepku—
ure of relating an incident illustrative of his character as a
Judge. Soon after he went on the Bench a suit between two
‘ was decided by him, From the record neither had
; acted in perfect good faith and the conduct of botli as shown
: by the pleadirigs and proof, was open lo criticism. After de-
ciding the cause the Judge went on to speak of the want of
good faith in the losing party. When the lawyer on that side
4 told the Judge his client was a minister of the gospel, he was
very much sdrprised and apologized, and as a sort of relief
to the lawyer and the friends of his client if any were pres-
ent, he animadverted with some severily on the successful
party; when his lawyer got up and told the Judge his client
3 was also a minister of the Gospel. The Judge, more sur-
‘ “prised and mortified than before, again apologized. He then
told the bar that his indiscretions that day shosld be a les-
son to him. That in the future he would econfine himself
strictly to a decision of the queStions involved in the contro-
versy, without reference to the motives and moral delin-
quencies of the parties—{arther than was necessary in his
decision; and whatever might! be his own opinions, he would
keep them to himself. | never knew him to dep!ﬂ from the
rule then prescribed. ¢

i

SHERIFFS ’

Charles Neely was the first Sheriff of the County, elected
by the County Court the third Monday in February, 1810. He
held the office only a short time and resigned.

Jas Buford, who was deputy under Neely was elected

in his place. The date is not know but probably in the Sum-

: mer or Fall of 1810. He held the office until March, 1814.
James Buford came to the County in the Fall of 1807, was a
prominent and influential citizen, a successful farmer, was
twice elected Representative from this County to the Legis-
lature, and was long a member of _Baptist Church. He
died in 1845. 4
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Maxmillian H. Buchanan succeeded Buford. Was elected
in March, 1814, and held the office until about 1818. He was
one among the very first settlers, coming in the Summer or
Fall of 1807. He was one of the first Justices of the Peace in
the County, and assisted in organizing the County Court, and
electing County officers the third Monday in February, 1810,
He removed to Lawrence County soon after that County was
established; and was long a prbminent and influential citizen

of county. From thence he removed to the State of Mis-
. He was born in Union District, S. C., October_10th,
1783, and died January, 1858. é

Jas. Perry who was a deputy under Buchanan, &ceedeq
him and held the office until about 1824. He was an energetic
and efficient public officer, and a man of considerable in-
fluence in the County.

Lewis H. Brown succeeded Perry and held the office un-
til the latter part of 1831. He was well qualified for the office
and was a popular sheriff.

Thos. C. Porter succeeded Brown in November, 15831. He
was one of the early settlers of the County. His father came
in 1808 and settled near Mount Moriah. Thos. C. Porter was a
very popular man and was a member of the Constitutional
Convention in 1834'from the counties of Giles and Lincoln,
He held the office until the Spring of 1836, when the offices:
elected under the new Constitution went into office.

Thos. S. Webb succeeded Porter by the election of the
people in March 1836, and enterd on the duties of the office

. shortly after, He held the office six years and was a compe-

tent and faithful officer.

John A. Jackson succeeged Webb in the Spring of 1842,
and held the office for six years. He was an efficient, faithful
and popular sheriff. He was born near Hillsboro, N. C., Feb-
ruary 15th, 1805, and died January 18th, 1869, in the faith;
and with the Christian hope.

Amasa Ezell succeeded Jackson in the Spring of 1848,
and held the office two years. He had been an officer for
many years, had served as deputy sheriff six years; and was
thought to be better acquainted with the duties and respon-
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+ of the office than any man who had filled it. He
:vn::“:hcompdenl. efficient and faithful officer. He was born
in Union District in 1806, or 1807, and died August 11th, 1856,
aged about 49 years, He was for many years a member of the
Baptist Chureh; and was a consistent and exemplary Chris-
tian. *

Jas. D. Goodman succeeded Ezell in the Spring of 1850,
and held the office four years. He was a competent and faith-
fal officer.

Joshua Morris succeeded Goodman in the Spring of 1854,
and held the office two years. He was a competent, energetic,
and felghful public officer, a man of property and influence,
and still lives, honored and respected by all who know him.

John Kouns succeeded Mooris in the Spring of 1856, and
held the office until the Courts were closed by the Civil War.
He was kind and obliging as a man and as an officer, and
discharged his duties faithfully.

E2

Jesse Westmoreland was the first Register of the County
fie was elected the third Monday in Feb. 1810, at the organiza
tion of the County Court. He settled the place now owned
by Jno. Newbill; five miles South-east of Pulaski He lived
only a few years after his appointment and for several
months before his death he was absent from the County
secking medical aid and died in Davidson County. It is not
certainly known who succeeded him. The records of the
County Court have been destroyed. The well known hand-
writing of Fountain Lesler, who was Register for many
years, first appears on the Register’s books July 11, 1814, and
continues on from that time. Whether he succeeded West-
moreland or some other Register after him cannot be ascer-
tained. \

The recording is in several different hand-writings, be-

tween the early entries of Westmorelanhd, and the nce
ment of Lester’s. | have an impression that Somerset Moore,
who was one of the first Justices of the Coun the of-

fice a short time. He died a few years after fhe County

N
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was organized. Whether any person held the office between
Westmioreland and Lester is not known.

Fountain Lester, as already stated, discharged the duties
of the office in July 1814, and held the office until the early
part of 1836. He was a cempetent gnd faithful Register, and
held the office longer than any other man since his day.

Daniel McCormack succeeded Lester by election of the
people, under provisions of the Constitution of 1834, and held
the office { years. i

P. T succeeded McCormack in April 1840,
and held t fice until his death in the Summer or Fall of
1853. .

Andrew Fay succesded McCanless by election of the of
County at October term 1853, and held the office until the 6th
of April, 1854,

Daniel G. Anderson succeeded Fay in 1854, and held the
office until’the officers elected under the provisions of the
Constitution of 1870, went into office. He was in the office
longér than any other officer except Lester. He was a compe-
tent and faithful Register. He died a few years ago—the date
of death I have not before me.

REPRESENTATIVES AND SENATORS

Representatives and Senalors in the Legislature of Ten-
nes:dee. together with the Districts embracing Giles County
to-wit:

Se:xn—wmhmson and Rutherford, Maury and Bed-
ford, e acing Giles and Lincoln. 1809 Thomas H. Benton,
1811 Newton Cannon. Giles and Lincoln—1813 (Not given),
1815 George Coulter, 1817 George Coulter, 1819 Wm. Edmis-
ton, 1821 Aaron V. Brown, 1823 Aaron V. Brown, 1825 Wil-
liam E. Kennedy (resigned in 1826 and Aaron V. Brown
elected for call session in 1826.) 1827 A. V. Brown, 1829
Isaac. Holeman, 1831 William H. Field, 1833 William Moore,
1835 William Moore, 1837 Jas. Caruthers, 1839 George W.
Jones, 1841 William T. Ross.

Representatives—Williamson and Maury embracing Giles
1809 William Frierson, 1811 Amos Johnson. Giles alone—
1813 (Not given) 1815 John Clack, 1817 John Dickey, 1818

LY
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of the office than any man who had filled it.. He
:::n:m competent, efficient and faithful officer. He was born
in Union District in 1806, or 1807, and died August 11th, 1856,
uad-bom‘lyun}lcwulormyynnambefolthe
Baptist Church; and was a consistent and exemplary Chris-
tiant
Jas. D. Goodman succeeded Ezell in the Spring of 1850,
and held the office four years. He was a competent and faith,
ful officer.
Joshua Morris succeeded Goodman in the Spring of 1854,
and held the 8ffice two years. He was a competent, enerpu/c.
% and faithful public officer, a man of property and influence,
and still lives, honored and respected by ‘all who know him.
John Kouns succeeded Mooris in the Spring of 1856, and
held the office until the Courts were closed by the Civil War.
He was kind and obliging as a man and as an officer, and
discharged his duties faithfully.

Jesse Westmoreland was the first Hegister of the County
He was elected the third Monday in Feb. 1810, at the organiza
tion of the County Court. He settled the place now owned
by Ino. Newbill, five miles South-east of Pulaski He lived
only a few years after his appointment and for several
months before death he was absent from the County
seeking medical 'did and died in Davidson County. It is not
certainly known who succeeded him. The records of the
County Court have been destroyed. The well known hand-
writing of Fountain Lester, who was Register for many
years, first appears on the Register’s books July 11, 1814, and
continues on from that time. Whether he succeeded West-
moreland or some other Register after him cannot be ascer-
tained. '

The recording is in several different hand-writings, be-
tween the early entries of Westmoreland, and the commence
ment of Lester’s. I have an impression that Somerset Moore,
who was one of the first Justices County, held the of-
fice a short time. He died a few

| 2 \ -
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was organized. Whether any person held the office between
Westmoreland and Lester is not known.

Fountain Lester, as already stated, discharged the duties
of the office in July 1814, and held the office until the early
part of 1836. He was a cempetent and faithful Register, and
held the office longer than any other man since his day.

Daniel McCormack succeeded Lester by election of the
people, under provisions of the Constitution of 1834, and held
the office four years. ’

P. T. L. McCanless succeeded McCormack in April 140,

Neld the office until his death in the Summer or Fall of
1853, -

Andrew, Fay succeeded McCanless by election "bf the of
County at October term 1858, and held the office until the 6th
of April, 1854.

Daniel G. Anderson succeeded Fay in 1854, and held the
bffice until the officers elected under the provisions of the
Constitution of 1870, w into office. He was in the office
longer than any other except Lester. He was a compe-
tent and faithful Register. He died a few years ago—the date
of death I have not before me.

REPRESENTATIVES AND SENATORS

Representatives and Senators in the Legislature of Ten-
ml . together with the Districts embracing Giles Couity
to-wil:

Senators—Williamson and Rutherford, Maury and Bed-
ford, embracing Giles and Lincoln. 1809 Thomas H. Benton,
1811 Newton Cannon. Giles and Lincoln—1813 (Not given),
1815 George Coulter, 1817 George Coulter, 1819 Wm. Edmis-
ton, 1821 Aaron V. Brown, 1823 Aaron V. Brown, 1825 Wil-
liam E. Kenpedy (resigned in 1826 and Aaron V. Brown
elected for call session in 1826.) 1827 A. V. Brown, 1829
Isaac Holeman, 1831 William H. Field, 1833 William Moore,

. 1835 William Moore, 1837 Jas. Caruthers, 1839 George W.

Jones, 1841 William T. Ross.

Representatives—Williamson aaud Maury embracing Giles
1809 William Frierson, 1811 Amos Johnson. Giles alone—
1813 (Not given) 1815 John Clack, 1817 John Dickey, 1819
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John Clack, 1821 John H. Camp. 1823 John Clack, 1835 John
H. Camp, 1827 John H. Camp, 1 Thomas K. Gordon, 1831
Aaron V. Brown, 1833 E. J. Shields, 1885 Thos. K. Gordon and
James Buchanan, 1837 Neill S. Brown, William R. Brown,
1839 Jas. Buford and Jno. Buchanan, 1841 Jas. Buford and
Jno. Buchanan.

Under the new apportionment Giles elected one membcr,
and Giles and Lincoln Floater, and Giles and Maury a Senator

Senators—Giles and Maury: 1843 A. O. P. Nicholson, 1845
Jonas E. Thomas, 1847 Thomas M. Jones, 1849 R. A. L. Wilkes
1851 Ephraim H, Osborne. '

Representative and Floater—1843 John W. Goode; Rob-|

" ert Farquaharson, Floater; 1845 John Buchanan; T. M. Jones,
Floater; 1847 Archibald Wright; Jno. M. Bright, Floater; 1849
Thos. Buford; Nathan Adams, Floater; 1851 R. M. Bugg; Jno.
McDaniel, Floater.

Under the apportionment of 1851, Lincoln, Marshall and
Giles send Floater; and Giles, Lawrence and Wayne, Senator.

Senator—1853 George H. Nixon, 1855 J. Brown,
1857 Thomas J. Brown, 1859 W. H. Hunter, 1861 F. L. Wilson.

Representatives—1853 T. Buford, Wm. B. Chambliss
Floater, 1855 R. H. Watkins, H. N. Cowden, Floater, 1857 E.
E. Harney, Jas. M. Davidson, Floater, 1859 Jo J. Besty, Thosg
J. Kenzedy Floater, 1861 James McCallum, Jno. Laws, Floater

Senators and Representatives in Congress from Tennes-
see, the District embracing the County of Giles, from its or-
ganization o the late war. In the appointment of Representa-
tives, under the census of 1800, Tennessee was entitled to
three Representatives: I have not access to the records of the
Legislature districting the state, and as I therefor may be
mistaken in the number of our district, I will give the ones
I believe represented our district. Commencing with the
Tenth Congress, October the 26th, 1807.

Senators—10th Congress, 1807—Joseph Anderson, Daniel
Smith, 11th Congress, 1809—John Smith, (Smith mlmcd in
1807) Joseph Anderson, 12th Courql. 1811—Geo. W
bell, (Not given.)

Representatives—10 Congress, 1
Jesse Wharton, John Rhea. 1ith N—Rcbcﬂ

——
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Weakley, Pleasant M. Miller, John Rhea. 12th Congress, 1811
Felix Grundy, John Sevier, John Rhea.

In the apportionment under the census of 1810, Tennes-
see was entitled to six Representatives. The State was re-
districted by the session of the Legislature in 1812; the jour-
nals of which (the only source of information to which 1
have access), do not show the Counties composing the sev-
eral ricts; but from an amendment offered by Mr. Cannon

third reading of the Bill, it appears that Davidson and

n were in the fifth district, and Maury and Giles in

the sixth. I will therefore give the names ol the members |
suppose represented our district. *

Senators—13th Congress, IBlHouph Anderson, George
W. Campbell, (Campbell resigned in 1818 succeeded by J. W.
Eaton. 14th Congress, 1815—George W. Campbell, John Wil-
lismson. 15th Congress, 1817—George W. Campbell, John
Williams, (Campbell resigned in 1818, J. H. Eaton appointed)
16th Congress, 1819—J. H. Eaton, John Williams. 17th Con-
gress, 1821—John H. Eaton, Jno. Williams.

Representatives—13th Congress, 1813—P. W. Humphreys.
14th Congresg, 1815—Isaacs Thomas. 15th Congress, 1817—
Geo. W. L. Marr. 16th Congress, 1819—Henry H. Bryan. 17th
Congress, 1821—Henpy H. Bryan.

18th Congress. In the opportionment under the census
of 1830, Tennessee was entitled to nine Representatives; the
State was re-districted by the call session of the Legislature
of 1822, in which Maury, Bedford, Lincoln and Giles, com-
posed one district.

Senators—18th Congress, 1823-—John H. Eaton, Andrew
Jackson. 19th Congress, 1825—John H. Eaton, Andrew Jack-
son. 20th Congress, 1927—John H. Eaton, Hugh L. White.
21st Congress, 1820—John H. Eaton, Hugh L. White. 22nd
Congress, 1831—Felix Grundy, Hugh L. White.

Representatives—18th Congress, 1823—James T. Stanford
19th Congress, 1825—James K. Polk. 20th Congress, 1827—
James K. Polk. 21st Congress, 1829 —James K. Polk. 22nd
Congress 1831—James K. Polk..

23rd Congress, 1833—In the apportionment under the
census of 1830, Tennessee was entitled to thirteen Hepresent-
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atives. The State was re-districted by the call session of 1832,
in which Liucoln, Giles, Lawrence and Wayne comprised one
district. i

Senatnrs—23rd Congress, 1833—Felix Grundy, H. L

White. 24th Congress, 1835—F. Grundy, H. L. White.
+ Representatives—23rd Congress, 1833 William,M. Inge. 24th
—_Congress, 1835—Ebenezer J. Shields. 25th Congress, 1837—
E. J. Shields. 26th Congress, 1839—Aaron V. Brown. 27th
Congress, 1841 —Aaron V. Brown.

In the apportionment under the census of 1840, Tennes-
see was e?lmcd to Repreesntatives. In re-districting
the State, Maury, Giles, Lawrence, Wayne and Hickman ‘were
in the same district. i

Representatives—28th Congress, 1843—A. V. Brown. 29th
Congress, 1845—Barclay Martin. 30th Congress, 1847--James
H. Thomas. 31st Congress, 1849—J. H. Thomas. 32nd Con-
gress, 18561 —William H. Polk. "

In the apportionment under the census of 1850, in re-
districting the State, Giles, Lawrence, Wayne, Henderson
were in the same district.

Representatives—33rd Congress, 1853—Robert M. Bugg.
34th Congress, 1855-—John V. Wright. 35th Congress, 1857—
John V. Wright. 36th Congress, 1850—John V. Wright.

John V. Wright's last term expired March the 4th, 1861, .ncr
which Tennessee joined the Southern Confederacy.

MILITIA OFFICERS

For twenly years or more after the County was organ-
ized, the militia was mustered and drilled. Militia officers
were deemed honorable and the offices were sought for by
the best men of the County.

The first Regiment organized was the Thirty-seventh
and embraced the whole County. Robert Steele was the first
Colﬁne and Claiborne McVey and James Buford the first

After the war of 1812, the regiment was divided, and a
new Regiment, the Fifty-second formed of the Northern
half of the County. This left wnh_ the old Regiment.
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Thos. K. Gordon was the first Colonel elected in the new
Regiment and Richard H. Allen and James Simmons the Ma-
jors.

After the division, James Terrell was elected Colonel of
the old Regiment and Thos. Wilkerson and William Rose,
Majors.

After Col. Terrell moved from the County about 1821,
Wiliam Rose was unanimously elected Colonel, and Gilliam
Harwell and Abel Wilson, Majors. About 1825, there was a

. ' peorganization of the militia and another Regiment formed,

embracing the North-western part of the County, including
Pulaski. Richard H. Allen was the first Colon®l of the Regi-
ment last formed. Simpson H. White, Lieut. Col., and John H.
Rivers and Edmund Tipton, Majors.

David Gordon was elected Colonel of Gordon's old Regi-
ment, embracing the North-eastern part of the County.
Joseph Nance, Lieutenam-Colonel; William Shields and
Lewis B. Marks, Majours.

In the regrganization the 37th or the old Regiment, em-
braced the Southern part of the County; extending across the
country from East to West. Gilliam Harwell was elected
Colonel, Gustin Kearney, Lieutenant-Colonel, Edward A.
Dillon and Clgiborne Kyle, Majors.

On the death of Dillon and resignation of Kearney the
next year, Claiborne Kyle was elected Lieutenant-Colonel,
and Wm. H. Moore and Jefferson Kyle, Mayors. On the re-
moval of Kyle and Moqge in 1829, Dr. W. E. Harold was
elected Lieutenant-Colonel, and Patrick H. Braden, Major.
After these, several prominent and influential men were from
time to time elected officers of the militia. But about 1829
or 1830, the interest in military offices began to decline.

Until the adoption of the new Consitution, in 1834, the
election or appointment of justices of the peace was regulatid

by Captain’s Companies or “Beats,” as it is now, by Civn
Districts.




